
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 24 October 2016

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 27 October 2016

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 24 October 2016

CABINET
Thursday 27 October 2016

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 September 
2016 (Pages 1 - 10)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 24 
October 2016 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

6A.  Traffic Congestion in Dartford: Reference from Joint 
Transportation Board (Pages 11 - 12)

SD (IS)

Summary:

This report presents a reference from the Joint 
Transportation Board drawing the Cabinet’s attention to the 
ongoing issue of traffic congestion in the Borough, the 
implications of this for residents and businesses and asks 
that pressure is brought to bear on the relevant bodies to 
alleviate the situation.



Recommendation:

That the ongoing issue of traffic congestion in the Borough 
and the associated implications be considered and that 
Cabinet consider the options available to the Council with a 
view to ensuring that pressure is brought to bear on the 
relevant bodies to alleviate the situation.

6B.  New Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford: Reference 
from the Scrutiny Committee (Pages 13 - 16)

SD (IS)

Summary:

At its meeting on 13 September 2016 [Min. No. 8 refers] the 
Scrutiny Committee resolved to refer to Cabinet for 
consideration; its concerns over the lack of clear and 
measurable outcomes in terms of meeting Corporate Plan 
Objectives, following the decision by Cabinet to invest £1M 
for the construction of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh 
Park, Dartford [Cabinet Report of 12 June 2014 and Cabinet 
Mins. 7 and 14 [EXEMPT] refer].

Recommendations:

1. That Scrutiny Committee’s specific recommendations for 
measurable outcomes to support the Council’s Corporate 
Plan objectives as detailed in para. 3.4 of the report be 
considered.

2. That Cabinet’s decision be reported back to the Scrutiny 
Committee. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax (Pages 17 - 54) SD (IS)
Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects 
on communities living or working in an area of the Borough 
comprising two or more wards.

2. This report provides Members with the detailed results from 
the recent Council Tax Reduction Scheme consultation 
process and the findings from the revised Customer Access 
Review, and then presents revisions to the current scheme for 
Members’ approval, to be effective from 1 April 2017.

 



Recommendation:

That Cabinet approve the following resolution to the General 
Assembly of the Council:

1. That the Customer Access Review shown at Appendix 
C to the report be approved.

2. That the following amendments to the current scheme 
be made, with effect from 1 April 2017:

 The maximum level of support for 
working age claimants be reduced from 
81.5% to 80%;

 Family Premium be removed for new 
claimants;

 Backdating be reduced to one month;

 Use  a minimum level of income for self-
employed earners after two years of self-
employment;

 Reduce the period for which a person can 
be absent from Great Britain and receive 
discount to four weeks;

 Introduce a standard level of non-
dependent deduction of £10 for 
claimants;

 Restrict the maximum level of discount 
payable to a Band D charge;

 Remove Second Adult Reduction;

 Remove the award of a Work Related 
Activity Component for all claimants who 
claim Employment and Support 
Allowance on or after 1 April 2017;

 Limit the number of dependent children 
within the calculation for discount to a 
maximum of two;

 Remove the entitlement to discount for a 
claimant treated as not being habitually 
resident in Great Britain because they are 
a European Economic Area (EEA) 
Jobseeker;



 Introduce a scheme to help claimants 
suffering exceptional hardship. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

8. CIL Contribution to the Kent Thameside Strategic Transport 
Programme (Pages 55 - 58)

SD (ES)

Summary:

The report proposes that the Council make a commitment to 
release a specific proportion of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) payment arising from proposed development at 
Bluewater to the Strategic Transport Programme (STP). This 
proposal forms an interim arrangement in advance of setting 
formal procedures and future decision taking by Members on 
the allocation of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) income 
to infrastructure projects. 

Recommendation:

That 43% (to a maximum of £1.283m index linked) of the net 
CIL receipts arising from development at Bluewater 
(DA16/01207/OUT) be directed to the Kent Thameside Strategic 
Transport Programme to fund highway improvements required 
to support development in the Borough of Dartford. 

9. Northern Gateway Pedestrian and Cycle Bridge (Pages 59 - 64) SD (IS)
Summary:

A feasibility study has been undertaken to provide a new 
pedestrian and cycle bridge over the River Darent to link major 
development sites in the Northern Gateway area. This report 
sets out the work and conclusions to date, the anticipated next 
steps and asks for delegated approval to take works forward 
as and when funding becomes available.

Recommendations:

1. That the feasibility study be noted.

2. That the Director of Internal Services be delegated to apply for 
outline and detailed matters planning consents, obtain 
quotations for detailed design and tenders for the works in due 
course.

3. That the Director of Internal Services be authorised to enter 
into negotiations with land owners, statutory or other bodies, 
and agree terms for licences or other legal agreements in 



consultation with the Head of Legal Services.

4. That the Director of Internal Services be authorised to pursue 
available external sources of funding, where required, to 
enable implementation of the scheme. 

10. Business Rate Pooling 2017/18 (Pages 65 - 68) SD (IS)
Summary:

This report seeks Members’ agreement for the Council to 
continue with the current business rate pool for 2017/18, 
providing this would significantly increase the proportion of 
business rates growth that would be retained by the Council, 
or to negotiate with Kent County Council and the other Kent 
districts to form a new pool if any of the existing members wish 
to withdraw.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet agrees to continue being a member of a Kent 
based business rate pool for 2017/18, providing it is financially 
beneficial to do so and subject to detailed arrangements.

2. That the detailed arrangements be delegated to the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) in consultation with the Managing 
Director. 

11. Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 2015-2016 
(Pages 69 - 82)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. Under the Government’s regulatory framework, the Council is 
required to complete an annual report to tenants and 
leaseholders which sets out how the housing service is 
performing and where improvements can be made.

2. This is the sixth housing annual report developed in 
consultation with the Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum 
(DBRF).  

3. Cabinet is asked to consider the contents of this report. 

Recommendation:

That the draft Housing Annual Report 2015-2016 for tenants 
and leaseholders attached at Appendix A to the report be 
approved.  



C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

12. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2016/17 (Pages 83 - 92) SD (IS)
Summary:

To update Members on financial performance against the 
2016/17 budget to date for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account.

Recommendation:

That Members note that the overall level of spend and income 
for the year is expected to be within the parameters of the 
budget. 

13. Capital Budget Monitoring 2016/2017 (Pages 93 - 104) SD (IS)
Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects 
which make up the approved Capital Budget and to report the 
latest position on capital resources.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2016/17 
Capital Programme.

2. That Cabinet notes the current position on the Capital 
Prudential Indicators, as shown in Appendix C to the report. 

14. Treasury Management Report 2016/2017 (Pages 105 - 118) SD (IS)
Summary:

1. To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the 
Council’s internally and externally managed funds to 30 
September 2016.

2. To update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 
September 2016.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the 
Council’s funds. 

2. That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s 
Treasury Indicators. 



15. Ombudsman - Annual Review of Complaints 2015 - 2016 (Pages 
119 - 170)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of 
Complaints 2015 - 2016.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet notes the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of 
Complaints 2015 - 2016 at Appendix A to the report and the 
corresponding data tables for the Council, at pages 24 and 37 
of Appendix A to the report. 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 8 September 2016 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor C S McLean (Lead Member)

31. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

33. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 28 JULY 
2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 28 July 2016 be confirmed.

34. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

35. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 5 SEPTEMBER 2016 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 5 
September 2016 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

36. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other Committees.

37. KENT WASTE DISPOSAL STRATEGY 

This report advised Cabinet of the consultation currently being undertaken by 
Kent County Council on its draft Kent Waste Disposal Strategy 2017 – 2035 
and sought approval for the proposed response.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

2

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained how the Strategy 
presented a high level view and focused on the aims and objectives of the 
service. She also noted that the associated detailed Action Plan would be 
made available for consideration in 2017. She then advised that the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel had welcomed the proposed responses but had suggested 
that a number of them be strengthened.

Members reviewed the changes that had been requested by the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel and asked that the Waste and Parks Manager make 
amendments to the following areas:

 Priority 1 Objective C: Emphasise the value of working with Parish and 
Town Councils who have a better understanding of waste collection 
requirements in their locality.

 Priority 3 Objectives A, B and E: There needs to be a clear 
understanding of the process that will be used to assess the capacity 
required to deal with household waste, with assurance that local 
factors will be taken into consideration when defining the number of 
recycling centres etc. required.

 Priority 3 Objective D and Priority 4 Objective C: Emphasise the need 
to take this opportunity to address trade waste, especially from small 
businesses, with the aim of reducing the amount of fly tipping taking 
place.

 Priority 6 Objective E: Suggest the community benefits that might be 
possible. For example by providing work experience or 
apprenticeships.

 Priority 7 Objective C: Suggest the negative environmental impact 
areas that it may be possible to address. For example by introducing 
measures to reduce the emissions from the fleet of waste collection 
vehicles.

Members agreed that the amendments to the proposed response be carried 
out in consultation with the Lead Member for Waste, Recycling and 
Household Services.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the report be noted.

2. That final approval of the proposed response to the consultation, as set 
out in Appendix A to the report, and amended by the above minute, be 
delegated to the Lead Member for Waste, Recycling and Household 
Services.

38. KCC LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN (LTP4) 

This report asked Cabinet to agree the response to Kent County Council’s 
(KCC’s) consultation on its ‘Local Transport Plan 4’, which includes the 
Borough of Dartford.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

3

The Head of Regeneration explained how KCC’s strategic plan identified the 
main future transport projects for Kent and said that it was built on other 
documents and projects into which Dartford had already provided some 
significant input. She noted how the plan represented the Council’s priorities 
and included growth in the Thames Gateway, a new Lower Thames Crossing, 
improvements to the Bean/Ebbsfleet A2 junctions, Crossrail extension and 
railway station and bus service improvements.

The Head of Regeneration then advised that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had 
endorsed the response with no changes and that the Joint Transportation 
Board had asked that the following amendments be considered:

 Question 4 Outcome 5 - Better health and Wellbeing – to change the 
response from “Agree” to “Strongly Agree” as JTB members had felt 
that this was an extremely important issue for Dartford. 

 Question 5a - Strategic Priorities for the Local Transport Plan – Rail 
and bus improvements - in addition to the comment made, the 
response should additionally set out that rural areas be well served by 
public transport and, where necessary, improvements to bus/rail 
services should be made to avoid social isolation.

Having noted that the response had agreed with all the overarching outcomes 
Members were advised that those marked as “strongly agree” were those 
considered to be most important. 

Members endorsed the changes proposed by the Joint Transportation Board 
and also asked that the response to Question 4a Outcome 5 be strengthened 
to emphasise how important it was to address the impact that poor air quality, 
caused by traffic congestion, was having on people’s health and wellbeing.

RESOLVED:

That the response to the KCC consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the 
report, and amended by the above minute, be agreed.

39. THE SMOKE AND CARBON MONOXIDE ALARM (ENGLAND) 
REGULATIONS 2015 

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 
requires private rented properties to have working smoke detectors on every 
storey and in some cases a carbon monoxide detector. The local housing 
authority must prepare and publish a statement of principles which it proposes 
to follow when determining the penalty that is to be charged to a landlord if 
they fail to comply with these Regulations.

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that this was a 
precautionary report that would allow sanctions to be taken against landlords 
who fail to provide adequate smoke and carbon monoxide alarms in their 
properties.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

4

RESOLVED:

That the proposed statement of principles, attached at Appendix A to the 
report, which sets out how to determine the amount of a penalty charge under 
the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015, be 
approved.

40. FOOD STANDARDS AGENCY PILOT & FOOD HYGIENE RATING 
SCHEME 

This report provided Members with an overview of the Food Standards 
Agency’s proposal to pilot a change to the Food Hygiene Rating scheme. The 
purpose of the pilot is to trial charging food businesses when they request a 
re-rating inspection following an initial food hygiene inspection rating. The 
charge will be based on cost recovery and will be calculated on the average 
cost that the Council currently incurs for the provision of the service. The pilot 
will operate for a period of 3 months and the Food Standards Agency will use 
the data collected to introduce a National Charging Scheme in 2017.

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel had expressed support for the scheme and had recognised the benefits 
that would be delivered to both residents and businesses. In response to a 
question she then confirmed that businesses are not currently required to pay 
a fee for a scheduled inspection or a re-inspection. She then explained how 
the current system only allowed one re-assessment to be carried out before 
the next scheduled assessment, whereas the scheme being piloted would 
allow businesses to have a re-assessment as often as they wished, which 
would offer them more opportunities to improve on a low star rating.

During further discussion the Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed 
that businesses with a zero or one star rating may still be able to operate, but 
anticipated that they would have been given a number of enforcement notices 
which would require a follow up visit at a later date. She also noted that, 
currently, businesses are not obliged to publically display their hygiene rating.

Members welcomed the pilot and the opportunities it offered for businesses to 
improved their food hygiene standards.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Council’s participation in the Food Standards Agency pilot of 
charging businesses for a food hygiene re-rating inspection be 
approved.

2. That the fee for a food hygiene re-rating inspection be set at £200 for 
the period of the Food Standards Agency pilot.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

5

41. DELEGATIONS IN RESPECT OF LITTER, UNAUTHORISED DEPOSITING 
OF WASTE (FLY TIPPING) AND DOG FOULING ENFORCEMENT AT THE 
BRIDGE DARTFORD 

The report sought delegated authority for the Strategic Director (External 
Services) to respectively, authorise G4S Secure Solutions (UK) Ltd’s, 
operating as G4S (The Bridge Dartford), enforcement officers to issue Fixed 
Penalty Notices on behalf of the Council within the confines of The Bridge 
Development Dartford, and to waive Fixed Penalty Notices in extenuating 
circumstances.

The Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed this to be a good 
arrangement because the enforcement function would be delivered at no cost 
to the Council. In response to questions she then confirmed that G4S would 
be working on the Council’s behalf and, referring to adverse publicity 
concerns that had been voiced at the Cabinet Advisory Panel, noted that the 
publicity exercise that had been carried out when the Kingdom enforcement 
operation began applied to the whole Borough, and that the Council could, if it 
wished, already ask Kingdom to carry out enforcement operations at The 
Bridge. She also said that G4S would be operating under the same protocols 
and complaint handling procedures as Kingdom.

With respect to the current enforcement operation being carried out by 
Kingdom the Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed that Fixed 
Penalty Notices were still being issued and that areas such as Greenhithe 
Station and Asda had been targeted. She also advised that the pilot 
enforcement operation was due to finish at the end of March 2017 and that 
the contract for a further 3 years of littering enforcement is being put out to 
tender.

Members noted the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel where it had been suggested that similar arrangements could be 
extended to other areas that are regularly patrolled by security personnel and 
said that the possible deployment of existing enforcement officers could also 
be considered if it was felt that there were littering, dog fouling or fly tipping 
incidents that needed to be addressed.

Members referred to areas where littering and cleanliness were still thought to 
be problematic and suggested that by advertising the fact that enforcement 
officers would be patrolling people would be encouraged to act more 
responsibly. They also said that it was important to ensure that waste bins are 
emptied regularly so that people have no excuse for littering.

At the end of the debate Members confirmed their support for proposed 
arrangement with G4S.

RESOLVED:

1. That, the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to authorise named officers employed by G4S Secure 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

6

Solutions (UK) Ltd, operating as G4S (The Bridge Dartford), to issue 
Fixed Penalty Notices on behalf of the Council pursuant to:
(a) the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 and the Borough of 

Dartford (Fouling of Land) Order 1998; and
(b) Section 88 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as 

amended).

2. That a contract between the Council and G4S Secure Solutions (UK) 
Ltd, operating as G4S (The Bridge Dartford), be entered into on terms 
to be agreed with the Head of Legal Services.

3. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to waive Fixed Penalty Notices in extenuating circumstances.

42. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - NORTHERN GATEWAY NORTH 
PARCEL 

This report asked Members to approve a new road name for the distribution 
centre development at the Northern Gateway North Parcel, Central Road, 
Dartford.

Members endorsed the road name that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

That Central Road North be approved as the new road name for the 
distribution centre development at the Northern Gateway North Parcel, 
Central Road, Dartford.

43. PARKING SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 

This report submitted the Parking Services Annual Report for Members’ 
consideration prior to it being published on the Council’s website.

Members welcomed the Annual Report and the way that it described the 
many responsibilities of those who manage the Council’s car parking function 
and carry out associated enforcement throughout the Borough.

Members were then advised that the Joint Transportation Board had 
commented on the age of the statistical data that had been used when 
analysing car park usage and agreed that it would be useful to source more 
up to date information for future versions of the Annual Report. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) replied that the Council had to rely on data 
provided by third parties for privately run car parks and said that data which 
would allow a full analysis of car park usage was not always readily available 
or up to date.

Members then referred to the financial information contained in the report and 
noted that the figures had been discussed at the Joint Transportation Board. 
They then welcomed the fact that the Council was not using parking 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

7

enforcement to generate revenue but asked that the figures be reviewed to 
ensure that they accurately show the surplus or deficit that had been 
achieved.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Transport Services Manager be congratulated for the 
production of a thorough and comprehensive Annual Report.

2. That the content of the Parking Services Annual Report, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be noted and, subject to a review of the 
financial information contained within it, be made available to the public 
via the Council’s website.

44. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Non Domestic Rate 
debts where it had not been possible to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be traced or where the debt was 
otherwise irrecoverable.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) drew Members attention to the 
addendum that had previously been circulated which, together with a revised 
exempt Appendix A, had advised that the write-off amount for case 3 had 
been reduced, and that the new total for write-off was £30,544.05.

Members endorsed the proposed write-offs.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed part of the 
agenda, amounting to £30,544.05, be written off as uncollectible.

45. WRITE-OFF OF COUNCIL TAX 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Council Tax where it 
had not been possible to obtain payment because the taxpayer could not be 
traced or the debt was otherwise irrecoverable.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) referred to a recent criminal case 
that had been reported in the local press relating to a temporary member of 
staff working in Dartford’s, and other local authorities’, Council Tax sections. 
She advised that his activities had resulted in just over £2,000 being stolen 
from Dartford Borough Council and said that an associated press release 
would be issued.

During discussion Members noted how existing procedures had detected the 
theft and prevented further loss. The Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
also assured Members that further checking mechanisms were also being put 
in place to prevent similar fraudulent activity occurring in the future.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

8

Members endorsed the proposed write-offs.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed part of the 
agenda, amounting to £11,975.45, be written off as uncollectible.

46. HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFF 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Housing Benefit 
overpayments where recovery was prohibited, was not considered 
appropriate or where the customer had absconded.

Members endorsed the proposed write-offs.

RESOLVED:

That the sum of £68,324.94, shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed 
part of the agenda, be written off as irrecoverable.

47. KENT FUEL POVERTY STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 

Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) was tasked by the Kent Housing 
Group (via the Private Sector Housing Sub Group) with developing a fuel 
poverty strategy for Kent.  The Strategy and Action Plan outlined the key 
issues and a series of areas of work with the aim of helping people in Kent out 
of fuel poverty and into affordable warmth.  

The Kent Environment Strategy, which was considered at the Cabinet 
meeting held on 3 March 2016, included key priorities to reduce energy 
consumption and alleviate fuel poverty.

The Strategic Director (External Services) said that this report was being 
presented to highlight the internal work that was being carried out by the 
Council to address fuel poverty and encourage residents to take advantage of 
the energy efficiency measures that were being made available to them.

Members welcomed the Council’s involvement in the various energy saving 
schemes that were being progressed, and the noted the benefits that were 
being delivered to those facing fuel poverty.

Members also referred to their own experiences of the collective switching 
campaign and encouraged residents to take advantage of the energy bill 
savings that can be made by taking part in the scheme.

RESOLVED:

That the content and progress towards the Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and 
Action Plan be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

9

48. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 1 of 2016-17.

Members discussed the information contained in the Monitoring Report and 
the manner in which it is presented and questioned whether targets should be 
set for those indicators over which the Council has no direct control, for 
example ‘the number of fly tipping incidents’. Officers advised that the 
numbers of anticipated incidents for indicators such as these were derived 
from historical data and were used when setting the budget and so should not 
be considered as a specific ‘target’. Members suggested that the terminology 
used should be amended to clarify how the figures should be interpreted. It 
was also noted how some indicators were for monitoring only and are used to 
verify that the policies that the Council has put in place are achieving the 
required results.

Members also noted the response provided by the Strategic Director (External 
Services) at the Cabinet Advisory Panel where she had explained how the 
targets are used to drive up performance and had said that she would rather 
have targets that are challenging to meet, and therefore may sometimes be 
missed, than have easier targets that are always achieved.

Members then discussed ways of making service status information available 
to residents and suggested that a ‘dashboard’ of information could be 
provided on the website to show how the Council is currently performing. 
They also asked for an investigation into ways of alerting residents when 
service delivery delays are being experienced, for example when waste and 
recycling collections are being held up because of traffic congestion. 
Members also referred to ‘user experience’ and the need to ensure that all 
residents who find that they need to contact the Council directly receive a 
satisfactory response.

Members then referred to the decreasing unemployment rate that had been 
recorded for the Borough and felt that this indicated that the right environment 
was being provided for businesses. They also welcomed the increased 
number of homes had been built in 2015/16, and then made particular 
reference to the usage figure for the Fairfield Leisure Centre which had been 
beyond the management company’s expectations.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

49. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW MEETING HELD ON 14 JUNE 2016 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 14 June 2016.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 SEPTEMBER 2016

10

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 14 June 
2016 be noted.

50. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 44), the appendix be 
noted.

51. WRITE-OFF OF COUNCIL TAX
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 45), the appendix be 
noted.

52. HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFFS
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPHS 1 & 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 46), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.06 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

TRAFFIC CONGESTION IN DARTFORD: REFERENCE FROM THE 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents a reference from the Joint Transportation Board drawing the 
Cabinet’s attention to the ongoing issue of traffic congestion in the Borough, the 
implications of this for residents and businesses and asks that pressure is 
brought to bear on the relevant bodies to alleviate the situation.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the ongoing issue of traffic congestion in the Borough and the 
associated implications be considered and that Cabinet consider the options 
available to the Council with a view to ensuring that pressure is brought to 
bear on the relevant bodies to alleviate the situation.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Joint Transportation Board at its meeting held on 6 September 2016 
[Min.No18] discussed the issue of traffic congestion across the Borough, 
principally caused by problems at the Dartford River Crossing.  

3.2 The Board was informed that both Officers and Members had met with 
various regulatory bodies on a number of occasions but that despite the 
introduction, (and proposed introduction) of a number of measures designed 
to ameliorate traffic problems the Borough is still being reduced to a standstill 
on a regular basis.

3.3 It was also noted that the Kent Police Service did not consider it financially 
viable to enforce traffic restrictions and directions including yellow box 
junctions  which were felt by many could ease the flow of traffic during periods 
of congestion.

3.4 The Board considered the following issues which were arise from and 
contribute to the congestion:

 The ongoing impact on existing local businesses, and the disincentive 
that it gives for any business considering locating in the area;

 The impact that the congestion is having on the quality of life for all 
borough residents, and in particular the poor air quality being caused 
by queueing traffic;

 The specific impact on roads and streets which are being used as “rat 
runs” by motorists trying to avoid delays, especially in more rural areas;

 The petition to Parliament organised by local residents seeking urgent 
action on the problems; and



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

 The uncertainty in North Kent caused by the delay in announcing the 
location of a new lower Thames crossing. 

3.5 Arising from the discussion the Board resolved that the issue of the 
continuing traffic congestion problems in Dartford be referred to the Cabinet 
for consideration.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not Applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications Expand in narrative form or say None

Legal Implications
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 
Crime and Disorder duty 

None
None

None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Minutes: Joint Transportation 
Board 6 September 2016

N/A Neil Murphy
(01322) 343251

Member 
Services

N/A



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

NEW CRICKET PAVILION IN HESKETH PARK, DARTFORD: 
REFERENCE FROM THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

1. Summary

1.1 At its meeting on 13 September 2016 [Min. No. 8 refers] the Scrutiny Committee 
resolved to refer to Cabinet for consideration; its concerns over the lack of clear 
and measurable outcomes in terms of meeting Corporate Plan Objectives, 
following the decision by Cabinet to invest £1M for the construction of a new 
cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford [Cabinet Report of 12 June 2014 and 
Cabinet Mins. 7 and 14 [EXEMPT] refer].

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Scrutiny Committee’s specific recommendations for measurable outcomes 
to support the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives as detailed in para. 3.4 of the 
report be considered.

2.2 That Cabinet’s decision be reported back to the Scrutiny Committee. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 At its meeting on 8 July 2014 [Min. No. 9 refers] the Scrutiny Committee 
drew-down the Key Decision by Cabinet to invest £1M from the capital 
budget to construct a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park Dartford, as part 
of the Council’s capital programme for Community Facilities in 2014-15 
[Cabinet report of 12 June 2014 and Min. Nos 7 and 14 [EXEMPT] refer]. 

3.2 The Committee noted the substantial investment the new cricket pavilion 
would represent for the Council [on completion] and expressed the hope that 
the wider Dartford community would benefit from the new pavilion’s facilities, 
particularly in terms of youth development. The Committee subsequently 
resolved to add the topic to its rolling Work Programme [Min. No. 12 of 7 July 
2015 refers] with a view to receiving an annual update report from Officers on 
Hesketh Park and its facilities. At its subsequent meeting on 2 February 2016 
[Min. No. 32 refers] it was confirmed that an inaugural annual report on 
Hesketh Park and its facilities would be prepared by Officers for presentation 
to the Committee, following completion of the first 12 months of operation of 
the new pavilion by Dartford Cricket Club as tenant.   

3.3 At its meeting on 13 September 2016 [Min. No. 8 refers] the Committee 
received a verbal update from the Policy & Corporate Support Manager 
(P&CSM). He informed Members that the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park 
had been completed on time (April 2015) and to budget (£1M). Dartford 
Cricket Club (DCC) had taken up its tenancy of the new pavilion in May 2015 
and had now completed a full year of operation in the new facility. The new 
pavilion had allowed DCC to expand its sporting potential and play a fuller role 
in support of a number of Health & Wellbeing initiatives across the Borough, 
including those to combat obesity levels, as briefly detailed in the Club’s 
‘Community Information Sheet’ tabled that evening. He also clarified for 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Members that the DCC (as tenant) of the new pavilion was not providing a 
service for the Council, that the Club was not subject to a Service Level 
Agreement (SLA) with the Council and that as a consequence, the imposition 
of ‘targets’ for the Club to increase community participation in the new facility 
or to achieve objectives in the Corporate Plan; were not appropriate and did 
not apply to the Club’s tenancy agreement with the Council.

3.4 The Chairman and Members of the Committee accepted that DCC (as tenant) 
of the new pavilion facility in Hesketh Park could not be held directly 
responsible for meeting Council targets for increased community participation 
or other relevant objectives in the Corporate Plan. However, the Committee 
expressed its concerns that no clear and measurable outcomes had been 
identified by Cabinet to justify its decision to invest £1M of capital reserves in 
the building of the new pavilion in Hesketh Park. In subsequent discussion, 
Members identified suggestions for measurable outcomes for consideration 
by Cabinet on 27 October 2016 as detailed below:  

 To record the number of residents by age and gender undertaking 
healthy activity at the new cricket pavilion facilities in its 2nd year of 
operation by DCC (as tenant); 

 To monitor the continued performance of DCC in providing a 
programme of community activity and health & well-being initiatives at 
the new pavilion and to measure that provision as a proportion of the 
Council’s overall provision to Dartford residents;

 To gauge the contribution that the provision of the new cricket pavilion 
by the Council has made to reducing obesity levels in the Borough.

3.5 Accordingly, the Committee resolved to refer to Cabinet for consideration 
and response; its concerns and recommendations [as detailed above] for 
clear and measurable outcomes to be applied to the Council’s capital 
investment of £1M to construct the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, and 
the contribution of that investment in terms of measurable outcomes, to help 
achieve identified and relevant objectives in the Corporate Plan.

3.6 In accordance with the Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol, Cabinet is required to 
consider the recommendations and indicate what (if any) action it proposes 
to take. If the Committee’s recommendations are not accepted, Cabinet is 
required to give clear reasons.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To help meet Objective HW2: to increase opportunities for participating in 
sporting, cultural and leisure activities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The Council invested £1M of capital resources in 
the building of the pavilion.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty
Crime and Disorder Duty

Scrutiny Committee monitors the performance of 
the Cabinet, Officers and partner authorities in 
implementing decisions in line with the Council’s 
Strategic and Policy Framework.
None

None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Minutes: Scrutiny Committee 
of 13 September 2016, 
February 2016, July 2015, 
July 2014 and Cabinet 
Minutes and Report of June 
2014.

N/A David Hook
(01322) 343276

Member 
Services

N/A





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

1.2   This report provides Members with the detailed results from the recent Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme consultation process and the findings from the 
revised Customer Access Review, and then presents revisions to the current 
scheme for Members’ approval, to be effective from 1 April 2017.

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

         To Cabinet

2.1 That Cabinet approve the following resolution to the General Assembly of the 
Council.

To the General Assembly of the Council

2.2 That the Customer Access Review shown at Appendix C be approved.

2.3 That the following amendments to the current scheme be made, with effect 
from 1 April 2017:

 The maximum level of support for working age claimants be reduced 
from 81.5% to 80%;

 Family Premium be removed for new claimants;

 Backdating be reduced to one month;

 Use  a minimum level of income for self-employed earners after two 
years of self-employment;

 Reduce the period for which a person can be absent from Great Britain 
and receive discount to four weeks;

 Introduce a standard level of non-dependent deduction of £10 for 
claimants;

 Restrict the maximum level of discount payable to a Band D charge;

 Remove Second Adult Reduction;

 Remove the award of a Work Related Activity Component for all 
claimants who claim Employment and Support Allowance on or after 1 
April 2017;



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

 Limit the number of dependent children within the calculation for 
discount to a maximum of two;

 Remove the entitlement to discount for a claimant treated as not being 
habitually resident in Great Britain because they are a European 
Economic Area (EEA) Jobseeker;

 Introduce a scheme to help claimants suffering exceptional hardship.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) replaced Council Tax 
Benefit in 2013. Under the new scheme each council was able to set its 
own local scheme but within a reduced funding envelope. Pensioners 
remained protected under Government regulations, therefore, in order 
to ensure that the Council had a scheme that could be delivered within 
the available Government funding, the maximum entitlement for 
working age claimants was reduced by 18.5% resulting in all working 
age claimant having to pay at least 18.5% of their council tax liability. 

3.2. Since the start of the scheme, the number of claimants has reduced. 
Although this has resulted in the costs of CTRS being reduced, the 
associated funding has been cut at a faster rate, resulting in a greater 
share of the cost burden now falling on the Council and the major 
preceptors.  The Council has therefore been reviewing the scheme to 
reduce the cost moving forward, whilst also having regard to the most 
vulnerable of its residents.

3.3. The major preceptors currently pay an administration grant of £125,000 
per annum to each of the districts towards their local schemes. Kent 
County Council bear the greatest impact on their council tax yield of the 
council tax discount and are therefore keen to see the districts amend 
their schemes and reduce the level of financial support awarded. As a 
result, the major preceptors are reviewing the funding agreement they 
have with the districts. They currently pay each district £125k towards 
the administration costs of the scheme. Were the Council to decide not 
to amend the current scheme, the major preceptors could withdraw 
their administration contribution. This contribution is essential as it 
helps support staff resource to collect the council tax contributions from 
working age claimants. Changes to the local scheme could potentially 
lead to a need to collect more council tax from individuals who may find 
it difficult to pay.

3.4. The review of the CTRS has been undertaken in liaison with all Kent 
Districts in order that there remains a ‘common approach’ across Kent. 
The objectives of the review have been:



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

 to retain the principle of residents paying a contribution towards 
the Council’s costs whilst having regard to the Council’s most 
vulnerable residents; 

 to target support to those most in need; 

 to align the scheme with national policy on changes to Housing 
Benefit; 

 having regard to the reductions in Government grant, to make 
the scheme less costly (if possible) and more efficient in terms 
of its operation.

3.5. The districts have worked with a consultant to come up with a number 
of proposed amendments to reduce the cost of the scheme whilst also 
trying to protect the most vulnerable. Consequently, at its meeting on 2 
June 2016, Members agreed to go out to consult on 15 options to 
adjust the existing scheme:

1. To reduce the maximum level of support for working age 
claimants from 81.% to 80;

2. To remove the Family Premium for all new working age claims;

3. To reduce backdating of claims to one month;

4. To introduce a minimum level of income for self-employed 
earners after one year of self-employment;

5. To reduce the period for which a person can be absent from 
Great Britain and receive a discount to 4 weeks;

6. To reduce the capital limit from £16,000 to £6,000;

7. To introduce a standard level of non-dependent deduction of 
£10;

8. To include child maintenance in income assessments;

9. To include child benefit in income assessments;

10.To restrict the maximum level of discount to a Band D charge;

11.To remove Second Adult Reduction;

12.To remove the award of a Work Related Activity Component for 
all new Employment and Support Allowance applicants;

13.To limit the number of dependent children within the calculation 
to two;

14.To remove the entitlement to discount for a non-habitually 
resident in Great Britain;



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

15.To introduce a scheme to help claimants suffering exceptional 
hardship.

 It was understood that a combination of some, or all, of these possible 
options might be required in order to achieve the objective of reducing 
overall costs. Members also agreed to consult on two alternative 
options to changing the scheme: increasing council tax for all taxpayers 
to fund the scheme; or using Council reserves to fund the scheme.

The Consultation 

3.6. To effect changes to the CTRS, the Council has a legal duty to carry 
out public consultation and assess the impacts of proposed changes 
with regards to equalities. The Council therefore went out to 
consultation over a twelve week period which ended on 11 September 
2016. 

3.7. An on-line questionnaire with the options agreed was available on the 
Council’s website over the twelve week period. A letter was sent to all 
working age claimants advising them of the web link and giving them 
an option to request a hard copy of the questionnaire. The Registered 
Social Landlords were also advised of the consultation and encouraged 
to respond.

3.8. The complexity of the scheme, as well as the number and technical 
nature of the options presented, did not lend itself well to public 
consultation. Therefore, the number of responses received was very 
low at 82 online responses and 14 hard copy returns, compared to the 
Council’s number of working age claimants at over 3,500. It is therefore 
difficult to conclude that the responses give a representative view from 
residents of the Borough.

3.9. The results of the consultation are shown at Appendix A. Members will 
note that:

 The majority of respondents did not agree to the alternative 
ways of funding the scheme – increasing council tax or using 
reserves;

 40% of respondents agreed with reducing the maximum 
entitlement to 80%, whilst 49% disagreed (option 1 above);

 There was broad agreement to those options that would align 
the scheme to proposed Government changes to the housing 
benefit scheme (options 2, 3, 5, 12 and 13);

 39% of respondents were against using a set income level for 
self-employed claimants, whilst only 28% were in favour of this 
option (option 4). The comments received reflected the fact that 
self-employed workers’ income can fluctuate considerably year 
on year;



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

 The responses to the option of reducing the capital limit from 
£16,000 to £6,000 were mixed but there was a general view that 
this may discourage savings;

 There were concerns expressed about including child benefit 
and child maintenance within the income calculation (options 8 
and 9). There was a view that this may impact negatively on 
children from poorer families;

 There was support for option 7 which would simplify the non-
dependent deductions;

 There was general support to restricting the maximum level of 
discount to an equivalent Band D property (option 10);

 Whilst only 30% were in favour of removing the second adult 
reduction (option 11), no strong arguments were put forward 
against this option;

 70% of respondents agreed that entitlement to a reduction 
should be removed for those not habitually resident in Great 
Britain (option 14);

 There was clear support for an exceptional hardship fund (option 
15). Although this would not a deliver a saving for the scheme, it 
would offer protection to the most vulnerable and target support 
to those most in need. This fund would be facilitated through the 
Collection Fund and would therefore not impact on the Council’s 
General Fund. 

3.10. The Scrutiny Committee drew down this item from their review of the 
Regulation 9 Notice and discussed the options to amend the scheme at 
their meeting on 13 September 2016. Scrutiny raised a number of 
concerns, including:

 The CTRS impacts on more women than men. In 2016/17 the 
ratio of women to men claimants is 2607:1082. Care therefore 
needs to be taken to ensure women aren’t discriminated against 
in the proposed amendments;

 The scheme should not adversely impact single male parents;

 The changes should not have a disproportionate impact on 
disabled claimants. Scrutiny Members were assured, however, 
that the inclusion of Disability Allowance (DLA) and Personal 
Independence Payments (PIP) in the assessment of income had 
already been discounted due to the fact that disabled claimants 
are significantly less likely than non-disabled claimants to be 
able to increase their income through employment; 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

 There should be no adverse impacts on children within claimant 
households;

 The scheme should recognise that there needs to be a start-up 
period for self-employed claimants and that the one year period 
proposed is too short;

 The proposals should not discourage claimants from saving;

 The proposals should recognise and allow for cases of 
exceptional hardship.

The comments above had cross-party support.

3.11. There is also an obligation for the Council to consult with major 
precepting bodies. A response has been received from Kent County 
Council and this is shown at Appendix B. It should be noted that this 
response is a generic one to all the Kent districts. It reflects the 
following views: 

 They supported for the need to amend the schemes; 

 Consideration should be given to reducing the maximum 
discount to below 80%; 

 The scheme should synchronise with housing benefit rule 
changes; 

 They supported a minimum income floor being introduced to 
self-employed assessments; 

 They supported reducing the saving threshold, reducing the 
period a claim can be backdated and removing second adult 
rebate; 

 They objected to any inclusion of child benefit in household 
income as it is contrary to the County’s objective of helping 
children and young people to get the best start in life; 

 They suggested that more research be done on the impact of 
including child maintenance in household income; 

 Consideration should be given to capping awards at Band C 
rather than Band D. 

3.12. As part of their review of the administration grant funding level, Kent 
County Council have now confirmed that they will not look to reduce 
the overall funding pot to districts providing the districts amend their 
schemes to reflect the housing benefit changes and uplift their 
percentage of the minimum level working age claimants have to pay 
towards their council tax liability. As highlighted in paragraph 3.3, this 
funding is essential to support council tax collection. Whilst the overall 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

funding pot will not be reduced, the funding will be apportioned in a 
slightly different way. There needs to be a greater recognition of the 
caseload each district is managing, rather than just splitting any grant 
funding on an equal basis. There will therefore be a fixed element plus 
a variable element based on caseload. The exact details of the funding 
model are still being progressed, but it is likely that Dartford’s funding 
will be reduced from £125k to around £106k as the Council’s caseload 
is lower than in some of the other districts. The Revenues and Benefits 
shared service partnership with Sevenoaks District Council will 
endeavour to maintain the existing staff levels despite this reduction in 
funding. However, were Members to decide not to agree to the options 
stipulated by Kent County Council as a condition of their funding, and 
the funding were to be reduced further or removed altogether, then 
there would have to be a corresponding reduction in staff resource 
which would have a negative impact on council tax collection rates.

Recommendations

3.13. A full Customer Access Review has been undertaken on the options 
available in accordance with the Council’s duties under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. This is shown at Appendix C. 

3.14. Based on the consultation responses, comments from Scrutiny, Kent 
County Council’s feedback and the Customer Access Review, the 
following are proposed for Member approval:

 The minimum level percentage that working age claimants have 
to pay towards their council tax liability be increased from 18.5% 
to 20% in order to ensure that the funding from the major 
preceptors is protected (option 1);

 Amendments are made to reflect housing benefit changes 
(options 2, 3, 5, 12 and 13);

 A minimum level of income for self-employed claimants is used 
but with a two year start-up period rather than the one year 
originally proposed (option 4);

 Option 6 be rejected and the capital limit for savings for 
claimants to remain at £16,000;

 A standard level of non-dependent deduction of £10 for 
claimants be introduced (option 7);

 Options 8 and 9 of including child maintenance and child benefit 
in the income assessment be rejected due to the adverse impact 
this may have on children in poorer households;

 The maximum level of discount payable be restricted to a Band 
D property (option 10);



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

 The Second Adult Reduction be removed (option 11);

 The entitlement to discount for a claimant who is not habitually 
resident in Great Britain be removed (option 14);

 An exceptional hardship scheme be introduced to support those 
most in need (option 15).

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Statutory requirement

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The cost of consultancy on the proposals is £500 
and has been met from within existing budgets.
The cost of awards made under the CTRS 
impact on the taxbase and tax yield. The total 
cost of the Dartford scheme for 2016/17 is 
£5.06m of which £2.15m relates to pensioner 
discounts (as required by legislation) and £2.91m 
working age discounts determined under the 
local scheme. A large proportion of this cost is 
borne by the major preceptors. Dartford’s pro-
rata share is approximately £540k (of which 
£310k relates to working age discounts). This 
assumes full collection of the discounted council 
tax bills. Currently the in-year collection rate for 
working age claimants is 84.6%. However, the 
proposed changes may potentially result in a 
reduction in the collection rate, although 
appropriate action and support would be given to 
those affected to help prevent this.  If the cost of 
awards were to be reduced per the proposals in 
this report, and assuming the collection rate is 
not adversely affected, it is estimated that this 
would result in additional council tax of 
approximately £46k for the Council and £340k for 
the major preceptors.
The details of the funding available towards the 
administration costs of the scheme are still being 
finalised but the overall pot for the Kent districts 
will not be reduced providing the districts adjust 
their schemes to reflect the housing benefit 
changes and increase the minimum contribution 
percentage. The split of the funding between the 
districts is likely to be re-apportioned based on a 
fixed element and an element determined by 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

caseload. On this basis, the Council’s funding will 
reduce from £125k per annum to approximately 
£106k. This funding is used to support staff with 
responsibilities for collecting council tax across 
the Revenues and Benefits shared service 
partnership with Sevenoaks. It is not anticipated 
that this staffing level will need to be reduced but 
were the funding to be reduced further or 
removed due to the Council not agreeing to the 
major preceptors’ conditions around housing 
benefit changes and the minimum contribution 
payable, then staffing levels may need to be 
reduced which would have an adverse impact on 
collection rates. Alternatively, compensating 
savings, equivalent to the funding lost, would 
need to be found.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder Duty

The scheme is governed by the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012.
The Council has a statutory duty to consult on a 
proposed scheme. The consultation already 
undertaken meets this requirement.

A Customer Access Review has been 
undertaken and is attached at Appendix  C.

There are no Crime and Disorder implications.

Staffing Implications Resources will need to be monitored to ensure 
collection is maximised

Administrative Implications See staffing implications above 

Risk Assessment The scheme could be open to challenge if it were 
considered that the consultation had not been 
undertaken properly. The Council consulted fully 
on its proposals for a twelve week period and 
therefore can evidence that a robust process has 
been followed.
Some of the changes proposed are intended to 
align the CTRS with the administration of housing 
benefit. At the present time, the following 
changes have yet to be made within the housing 
benefit scheme, but regulations are expected 
before 1 April 2017:

 The limitation of dependents additions to 
two dependents where a third or 
subsequent child is born on or after 1 April 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
12 DECEMBER 2016

2017; and

 The removal of the Work Related Activity 
Component for all new Employment and 
Support Allowance applicants on or after 1 
April 2017.

In the unlikely event that these changes are not 
effected by Central Government by 1 April 2017, 
Members could resolve to amend the CTRS from 
April 2018.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Summary of Consultation Results
Appendix B – Response from Kent County Council
Appendix C – Customer Access Review

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Internal 
Services

N/A



APPENDIX A

SURVEY RESULTS

Option Description Survey Results Estimated 
number of 
claimants 
affected

Estimated 
saving to 
Council

Estimated 
saving to 
major 
preceptors

Total 
estimated 
saving

Estimated 
weekly loss to 
household

Yes No Don’t 
know

Option 1 : Reduce the maximum level 
of support for working age claimants 
from 81.5% to 80%

40% 49% 11% 3,696 £6,575 £48,215 £54,790 £0.29

Option 2: Remove the Family Premium 
for new claimants

32% 46% 22% 195 £4,331 £31,765 £36,096 £3.56

Option 3: Reduce backdating to one 
month

52% 32% 16% Minimal amount n/a n/a n/a Minimal amount

Option 4: Use a minimum level of 
income for self-employed earners 

28% 39% 33% 233 £19,334 £141,780 £161,114 £13.30

Option 5: Reduce the period for which 
a person can be absent from Great 
Britain and receive Council Tax 
Reduction to 4 weeks

76% 14% 10% Minimal amount n/a n/a n/a Minimal amount

Option 6: Reduce the capital limit 
from £16,000 to £6,000

41% 46% 13% 39 £3,529 £25,878 £29,407 £14.50

Option 7: Introduce a standard level of 
non-dependent deduction of £10 for 
claimants

44% 30% 26% 322 £10,152 £74,446 £84,598 £5.05

Option 8: Include Child Maintenance 
in assessments for Council Tax 
Reduction

40% 43% 17% 113 £4,729 £34,679 £39,408 £6.71

Option 9: Include Child Benefit in 
assessments for Council Tax Reduction

35% 54% 11% 716 £23,898 £175,251 £199,149 £5.35

Option 10: Restrict the maximum level 
of Council Tax Reduction payable to a 
Band D charge

42% 33% 25% 117 £4,513 £33,096 £37,609 £6.18



APPENDIX A

Option Description Survey Results Estimated 
number of 
claimants 
affected

Estimated 
saving to 
Council

Estimated 
saving to 
major 
preceptors

Total 
estimated 
saving

Estimated 
weekly loss to 
household

Yes No Don’t 
know

Option 11: Remove Second Adult 
Reduction

30% 43% 27% 23 £571 £4,183 £4,754 £3.97

Option 12: Remove the award of a 
Work Related Activity Component for 
all claimants who claim Employment 
and Support Allowance on or after 1 
April 2017

49% 27% 24% Minimal amount n/a n/a n/a Minimal amount

Option 13: Limit the number of 
dependent children within the 
calculation for Council Tax Reduction 
to a maximum of two

59% 23% 18% 27 £436 £3,196 £3,632 £2.59

Option 14: Remove entitlement to 
Council Tax Reduction for a claimant 
treated as not being habitually 
resident in Great Britain because they 
are a European Economic Area (EEA) 
Jobseeker

70% 16% 14% Minimal amount n/a n/a n/a Minimal amount

Option 15: Introduce a scheme to help 
claimants suffering exceptional 
hardship

69% 12% 19% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Increase Council Tax as an alternative 
to changing the scheme

18% 54% 28% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Use savings as an alternative to 
changing the scheme

33% 37% 30% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a



APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Assessment details

Assessment area Local Scheme for Support for Council Tax 2017-18
Date of assessment October 2016
Directorate and Service Strategic (Internal) / Revenues and Benefits
Manager Nick Scott
Officer conducting assessment Sarah Martin
Step 1: Scoping the assessment

1 What are the aims and objectives of the activity or proposal? Dartford Borough Council’s local Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been in 
place since 1 April 2013, replacing the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme. 
The scheme intends to assist people in financial need by the award of a 
reduction in their council tax. The aims of the current scheme are to:

 Provide support to the most vulnerable
 Assist with lifting the poorest off benefits and supporting them to work
 Minimise the risks of error and reducing financial risk to the Council
 Take account of the impact on non-claimants

The Council has the ability to determine the level of support given to working 
age claimants only. The scheme for pension age applicants is determined by 
Central Government and therefore the ability of the Council to vary that part 
of the scheme is limited and can only enhance the national scheme in any 
event.

Central Government funding to deliver the Council Tax Reduction Scheme on 
its inception was approximately 10% lower than the amounts given under the 
previous scheme. The funding has been further reducing each year and is 
now no longer separately identified within the Revenue Support Grant given 
to the Council. After the original consultation, the Council decided to introduce 
a scheme that differed from the original Council Tax Benefit in that instead of 
granting a maximum level of support of 100%, it would limit support to 81.5%.



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Since the introduction of the scheme, the overall scheme adopted by the 
Council has remained broadly the same, with only applicable amounts and 
non-dependent charges being uprated as well as minor changes being made 
to mirror changes to the housing benefit scheme. Central Government has 
also continued to uprate changes to applicable amounts for pension age 
claimants, again to mirror the changes in housing benefit.

The Council has decided that a full review should be undertaken on the 
effectiveness of the current scheme and a public consultation has been 
carried out to gather views as to whether the current scheme should be 
changed in order to:

 Address potential shortfalls in funding due to the continued reduction in 
Central Government funding so that it can maintain an affordable and 
sustainable scheme moving forward 

 Ensure there is more accurate targeting of support to those applicants 
who most need it

 Align the scheme with proposed changes to Housing Benefit and the 
introduction of Universal Credit

 To ensure the Council continues to receive a contribution from the major 
preceptors towards the administration costs of the scheme

The Council went out for a twelve week consultation period on the following 
options: 

1. Reduce the maximum level of support for working age applicants from 
81.5% to 80%

2. Removing the Family Premium for all new working age applicants
3. Reduce backdating to 1 month
4. Using a set income for self-employed earners after 1 year’s self-

employment
5. Reduce the period for which a person can be absent from Great Britain 

and still receive Council Tax Reduction to 4 weeks
6. Reduce the capital limit from the existing £16,000 to £6,000
7. Introduce a standard level of non-dependent deduction of £10 for all 

claimants who have non-dependents resident with them



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

8. Take any Child Maintenance paid to a claimant or partner into account in 
full in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction

9. Take any Child Benefit paid to a claimant or partner into account in full in 
the calculation of Council Tax Reduction

10. Restrict the maximum level of Council Tax Reduction payable to the 
equivalent of a Band D change

11. Remove the Second Adult Reduction from the scheme
12. Remove the Work Related Activity Component (WRAC) in the calculation 

of Council Tax Reduction for new claims from applicants who are in 
receipt of Employment and Support Allowance

13. Limit the number of dependent children within the calculation for Council 
Tax Reduction to a maximum of two

14. Remove entitlement for a claimant treated as not being habitually 
resident in Great Britain because they are a European Economic Area 
(EAEA) jobseeker

15. Introduce a scheme, in addition to Council Tax Reduction, to help 
suffering exceptional financial hardship

Consideration has also been given to:

1. Increasing the level of Council Tax
2. Using the Council’s savings

The Council considered the inclusion within its consultation of certain 
disability benefits, currently disregarded in assessments of Council Tax 
Reduction. However, these were discounted as it was not felt appropriate due 
to disabled claimants being significantly less likely than non-disabled 
claimants to be able to increase their income through employment.

Based on consultation feedback, it will be recommended to Members to 
discount options 8 and 9 above, as they may have an adverse impact on the 
children of poorer households. It will be recommended to amend option 4 to 
increase the start-up period to two years to reflect the fact that it can take a 
while for a new business to become established. It will also be recommended 
to discount option 6 as this could discourage savings. 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

2 Who will be affected? Changes to the Council Tax Reduction scheme will affect eligible working age 
applicants. Pension age applicants will not be affected because they are 
protected from any reduction in support as the level they receive is set by 
Central Government.

It will also affect:
1. Everyone liable to pay Council Tax in the borough
2. The Major Precepting authorities 

3 How does the activity or proposal contribute to:
a) any key performance indicators?
b) policies, values or objectives of Dartford Borough Council?

a) The Council monitors the Council Tax Support caseload under indicator 
LI CP/PS3 (BV9) and the percentage of Council Tax collected  under 
indicator BPI-25

b) The Council Tax Reduction Scheme relates to the Corporate Plan 2014-
17 theme of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ which has a strategic aim to 
‘provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement’. Under this theme, the strategic objectives are 
to ‘deliver high quality services, offering value for money and 
demonstrating a culture of continuous improvement’ and ‘inform and 
consult residents and stakeholders about Council services’.

4 Which aspects of the activity or proposal are dictated by 
legislation/regulation and where do we have discretion in how 
they are delivered?

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 contains provisions to require local 
authorities to put in place their own localised council tax reduction scheme 
from April 2013. The Council has discretion in the ability to determine the level 
of support to working age applicants. The scheme for pension age applicants 
is determined by Central Government.

In making local schemes, the Council must give consideration to the effects of 
the options on working age applicants, in particular vulnerable groups. In 
considering this, the Council has existing responsibilities under the Equality 
Act 2010, Disabled Persons Act 1986, Housing Act 1996 and the Child Poverty 
Act 2010 (note: responsibilities for child poverty are now set out in the Welfare 
Reform Act 2016).



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Step 2: Information collection  
Note: Equality and Diversity information for Dartford can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data   

5 What do you know about the groups of people who will be 
affected? i.e. demographic information in relation to the protected 
characteristic groups (age, disability, pregnancy and maternity, religion or 
belief, race, sex, sexual orientation, gender reassignment)

It is not required for council tax purposes to collate data relating to protected 
characteristics (other than disabled claimants and pensioners) and therefore 
only limited data is available (see attached).
The split between working age claimants and pensioner age claimants for 
2016/17 is  3,689 and 2,327 respectively

6 What consultation has taken place with affected groups? Please 
describe who was consulted and the key findings

The Council consulted on the proposals to replace the Council Tax Benefit 
scheme in late Summer and Autumn 2012. Consultation to obtain views on 
options for a revised scheme from 2017-18 took place between July and 
September 2016 over a twelve week period. 

The method of consultation was via a web based questionnaire with hard 
copy documents as necessary. The consultation was open to the general 
public, including existing claimants (both working age and pension age), 
council tax payers and service users generally, and interested organisations 
and groups. All working age claimants were written to direct to ensure they 
were aware of the consultation. All Registered Social Landlords were emailed 
to ensure they were aware of the consultation.

Only 92 responses to the consultation were received. A breakdown of the 
equality monitoring (‘About You’ section of the survey) for the on-line surveys 
completed is attached. This shows that a higher proportion of females 
completed the survey (59.26%), most of the respondents were in the 25 to 59 
age bracket (72.84%) and 30% of respondents had a disability. The results 
were as follows:

 The majority of respondents did not agree to the alternative 
ways of funding the scheme – increasing council tax or using 
reserves;

 40% of respondents agreed with reducing the maximum 
entitlement to 80%, whilst 49% disagreed (option 1 above);

 There was broad agreement to those options that would align 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data


Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

the scheme to proposed Government changes to the housing 
benefit scheme (options 2, 3, 5, 12 and 13);

 39% of respondents were against using a set income level for 
self-employed claimants, whilst only 28% were in favour of this 
option (option 4). The comments received reflected the fact 
that self-employed workers’ income can fluctuate considerably 
year on year;

 The responses to the option of reducing the capital limit from 
£16,000 to £6,000 were mixed but there was a general view 
that this may discourage savings;

 There were concerns expressed about including child benefit 
and child maintenance within the income calculation (options 8 
and 9). There was a view that this may impact negatively on 
children from poorer families;

 There was support for option 7 which would simplify the non-
dependent deductions;

 There was general support to restricting the maximum level of 
discount to an equivalent Band D property (option 10);

 Whilst only 30% were in favour of removing the second adult 
reduction (option 11), no strong arguments were put forward 
against this option;

 70% of respondents agreed that entitlement to a reduction 
should be removed for those not habitually resident in Great 
Britain (option 14);

 There was clear support for an exceptional hardship fund 
(option 15). Although this would not a deliver a saving for the 
scheme, it would offer protection to the most vulnerable and 
target support to those most in need. This fund would be 
facilitated through the Collection Fund and would therefore not 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

impact on the Council’s General Fund. 

Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Service and Kent Police were 
involved in initial consultation regarding the proposed options. The options set 
out in the consultation took account of their views. Kent County Council have 
also fed back their views on the consultation options:

 They supported for the need to amend the schemes; 

 Consideration should be given to reducing the maximum 
discount to below 80%; 

 The scheme should synchronise with housing benefit rule 
changes; 

 They supported a minimum income floor being introduced to 
self-employed assessments; 

 They supported reducing the saving threshold, reducing the 
period a claim can be backdated and removing second adult 
rebate; 

 They objected to any inclusion of child benefit in household 
income as it is contrary to the County’s objective of helping 
children and young people to get the best start in life; 

 They suggested that more research be done on the impact of 
including child maintenance in household income; 

 Consideration should be given to capping awards at Band C 
rather than Band D. 

Scrutiny also discussed the options at their meeting on 13 September 2016. 
They expressed the following views:

 The CTRS impacts on more women than men. In 2016/17 the 
ratio of women to men claimants is 2607:1082. Care therefore 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

needs to be taken to ensure women aren’t discriminated 
against in the proposed amendments;

 The scheme should not adversely impact single male parents;

 The changes should not have a disproportionate impact on 
disabled claimants. Scrutiny Members were assured, however, 
that the inclusion of Disability Allowance (DLA) and Personal 
Independence Payments (PIP) in the assessment of income 
had already been discounted due to the fact that disabled 
claimants are significantly less likely than non-disabled 
claimants to be able to increase their income through 
employment; 

 There should be no adverse impacts on children within 
claimant households;

 The scheme should recognise that there needs to be a start-up 
period for self-employed claimants and that the one year 
period proposed is too short;

 The proposals should not discourage claimants from saving;

 The proposals should recognise and allow for cases of 
exceptional hardship.

7 Are there any gaps in information? If so, what additional research 
and/or consultation is needed to ensure that affected groups 
needs and views are taken into account? 

Some data is available on the protected characteristic groups (see attached). 
Options relating to child benefit and child maintenance have been discounted 
due to their potential negative impact on low paid women and the children of 
poorer households. However, in general, the other changes proposed to the 
scheme would have no specific impact on the individual groups other than 
that for working age claimants generally. 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 

8 Consider whether the activity or proposal has or will have any positive or negative equality impacts on the protected characteristic groups in 
relation to the following aims of the General Equality Duty:

 

a) tackling unlawful discrimination
b) promoting equality of opportunity
c) promoting good relations

NOTES:
 The Initial Screening will have identified which aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty are relevant to the activity or proposal for consideration 
 For existing activities, consider how they are working in practice for each relevant protected group
 For new proposals, consider whether there is anything that could give rise to positive and negative equality impacts for each relevant protected group
 If there is no identified equality impact, please tick the ‘No Impact’ box and explain why in question 9 
 If the equality impact is unclear, please tick the ‘Unknown’ box and explain why in question 9

POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN
a Age Pension age claimants will be 

protected from the changes

There is nothing in the scheme that 
specifically reduces entitlement to 
LCTS based on age 

The Council is proposing the 
adoption of an exceptional hardship 
policy which would be available for 
those claimants in most severe 
financial need.

Negative impacts depend on specific 
options. For example, if there is a 
reduction in the maximum level of 
support from 81.5% to 80%, every 
working-age claimant will see a 
reduction.

There could be potentially be a 
negative impact on claimants with 
children

☐ ☐

b Disability 17% of working age claimants have 
a disability

People with disabilities now receive 
on average more per week than 
people without disabilities. This is as 
a result of the current scheme 

Certain disabled applicants may 
experience a reduction in overall 
support (as with other working age 
claimants) due to the proposed 
changes to the scheme

☐ ☐



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

treating people with disabilities more 
favourably by disregarding some 
incomes, resulting in a higher council 
tax reduction. 

The Council has discounted the 
inclusion of the Disability Living 
Allowance and Personal 
Independence Payments from the 
assessment of total income for the 
revised scheme. 

9% of working age claimants have a 
carer in the household. Working age 
claimants with a carer receive more 
per week, on average, than working 
age claimants without a carer in the 
household. The main reason for this 
is both the treatment of disability and 
care within the scheme.

All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship.

c Gender (including reassignment)
71% of claimants are female.

Although there is a difference 
between the average amounts 
females and males receive per 
week, this is due to factors relating 
to circumstances which directly 
affect the calculation of council tax 
reduction, and is not linked to a 

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally.

Option 2 relating to the removal of the 
family premium will impact on 10% of 
claimants, of which 82% are female 
(476) but it is proposed to introduce 
this option into the new scheme as it 
will bring the scheme into line with the 
housing benefit scheme.  The impact 

☐ ☐



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

claimant’s sex directly.

Child benefit and child maintenance 
proposals have been discounted due 
to their potential negative impact on 
working age female claimants and 
the children of poorer households.

All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship.

will equate on average to a loss of 
income of £3.76 per week for female 
claimants.

Option 13, limiting the number of 
dependent children to a maximum of 
two, where a third or subsequent child 
is born on or after 1 April 2017, will 
impact on a minimal number of 
claimants. Based on current 
claimants, 1%  currently receive an 
additional discount due to having 
three or more children. Of these 
claimants, 72% (46) are females. This 
option is again recommended to bring 
the CTRS in line with proposed 
changes to housing benefit. The 
average loss of income for a female 
claimant will be £4.17 per week.

If options 2 and 13 were rejected, then 
KCC would reduce or even remove 
their admin grant to the Council which 
would result in additional savings 
having to be found of £125k per 
annum

d Race All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

e Religion/Belief All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

f Sexual Orientation All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

g Pregnancy/Maternity All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

9 If ‘no impact’ or ‘unknown’ was selected, 
please explain

There is no identified impact on the protected characteristic groups other than if they were of working 
age generally apart from those identified for women above.   

10 If Dartford Borough Council works with 
partners to deliver the activity or proposal, 
please describe any circumstances that 
could give rise to positive or negative 
equality impacts between different groups

The Revenues and Benefits service is a shared partnership with Sevenoaks District Council. If both 
local authorities adopt different schemes, this may impact on the teams having to work within two 
different schemes.

The Council is currently receiving funding support from Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service and Kent Police and Crime Commissioner. These major preceptors have reviewed their 
funding arrangement. They will continue with their funding but on the condition that the Council 
increases the minimum contribution percentage and adopts those changes that will align the scheme 
to the housing benefit scheme. Therefore the Council is proposing to introduce option 2 (remove 
family premium) and option 13 (reduce number of dependents to a maximum of two) despite there 
being a potential negative impact on female claimants. If the Council were to lose the funding from 
the major preceptors, then staffing resources for council tax collection would either have to be 
reduced (which would have a negative impact on collection rates) or the Council would need to find 
alternative savings. The exceptional hardship scheme would be available to reduce the impact on 
any claimant suffering exceptional hardship due to these two options being introduced into the 
scheme.

11 Any other comments Within the scope of the scheme the Council is aware that there would be a need to protect the most 
vulnerable households. Option 15 proposes the introduction of a targeted exceptional hardship 
scheme. The design of this scheme will allow any claimant to apply for additional support. It will 
examine their overall circumstances, examine both income and expenditure with a view to 
determining whether exceptional hardship exists. Under the scheme, claimants will potentially be 
able to receive additional support up to the full level of their council tax. 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Step 4: Action plan  

11. Based on the information in Steps 1 to 3, please list the actions that will be taken to address:

a)  any gaps in information and consultation
b)  how any negative impacts on equality will be mitigated or eradicated 

a) If additional information and/or consultation is required or the impact is still unclear, what actions will you put in place to gather the information 
you need?

Information needs Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
b) If any negative impacts on equality were found, what actions will you put in place to mitigate or eradicate these impacts?  

Identified impacts (and 
who is affected)

Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

Potential financial 
impact on women of 
options 2 and 13

Introduce an 
exceptional hardship 
scheme

To provide additional 
support to any 
claimants suffering 
exceptional hardship as 
a result of the changes

31 December 2016 Use of the exceptional 
hardship scheme will 
be monitored by 
officers

Sarah Martin
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                            



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Step 5: Decision making and future monitoring

13 Which decision making process does this Customer Access Review 
need to go through? i.e. who does this need to be approved by?

Strategic Director (Internal)

Cabinet will be asked to consider this Customer Access Review assessment 
alongside the Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax report on 27 
October. This will then go to the General Assembly of the Council on 10 
December 2016.

14 How will you continue to monitor the impact of the activity or 
proposal on the equality groups?

Annual review of scheme and impact

15 When will you review this Customer Access Review? On an annual basis

Step 6: Final steps

16 Once this Customer Access Review has been approved, send this assessment to the Policy & Projects Officer 
17 If the subject of the Customer Access Review is going to committee, summarise your findings in the committee report
18 Implement the actions identified from this Customer Access Review and ensure progress is monitored and recorded 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
APPENDIX C

December 2015

Dartford Borough Council Tax Reduction Scheme (also known as 
Council Tax Support Scheme) 2017/18 Consultation

Equality Monitoring (About You Section of Survey) 

[Online surveys]

Total surveys: 81

Q40. Ethnic Origin

White/British/English/Northern Irish/Scottish/Welsh 61 75.31%
White Irish 0 0%
White Gypsy or Irish Traveller 0 0%
White European 2 2.47%
White Other 1 1.23%
Black African 0 0%
Black British 3 3.70%
Black Caribbean 0 0%
Black Other 0 0%
Asian British 0 0%
Indian 0 0%
Pakistani 0 0%
Bangladeshi 0 0%
Chinese 0 0%
Asian Other 0 0%
Arabic 2 2.47%
White & Black African 0 0%
White & Black Caribbean 1 1.23%
White & Asian 0 0%
Other Mixed Background 2 2.47%
Other ethnic group 2 2.47%
Prefer not to say 7 8.64%
Did not answer 0 0%

Q40a. Please specify here

MauritianOther ethnic group
Srilankan

Other mixed background Half English & half Mauritian

Q41. What is your gender?

Male 27 33.33%
Female 48 59.26%
Prefer not to say 6 7.41%
Did not answer 0 0%



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
APPENDIX C

December 2015

Q42. Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned?

Yes 71 87.65%
No 0 0%
Prefer not to say 7 8.64%
Did not answer 3 3.70%

Q43. What is your age?

Under 16 0 0%
16-19 0 0%
20-24 5 6.17%
25-59 59 72.84%
60-64 10 12.35%
65 & Over 2 2.47%
Prefer not to say 5 6.17%
Did not answer 0 0%

Q44. What is your religion or belief?

None 22 27.16%
Christian 43 53.09%
Hindu 1 1.23%
Jewish 0 0%
Muslim 3 3.70%
Sikh 0 0%
Buddhist 2 2.47%
Other 1 1.23%
Prefer not to say 6 7.41%
Did not answer 3 3.70%

Q44a. Please specify here

Asatru

Q45. What is your sexual orientation?

Heterosexual/Straight 67 82.72%
Gay woman/Lesbian 1 1.23%
Gay Man 3 3.70%
Bisexual 0 0%
Other 0 0%
Prefer not to say 8 9.88%
Did not answer 2 2.47%

Q45a. Please specify here

[Nil response]



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
APPENDIX C

December 2015

Q46. Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

Yes 30 37.04%
No 40 49.38%
Prefer not to say 9 11.11%
Did not answer 2 2.47%

Q47. If yes, what is the nature of your disability? (Respondents can tick more than one box)

Mental Health 9
Learning Disability 2
Sight Impairment 3
Hearing Impairment 3
Physical Disability 27
Other 5

Q47a. Other (please specify)

Physical & Digestive problems
I have several medical issues
paraplegic And in pain 24/7
ostioprosis low blood pressure Blackouts falls ostioarthritis HIV+ nouropthay tremmors 
COPD
DBC



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
APPENDIX C

December 2015

Female 
(18-24)

Male   
(18-24)

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Current Scheme (2016/17)
All claimants
All claimants All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 6016 1135 4881 422 5594 3985 2031
Proportion of claimants 19% 81% 7% 93% 66% 34% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average benefit paid (per week) £16.02 £17.11 £15.77 £18.30 £15.85 £15.77 £16.50
Differences between groups

Pensioner claimants
Pensioner claimants All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 2327 504 1823 72 2255 1378 949
Proportion of claimants 22% 78% 3% 97% 59% 41% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average benefit paid (per week) £18.06 £18.48 £17.95 £21.34 £17.96 £17.94 £18.25
Differences between groups

Working Age Claimants pay 18.5% of their liability 
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £14.73 £16.00 £14.47 £17.68 £14.42 £14.63 £14.98 £13.78 £13.98 £14.60 £15.57 £15.12
Differences between groups

Claimants pay 20% of their liability  (predicted based on current data)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £14.46 £15.71 £14.20 £17.35 £14.15 £14.36 £14.70 £13.53 £13.72 £14.33 £15.28 £14.84
Differences between groups

Claimants pay 25% of their liability  (predicted based on current data)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.56 £14.72 £13.32 £16.27 £13.27 £13.46 £13.79 £12.68 £12.87 £13.44 £14.33 £13.91
Differences between groups

Awards with family premium (will apply to new claims only - data is for current claims)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 583 3 580 1 582 476 107 1 151 244 169 18
Proportion of claimants 10% 1% 99% 0% 100% 82% 18% 0% 26% 42% 29% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £12.10 £10.84 £12.11 £11.81 £12.10 £11.41 £15.17 £15.59 £10.33 £12.13 £13.58 £12.44
Differences between groups

Awards with back-dating minimal

Awards with self employed income
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with self employed 
income for more than 1 year

230 6 224 8 222 139 91 2 44 84 74 26

Proportion of claimants 4% 3% 97% 3% 97% 60% 40% 1% 19% 37% 32% 11%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.72 £16.11 £13.66 £16.21 £13.63 £13.43 £14.17 £8.71 £12.44 £12.65 £16.08 £13.03
Differences between groups

Awards where temporary absence have been used minimal

Awards with capital over £6000
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 39 15 24 1 38 19 20 0 6 5 13 15
Proportion of claimants 1% 38% 62% 3% 97% 49% 51% 0% 15% 13% 33% 38%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.79 £14.92 £13.09 £16.76 £13.71 £15.28 £12.38 £0.00 £17.06 £15.42 £14.09 £11.69
Differences between groups

Awards with non-dependant deductions - data is for current claims
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with non-dependant ded 205 6 199 29 176 164 41 0 6 55 99 45
Proportion of claimants 3% 3% 97% 14% 86% 80% 20% 0% 3% 27% 48% 22%
Average benefit paid (per week) £12.68 £8.47 £12.81 £15.72 £12.18 £13.02 £11.32 £0.00 £9.09 £12.83 £13.60 £10.96
Differences between groups

Awards with child maintenance
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with Child Maintenance 113 5 108 5 108 110 3 3 29 51 26 4
Proportion of claimants 2% 4% 96% 4% 96% 97% 3% 3% 26% 45% 23% 4%
Average benefit paid (per week) £10.57 £14.78 £10.37 £14.44 £10.39 £10.35 £18.56 £9.30 £10.01 £11.04 £10.77 £8.14
Differences between groups

Working Age All 
Claimants

Disability No 
Disability

Carer Non 
Carer

Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with Child Benefit 716 3 713 2 714 552 164 27 268 262 140 19
Proportion of claimants 12% 0% 100% 0% 100% 77% 23% 4% 37% 37% 20% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £10.20 £10.84 £10.20 £9.57 £10.20 £9.53 £12.43 £8.71 £9.45 £10.35 £11.39 £12.05
Differences between groups

Awards with liability over band D
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants (above band D) 131 15 116 22 109 92 39 2 23 43 43 20
Proportion of claimants 2% 11% 89% 17% 83% 70% 30% 2% 18% 33% 33% 15%

Average benefit paid (per week) £22.24 £23.38 £22.10 £25.15 £21.65 £22.07 £22.64 £19.95 £22.52 £22.12 £23.10 £20.55
Differences between groups

Awards of second adult rebate - data is for current claims
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with 2AR 217 32 185 35 182 196 21 0 7 55 106 49
Proportion of claimants 4% 15% 85% 16% 84% 90% 10% 0% 3% 25% 49% 23%
Average benefit paid (per week) £15.33 £19.31 £14.64 £20.05 £14.42 £15.38 £14.80 £0.00 £13.73 £14.87 £16.22 £14.14
Differences between groups

Awards with a Work Related Activity Component (will apply to new claims only) minimal

Awards with over 2 dependants (will only apply to claimants who have a third or subsequent child after 1st April 2017 - data is for current claims)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with over 2 dependants 64 0 64 0 64 46 18 0 13 36 13 2
Proportion of claimants 1% 0% 100% 0% 100% 72% 28% 0% 20% 56% 20% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £15.12 £0.00 £15.12 £0.00 £15.12 £13.94 £18.11 £0.00 £12.32 £14.28 £19.50 £19.89
Differences between groups

Exceptional Hardship no data currently available

-£4.17

£0.53 £3.38 -£0.31 £0.00

£1.53 £3.26 -£0.35 £1.79

-£0.74 £7.37

-£3.76 £5.26

-£0.34 £1.76

-£8.21

Consultation Option 14 - applies to new and existing claimants

Consultation Option 6 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 7 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 8 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 9 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 10 - applies to existing claimants

-£15.12 -£15.12

Awards with child benefit

LC1117EW

Population data - working age (Census 2011) Disability (16-64) Carer (16-64)

Number 
Proportion (of working age)
Census table

£2.58

£1.34 £2.45

Annex 1 - Current claimant data

Consultation Option 1 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 2 - applies to new claimants from 1st April 2017

Consultation Option 3 - applications made after 1st April 2017

-£1.27 -£0.29

-£0.73 £0.00

Consultation Option 4 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 5 - applies to existing claimants

£1.41 £3.00 -£0.32 £1.65

QS103EW

£1.50 £3.20

DC3201EW LC3304EW

Proposed changes (2017/18)

£2.45

£2.90

£1.83 £3.05 £2.90 £5.37

-£4.34 £3.54 £1.70 £4.51

£4.41 £4.05

£19.89

£0.64 -£0.63 -£2.90 £3.34

£4.67 £5.63 £0.58 £2.08

-£0.57 £3.15£1.28 £3.50

Consultation Option 11 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 12 - applies to new claimants from 1st April 2017

Consultation Option 13  - applies to claimants who have a third or subsequent child after 1st April 2017



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment
APPENDIX C

December 2015

Female 
(18-24)

Male   
(18-24)

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Current Scheme (2016/17)
All claimants
All claimants All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 6016 1135 4881 422 5594 3985 2031
Proportion of claimants 19% 81% 7% 93% 66% 34% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average benefit paid (per week) £16.02 £17.11 £15.77 £18.30 £15.85 £15.77 £16.50
Differences between groups

Pensioner claimants
Pensioner claimants All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 2327 504 1823 72 2255 1378 949
Proportion of claimants 22% 78% 3% 97% 59% 41% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average benefit paid (per week) £18.06 £18.48 £17.95 £21.34 £17.96 £17.94 £18.25
Differences between groups

Working Age Claimants pay 18.5% of their liability 
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £14.73 £16.00 £14.47 £17.68 £14.42 £14.63 £14.98 £13.78 £13.98 £14.60 £15.57 £15.12
Differences between groups

Claimants pay 20% of their liability  (predicted based on current data)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £14.46 £15.71 £14.20 £17.35 £14.15 £14.36 £14.70 £13.53 £13.72 £14.33 £15.28 £14.84
Differences between groups

Claimants pay 25% of their liability  (predicted based on current data)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 3689 631 3058 350 3339 2607 1082 202 964 945 956 622
Proportion of claimants 17% 83% 9% 91% 71% 29% 5% 26% 26% 26% 17%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.56 £14.72 £13.32 £16.27 £13.27 £13.46 £13.79 £12.68 £12.87 £13.44 £14.33 £13.91
Differences between groups

Awards with family premium (will apply to new claims only - data is for current claims)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 583 3 580 1 582 476 107 1 151 244 169 18
Proportion of claimants 10% 1% 99% 0% 100% 82% 18% 0% 26% 42% 29% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £12.10 £10.84 £12.11 £11.81 £12.10 £11.41 £15.17 £15.59 £10.33 £12.13 £13.58 £12.44
Differences between groups

Awards with back-dating minimal

Awards with self employed income
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with self employed 
income for more than 1 year

230 6 224 8 222 139 91 2 44 84 74 26

Proportion of claimants 4% 3% 97% 3% 97% 60% 40% 1% 19% 37% 32% 11%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.72 £16.11 £13.66 £16.21 £13.63 £13.43 £14.17 £8.71 £12.44 £12.65 £16.08 £13.03
Differences between groups

Awards where temporary absence have been used minimal

Awards with capital over £6000
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants 39 15 24 1 38 19 20 0 6 5 13 15
Proportion of claimants 1% 38% 62% 3% 97% 49% 51% 0% 15% 13% 33% 38%
Average benefit paid (per week) £13.79 £14.92 £13.09 £16.76 £13.71 £15.28 £12.38 £0.00 £17.06 £15.42 £14.09 £11.69
Differences between groups

Awards with non-dependant deductions - data is for current claims
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with non-dependant ded 205 6 199 29 176 164 41 0 6 55 99 45
Proportion of claimants 3% 3% 97% 14% 86% 80% 20% 0% 3% 27% 48% 22%
Average benefit paid (per week) £12.68 £8.47 £12.81 £15.72 £12.18 £13.02 £11.32 £0.00 £9.09 £12.83 £13.60 £10.96
Differences between groups

Awards with child maintenance
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with Child Maintenance 113 5 108 5 108 110 3 3 29 51 26 4
Proportion of claimants 2% 4% 96% 4% 96% 97% 3% 3% 26% 45% 23% 4%
Average benefit paid (per week) £10.57 £14.78 £10.37 £14.44 £10.39 £10.35 £18.56 £9.30 £10.01 £11.04 £10.77 £8.14
Differences between groups

Working Age All 
Claimants

Disability No 
Disability

Carer Non 
Carer

Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with Child Benefit 716 3 713 2 714 552 164 27 268 262 140 19
Proportion of claimants 12% 0% 100% 0% 100% 77% 23% 4% 37% 37% 20% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £10.20 £10.84 £10.20 £9.57 £10.20 £9.53 £12.43 £8.71 £9.45 £10.35 £11.39 £12.05
Differences between groups

Awards with liability over band D
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claimants (above band D) 131 15 116 22 109 92 39 2 23 43 43 20
Proportion of claimants 2% 11% 89% 17% 83% 70% 30% 2% 18% 33% 33% 15%

Average benefit paid (per week) £22.24 £23.38 £22.10 £25.15 £21.65 £22.07 £22.64 £19.95 £22.52 £22.12 £23.10 £20.55
Differences between groups

Awards of second adult rebate - data is for current claims
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with 2AR 217 32 185 35 182 196 21 0 7 55 106 49
Proportion of claimants 4% 15% 85% 16% 84% 90% 10% 0% 3% 25% 49% 23%
Average benefit paid (per week) £15.33 £19.31 £14.64 £20.05 £14.42 £15.38 £14.80 £0.00 £13.73 £14.87 £16.22 £14.14
Differences between groups

Awards with a Work Related Activity Component (will apply to new claims only) minimal

Awards with over 2 dependants (will only apply to claimants who have a third or subsequent child after 1st April 2017 - data is for current claims)
Working Age All 

Claimants
Disability No 

Disability
Carer Non 

Carer
Female Male 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

Number of claims with over 2 dependants 64 0 64 0 64 46 18 0 13 36 13 2
Proportion of claimants 1% 0% 100% 0% 100% 72% 28% 0% 20% 56% 20% 3%
Average benefit paid (per week) £15.12 £0.00 £15.12 £0.00 £15.12 £13.94 £18.11 £0.00 £12.32 £14.28 £19.50 £19.89
Differences between groups

Exceptional Hardship no data currently available

-£4.17

£0.53 £3.38 -£0.31 £0.00

£1.53 £3.26 -£0.35 £1.79

-£0.74 £7.37

-£3.76 £5.26

-£0.34 £1.76

-£8.21

Consultation Option 14 - applies to new and existing claimants

Consultation Option 6 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 7 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 8 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 9 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 10 - applies to existing claimants

-£15.12 -£15.12

Awards with child benefit

LC1117EW

Population data - working age (Census 2011) Disability (16-64) Carer (16-64)

Number 
Proportion (of working age)
Census table

£2.58

£1.34 £2.45

Annex 1 - Current claimant data

Consultation Option 1 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 2 - applies to new claimants from 1st April 2017

Consultation Option 3 - applications made after 1st April 2017

-£1.27 -£0.29

-£0.73 £0.00

Consultation Option 4 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 5 - applies to existing claimants

£1.41 £3.00 -£0.32 £1.65

QS103EW

£1.50 £3.20

DC3201EW LC3304EW

Proposed changes (2017/18)

£2.45

£2.90

£1.83 £3.05 £2.90 £5.37

-£4.34 £3.54 £1.70 £4.51

£4.41 £4.05

£19.89

£0.64 -£0.63 -£2.90 £3.34

£4.67 £5.63 £0.58 £2.08

-£0.57 £3.15£1.28 £3.50

Consultation Option 11 - applies to existing claimants

Consultation Option 12 - applies to new claimants from 1st April 2017

Consultation Option 13  - applies to claimants who have a third or subsequent child after 1st April 2017





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

CIL CONTRIBUTION TO THE KENT THAMESIDE STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORT PROGRAMME

Stone

1. Summary

1.1 The report proposes that the Council make a commitment to release a specific 
proportion of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment arising from 
proposed development at Bluewater to the Strategic Transport Programme 
(STP). This proposal forms an interim arrangement in advance of setting 
formal procedures and future decision taking by Members on the allocation of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) income to infrastructure projects. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That 43% (to a maximum of £1.283m index linked) of the net CIL receipts 
arising from development at Bluewater (DA16/01207/OUT) be directed to the 
Kent Thameside Strategic Transport Programme to fund highway 
improvements required to support development in the Borough of Dartford.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Dartford on 
the 1 April 2014 [Min. No.76 16 December 2013 GAC]. Since this time, 
specific types of new retail and commercial development must pay CIL 
upon commencement of a scheme. After a proportion has been 
assigned to local neighbourhoods and administration, remaining 
payments are to be pooled by the Council and used to fund 
infrastructure projects supporting development in the Borough.  The 
apportionment of the Dartford funding pot is to be determined by this 
Council. 

3.2. As envisaged, since implementation of CIL in the Borough in 2014, 
several liable developments have commenced and payments have 
been made into a ‘local infrastructure pot’. The funding pool has 
steadily increased in to a level whereby a meaningful apportionment to 
infrastructure projects can now begin to be considered.  Procedures 
are currently being developed to enable Member consideration of 
infrastructure funding.  

3.3. However in advance of these procedures coming into operation, 
commitment is being sought from the Council by Highways England 
(HE) in regard to a current planning application at Bluewater;  to 
allocate a proportion of CIL income (if received) to the Kent Thameside 
Strategic Transport Programme (STP). Cabinet approved a similar 
approach to releasing a specific proportion of CIL arising from 
development at St Clements in 2015. (Cabinet 5 March 2015). 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

3.4. Members are reminded that STP is a programme of strategic transport 
schemes which the Kent Thameside local authorities, Kent County 
Council, Highways Agency and Department of Transport have formally 
agreed will mitigate, together with other local transport requirements, 
the transport impacts arising from planned development.  The strategic 
schemes were derived from technical modelling of transport impacts 
arising from planned development sites in the Kent Thameside area. 
The strategic transport programme envisages that new developments 
in the Kent Thameside area will make a proportionate financial 
contribution to the mitigation schemes identified.

3.5. In the past specific allocations to the Programme were made through 
Section 106 obligations on a site by site basis.  Since the introduction 
of CIL, contributions towards strategic transport improvements can no 
longer be made by way of a Section 106 obligation and instead are to 
be funded by CIL.  A previous permission at Bluewater, which 
permitted a similar amount of new  retail floorspace as proposed by the 
new planning application, has now expired along with the S106, which 
included a contribution to the STP.  

3.6. After considering the submitted planning application at Bluewater, HE 
have requested reassurance and confirmation from the Council that a 
proportionate contribution, similar, to that identified in the S106 for 
12/01464/OUT: Western Extension at Bluewater, be provided via CIL 
to the STP.  This request is in response to HE concerns that the  new 
proposal, which is for additions to the existing retail centre and a 
western extension totalling  just under 30,000sqm (net), will require a 
similar level of mitigation to that set in the previous S106 for the 
permitted (but now expired) western extension development. 

3.7. The proposed development is located in close proximity to two STP 
identified schemes; at St Clements/London Road and Bean junctions. 
In taking account the nature of the development proposal and the 
potential for additional trip generation, (which was a key consideration 
for the previous planning consent), transport impact on the local and 
strategic highway network will be a prime planning consideration in 
determining the application. 

3.8. Progress is being made on the design of both the A2 Bean and St 
Clements/London Road junctions and they form part of the forward 
delivery programme for the STP over the next five to six years. 

3.9. HE have indicated acceptance of an approach whereby a CIL sum 
received from the proposed development, based on the previously 
permitted schemes’ S106 contribution,  is identified and earmarked  for  
the STP.  The approach is considered to satisfactorily mitigate 
transport impact of the development on the strategic highway network.   
The specifics of this approach are set below. 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

4. Specifics of the Commitment

4.1 It is therefore recommended that in regard to the specific planning 
application(DA DA16/01207/OUT) that  the Council agrees to apportion 
43% of CIL received from the scheme after taking account of income 
released to Stone Parish Council and administrative costs (proportions 
are set in national regulations) up to a maximum sum of £1,283m 
indexed. This proportionate approach takes account that the 
development and payment of CIL is likely to come forward in phases 
over time, and that CIL will not arise until detailed planning matters are 
approved and development commences. 

4.2 This maximum sum equates to that previously set in the S106 taking 
into account inflation. The 43% proportion reflects estimated CIL and 
the deductions set out in para 4.1.  The identified proportion of CIL to 
be committed from this development does not set a precedent, but the 
suggested exceptional approach is considered reasonable given the 
proximity of the site to two major improvement schemes and the 
importance of mitigating transport impacts of the scheme.  

4.3 A bespoke arrangement for this particular development, in the light of 
HE concerns, is considered to be a suitable way forward in advance of 
more formal processes for funding decisions to be agreed.  Such an 
approach would enable timely determination of the planning application 
and grant of planning consent, supported by stakeholders, if approved 
by the Development Control Board. 

4.4 Officers are continuing to liaise with infrastructure partners regarding 
the impact of CIL in Dartford on planned infrastructure funding and 
implementation.  It is likely that matters arising will be further 
considered through forthcoming processes for member consideration of 
infrastructure funding. 

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

5.1 Retail development at Bluewater and associated infrastructure levy 
receipts relates to the Strategic Aim from the Dartford Corporate Plan: 
 To Ensure that Regeneration in Dartford is Sustainable and of 

Benefit to all our Communities

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The recommended proportion of future CIL income to 
STP will have an impact on the resulting CIL income 
available for other infrastructure requirements. The 
apportionment will only be applied if the development 
commences and will be made in instalments 
commensurate with the pace of development at the 
site and in accordance with Dartford’s CIL Instalment 
Policy. The final sum allocated to the STP will be 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

dependent on the final net CIL receipt acquired from 
the development up to the maximum sum identified in 
the report. Notwithstanding the commitment set out in 
the recommendation, 57% of the final net CIL sum 
(after deductions) arising from the scheme will be 
available to support other infrastructure which 
supports development in the Borough.

Legal Implications None. 

Staffing Implications No additional staffing implications.

Administrative Implications None beyond that expected with regard to 
administration of CIL income. 

Risk Assessment Agreeing an interim approach for this site will assist 
with timely determination of the current application. 
Without the proposed commitment it is likely that HE 
will lodge a formal objection to the development, due 
to uncertainties that the proposal will provide 
adequate transport mitigation.  The commitment will 
also support the STIP, in that it will ensure that the 
level of S106 contribution from a similar scheme at 
Bluewater, previously  considered to form the future 
pool of development funding, can continue, albeit 
dependent on delivery of the scheme. Such an 
agreement does not set any precedent for future 
decision taking by Members regarding apportionment 
of CIL income. Officers will continue to liaise with 
partners on delivery of the infrastructure programme, 
potential funding sources and implementation. 

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Supporting documents 
submitted with planning 
application DA 14/01344/FUL

Tania Smith
(01322) 343103

Regeneration N/A



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

NORTHERN GATEWAY PEDESTRIAN AND CYCLE BRIDGE

Town, Joyce Green
1. Summary

1.1 A feasibility study has been undertaken to provide a new pedestrian and cycle 
bridge over the River Darent to link major development sites in the Northern 
Gateway area. This report sets out the work and conclusions to date, the 
anticipated next steps and asks for delegated approval to take works forward 
as and when funding becomes available.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the feasibility study be noted.

2.2 That the Director of Internal Services be delegated to apply for outline and 
detailed matters planning consents, obtain quotations for detailed design and 
tenders for the works in due course.

2.3 That the Director of Internal Services be authorised to enter into negotiations 
with land owners, statutory or other bodies, and agree terms for licences or 
other legal agreements in consultation with the Head of Legal Services.

2.4 That the Director of Internal Services be authorised to pursue available 
external sources of funding, where required, to enable implementation of the 
scheme.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Northern Gateway development lies to the north of Dartford 
Station and comprises a number of regeneration sites which were 
formerly industrial use. The sites are situated both to the east and west 
of the River Darent. Comprehensive development is already taking 
place including a significant number of new homes (some of which are 
built and occupied), commercial premises and supporting retail and 
community facilities. These include a new primary school; plans are 
currently progressing to ensure timely delivery. 

3.2. Dartford’s Core Strategy sets some objectives for the development 
area which include improved connections with the town centre, and 
improvements to the riverside environment and creation of footpaths. 
The Plan’s policy on Northern Gateway indicates a new river crossing 
across the Darent connecting new communities to footpaths, cycle 
ways, new facilities and open space. The Northern Gateway 
Supplementary Planning Document supports this aspiration.  

3.3. The Council’s policy approach has ensured S106 developer 
agreements being achieved on development site that can be applied to 
installation of a new bridge. A total of £521,000 has been earmarked 
and £495,000 received to date. These contributions have enabled an 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

initial feasibility study to be prepared at a cost of £79,000. If the 
scheme does not go ahead this sum is potentially at risk.

3.4. Additionally, Local Growth monies of £25,000 from the local 
sustainable transport fund has been agreed providing £25,000 for 
16/17 funding to progress the design and achieve outline planning 
consent ready for build.

3.5. Faithorn Farrell Timms LLP were appointed to undertake the feasibility 
study. Their report is deposited in the Members area for reference, but 
the main conclusion is that only one site was deemed suitable for the 
location of the structure, being set between the Weston Homes and 
Bellway Homes housing sites on the west bank of the River Darent 
(Site plan Appendix A). This site still has some challenges, particularly 
at the construction phase, but offers the only reasonable location for 
access across the river without long diversions for users.

3.6. The proposed location offers a connection to the Darent Valley Path 
and offers the shortest distance to the connecting pedestrian and cycle 
route being constructed to the south of the new commercial site, 
currently partly under construction north of the Riverside Industrial 
Estate. 

3.7. This will be also a key public access route (with the bridge in place) 
from sites to the west of the River Darent to the proposed primary 
school site earmarked at Central Road. This important connection will 
save considerable ‘on foot’ travel time and will assist in discouraging 
the use of cars taking pupils to school. 

3.8. As part of the feasibility study, there has been ongoing discussion with 
the associated west bank land owners, Environment Agency, the Port 
of London Authority and Kent County Highways on their views and 
issues associated with the delivery of the structure:

 Weston Homes are marginally affected as the new structure abuts 
their site. The design accommodates any potential overlooking 
issues (due to relative levels of the new structure and windows in 
the development).

 Bellway Homes are impacted by the structure as it lands on their 
site. After initial approaches, there have been several high level 
meetings with the Bellway management team and the company is 
supportive of the proposals. Dartford needs to implement a legal 
agreement to reserve access for construction. A permanent licence 
between Kent County Council and Bellway Homes is needed to 
ensure continued public access. These are key elements which 
need to be resolved in the short term before Bellway sell on their 
interest in the land, and prior to progressing the project to outline 
planning consent.

 Kent County Council Highways have been consulted but require 
continuous adopted access directly to the structure. Without this, it 
cannot be adopted into the highway network. From Dartford’s 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

perspective it is an absolute requirement that the structure is 
adopted by Kent County Council. Otherwise Dartford would be 
liable for ongoing maintenance for the life of the structure. Forming 
an access licence with Bellway Homes would be an acceptable 
alternative arrangement, but may involve additional capital project 
costs to upgrade footpaths etc.- further engagement with Kent 
County Council will be required to agree details.

 The Environment Agency have been initially consulted and agreed 
the free height under the bridge for flood prevention. Closer work 
will be carried out at the detailed design phase.

 The Port of London Authority have agreed the level of the bridge 
deck, lowering their initial requirements to allow a more integrated 
design overall. Without this, substantial ramps would have been 
required on both banks and would have made the scheme 
impossible to deliver.

 Further discussions are needed with the riparian owners of the east 
bank; however there is little commercial value to the site and the 
Darent Valley Path already forms a Public Right of Way; the 
proposed structure is on the river side of this path and not on any 
developable land.

3.9. The next steps are threefold: consult riparian owners on the east side 
of the river, resolve the licenses for access on the west side and to 
obtain an outline planning consent. These will give more surety for the 
delivery phase, give a basis for future funding bids and allow more 
dialogue with Kent County Council Highways about future adoption.

3.10. Should the three steps outlined above be successful, a further report 
will be presented to Members showing the final scheme and costs.

3.11. The potential cost of the construction is in the order of £1.5m, 
dependent on construction methods and ground conditions. It is 
therefore necessary to seek further external contributions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED 4. Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The project will be potentially fully funded from S106, 
CIL, Local Growth Fund - Sustainable Transport or 
other similar sources. S106 and Local Growth Fund 
have been secured to enable progress of early stages 
of the project, but there are insufficient funds to 
implement the construction phase. 

Legal Implications The Council would have to enter into legal 
agreements for construction access to the sites and 
with Kent County Council to guarantee the passing of 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder duty 

maintenance responsibilities to them.

Industry standard consultancy and construction 
contracts will be used for the design and construction 
of the structure.
The structure will comply with DDA legislation. 

Will be addressed as part of the detailed design but is 
likely to include a lighting scheme. The bridge and 
western access is naturally policed by the occupants 
of the development. This is more problematical on the 
east side, but provision of lighting for the whole of the 
route would assist

Staffing Implications Continued input from the Planning Policy team to 
identify and obtain funding.
Continued input from the Policy and Corporate 
Support team in delivery of the structure

Administrative 
Implications

Formulation of agreements, licences, briefs and 
contracts

Risk Assessment Delivery of the whole project is currently high risk as 
there is uncertainty on funding and agreement with 
the various interested parties. However, this will 
reduce over time as funding becomes established and 
agreements made between the various parties. 
At this point the project is not committed beyond 
obtaining an outline planning consent at nominal cost.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
 

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Site Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tony Phillips
(01322) 343269

Internal Services
Policy and 
Corporate Support

N/A



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Appendix A





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

BUSINESS RATE POOLING 2017/18 

1. Summary

1.1 This report seeks Members’ agreement for the Council to continue with the 
current business rate pool for 2017/18, providing this would significantly 
increase the proportion of business rates growth that would be retained by the 
Council, or to negotiate with Kent County Council and the other Kent districts 
to form a new pool if any of the existing members wish to withdraw.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Cabinet agrees to continue being a member of a Kent based business 
rate pool for 2017/18, providing it is financially beneficial to do so and subject 
to detailed arrangements.

2.2 That the detailed arrangements be delegated to the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) in consultation with the Managing Director.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Government introduced a new Business Rates Retention Scheme 
from 1 April 2013. The scheme provides an incentive to councils to 
grow their local economy by allowing them to retain a proportion of any 
business rates growth. In return, councils also share the risk of losses 
of business rates income, subject to a safety net mechanism.

3.2. As part of the scheme, the Government set a baseline funding level for 
each authority. The first 50% of any additional business rate yield 
above this baseline goes to the Treasury with the balance being split 
80% to the Borough and 20% to the County and major preceptors. On 
the Borough’s share, a 50% levy is then payable to the Government.

3.3. Local authorities are able to come together on a voluntary basis to pool 
their business rates, giving them scope to retain additional growth 
through collaborative effort, and to smooth the impact of volatility in 
rates income across a wider economic area. Councils within a pool are 
treated as a single entity, with tariffs (where the ‘business rate baseline’ 
is higher than the ‘baseline need’) and top-ups (where the ‘business 
rate baseline’ is lower than the ‘baseline need’) being netted off and a 
single levy rate applied. In two tier areas this creates the potential for 
the levy paid by the district councils being reduced, thus retaining more 
resources in the local area.

3.4. In 2015/16, Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Authority and 
all the Kent districts, with the exception of Sevenoaks District Council 
and Dartford Borough Council, combined to form a Kent business rate 
pool. Dartford was expecting to be in a safety net position for 2015/16 
and therefore there would have been no benefit to Dartford of joining 
the pool at that time. However, based on more positive income 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

projections for 2016/17, a decision was taken by Cabinet at its meeting 
on 22 October 2015 (minute number 57) to enter the pool for 2016/17. 
At the same time, Dover District Council decided to withdraw from the 
pool having moved into a safety net position.

3.5. Within the pool, additional income to the Council is divided 30% to the 
Borough; 30% to Kent County Council to be used to the benefit of 
growth throughout the pool area; 30% to joint regeneration projects in 
the Borough area; and 10% to a contingency pot to authorities within 
the pool that fall into a safety net position. Early estimates of the 
Council’s potential business rates income for 2016/17 suggested that 
the Council would gain in excess of £500k from being in the pool in that 
year. 

3.6. A decision in principle needs to be taken by 31 October on whether the 
Kent pool should continue into 2017/18. The pool requires the 
accounting body for the pool (Maidstone Borough Council) to 
coordinate monitoring across the 10 billing authorities within the pool 
and provide information back on the operation of the whole pool. This 
information is currently being collated. One of the pool members is 
currently in a safety net position and is therefore considering whether 
they should remain in the pool or not. Their decision will be made once 
they have seen the overall pool position. If they decide to leave, then a 
new pool with need to be formed across the remaining authorities. At 
this stage it is anticipated that it will be in the Council’s best interests to 
stay in the pool, however, it is considered prudent to delegate this 
decision to the Strategic Director (Internal Services), in conjunction with 
the Managing Director, to ensure the decision can be taken based on 
the most up to date information.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Business rate income forms a significant income stream for the 
Council. Ensuring that the Council maximises its income potential from 
business rates is key to supporting a sound financial strategy. This is 
an important element of the Council Performing Strongly theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The financial implications are to be 
evaluated as part of the decision to pool. 
However, the objectives and general 
principles of pooling are to enhance 
financial resilience for each of the pool 
members and to promote further growth 
within the area of the pool.

Legal Implications
 

Pools are established under paragraph 34 
of Schedule 7B to the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (as inserted by Schedule 
1 to the Local Government Finance Act 
2012). 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Business rate pooling reduces volatile 
income streams and potentially shares the 
risk of losses. The Council will need to 
consider whether other proposed members 
of the pool constitute an acceptable risk to 
the overall level of distributable growth. 
This will be considered as part of the review 
of the data being collated from the Kent 
authorities based on projections of 
business rate income, appeals provisions 
and provisions for bad debt. The Council 
will only continue with the pool if it is 
considered financially beneficial to do so.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Business rate pooling data 
collated across Kent 
authorities

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

HOUSING ANNUAL REPORT FOR TENANTS AND 
LEASEHOLDERS 2015-2016

1. Summary

1.1. Under the Government’s regulatory framework, the Council is required to 
complete an annual report to tenants and leaseholders which sets out how 
the housing service is performing and where improvements can be made.

1.2. This is the sixth housing annual report developed in consultation with the 
Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum (DBRF).  

1.3. Cabinet is asked to consider the contents of this report. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the draft Housing Annual Report 2015-2016 for tenants and 
leaseholders attached at Appendix A be approved. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Under the Localism Act 2011, social housing providers, including local 
authorities, are regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA).  The regulatory framework requires local authorities to produce 
annual reports. 

3.2. The regulatory framework includes a set of national standards which are 
broadly descriptive under the headings of Tenant Involvement and 
Empowerment, Home, Tenancy, Neighbourhood and Community and 
Value for Money.  These standards formed part of the first housing 
annual report which was approved by Cabinet on 28 October 2010 
(Minute No. 76 refers).

3.3. This sixth annual report sets out how the Council continues to develop 
local offers to tenants under the headings outlined above, what the 
Council has achieved over the last year to meet the standards and the 
targets to be achieved over the following year. The report was developed 
in consultation with the Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum (DBRF) 
which reviewed the draft document.

3.4. The Annual Report contains information on performance and targets in 
Section 5.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report relates to the Corporate Plan aims of ‘meeting the housing 
needs of the Borough and achieving self-reliant communities’ and 
‘increasing the percentage of both the private rented and public housing 
stock reaching the Decent Homes standard’.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None as a direct result of this report.  

Legal Implications None as a direct result of this report. 

Staffing Implications The report must be completed annually.

Administrative 
Implications

None as a direct result of this report. 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Housing Annual Report to Tenants and Leaseholders 
2015/2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tenant Services 
Authority- Introducing 
the new regulator for 
social housing

23 July 2009 Peter Dosad Housing 
Services
/Strategic

N/A

Housing and 
Regeneration Act 
2008 (Registration of 
Local Authorities) 
Order

22 October 2009 Jackie Pye Housing 
Services
/Strategic

N/A

A New Regulatory 
Framework for Social 
Housing in England

21 January 2010 Jackie Pye Housing 
services
/Strategic

N/A

Tenant services 
Authority Annual 
report to Tenants & 
leaseholders

28 October 2010 Jackie Pye Housing 
Services/S
trategic

N/A



APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 
TO TENANTS AND 
LEASEHOLDDERS 2011 

 



1 

 

CONTENTS 

Section  Page 
1 Foreword 2 
2 Introduction 3 
3 The Standards: 

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment 
Neighbourhood and Community 
Home and Tenancy 

 
3 
4 
5 
 

4 Value for Money 7 
5 Our Performance 8 
6 Additional Information 9 

 

If you or anybody you know requires this or any other council information in another 
language please contact us and we will do our best to provide this for you. Braille, 
Audio tape and large print versions of this document are available upon request.  

 

Tel: 01322 343434 

Fax: 01322 343432 

Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk 

Calls are welcome via NGT relay 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


2 

 

1. Foreword 

Welcome to our sixth annual housing report to tenants and leaseholders.   It has 
been developed following feedback from our tenants and from measuring our 
performance across a range of housing services and against local standards. 

The work we do with the Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum (DBRF) is invaluable in 
ensuring we continue to deliver housing services which make a difference to tenants 
and leaseholders. 

We have again done a lot of work over the last year to ensure that we met the 
targets in our action plan and we have continued to develop both our local standards 
and our core service standards. 

We hope that you enjoy reading this report and find it both interesting and 
informative.   

We remain committed to working with tenants across a range of services and to 
make continuous improvements. 

More information on the ways in which you can get involved can be found on page 8. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 

 

2. Introduction 

 

The regulatory framework first developed by the now dissolved Tenant Services 
Authority and continued by the Homes and Communities Agency has become a part 
of everyday life for tenants and the Council alike. 

This report explains what we have been working on over the last 12 months.  It 
shows you what we have achieved and details those areas where we still have work 
to do in order to meet our targets. 

The five national standards in the regulatory framework are: 

Standard Main Areas 
Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Customer service, choice and complaints 

Involvement and empowerment 
Diversity 

Neighbourhood and Community Neighbourhood Management 
Home Quality of accommodation 
Tenancy Allocations 

Tenure 
Value for Money Applies to all standards to show that the 

landlord is achieving value for money 
 

3. The Standards 

 

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment 

What have we done? 

• Held regular Resident’ Joint Liaison Group meetings with the Leader of the 
Council, Council Members and the DBRF)  

• Carried out resident satisfaction surveys as a matter of course and used 
feedback to address issues and improve the service we deliver 

• Informed you about events, services and council news by newsletters, 
website,  email and text 

• Sent you the Link newsletter 3 times in the last 12 months 



4 

 

• Sent information on request about how you can get involved in shaping the 
service 

• Let you know when estate inspections took place in your area and provided 
feedback through the Link and through the DBRF as a monitoring body on 
issues you raised 

• Provided performance information on our services to tenants and 
leaseholders on a regular basis in an easy to read, clear and standardised 
format 

• Consulted with you on major changes to our services and on new housing 
policies and procedures  

• Provided training to help develop residents’ skills, for example Assertiveness, 
Professional Boundaries, Effective Meetings, Minute Taking Skills, and 
provided speakers to DBRF meetings on a diverse range of topics including  
Universal Credit, Waste and Recycling etc.   

• Delivered a Kent-wide Tenants’ Conference in partnership with the Kent 
Engagement Group in November 2015 

• Awarded Community Grants to enhance the lives of local people by 
supporting events and activities including equipment for an internet café in a 
supported housing scheme and cultural awareness events.  

Our promises to you: 

We will: 

• Continue to hold regular Joint Liaison Group meetings 
• Continue to carry out resident satisfaction surveys to improve the service 
• Send you the Link newsletter during the year 
• Continue to inform you about events, services and Council news by a variety 

of methods, e.g. via the website, post, email or text 
• Continue to support appropriate residents’ groups and the DBRF by providing 

training and speakers to develop their skills and knowledge 
• Continue to work within the Kent Engagement Group to enable awareness of 

regional housing issues, and provide enhanced opportunities for training and 
networking via partnership working 

• Ensure our priorities reflect the wider corporate objectives of the Council 
• Continue to award Community Grants 

 
 
 
 
 
 



5 

 

Neighbourhood and Community 

What have we done? 

• Introduced a HERO (Housing Energy, Retraining, Options) service to support 
tenants claiming Universal Credit and assist in minimising welfare benefit, 
reform impacts and maximising tenant income.  

• Implemented the corporate Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Policy, adopted last 
year, using the new tools and powers included in the Anti-Social Behaviour 
Crime and Policing Act 2014  

• Adopted the Kent Police risk assessment approach to ensure that vulnerable 
victims of ASB are provided with the protection they need 

• Implemented a new labelling system/scheme to reduce health and safety risks 
in communal areas.  

• Reviewed the Estate Inspection Policy with the DBRF. This has led to a 
reduction in estate inspections thus freeing up resources to enable more 
targeted visits to areas where they are needed and a more focused approach 
to dealing with estate ASB and tenancy issues etc. 

• Carried out regular customer satisfaction surveys across the service including 
repairs, housing management, leasehold, Right to Buy and community centre 
administration.  

• Invested in energy efficiency works 
• Continued to provide a Handyman service 
• Explained the Government’s Pay to Stay Proposals to tenants who may be 

affected  
 

Our promises to you: 

We will: 

• Strive to ensure that the new homes we are building connect well with the 
local community and surrounding area 

• Continue to use and develop the ASB Policy and all available powers and 
tools for the benefit of residents across the Borough.  

• Continue using our new Caseworks software to survey tenants so we can 
improve the service  

• Carry out Homeless exit surveys to assess satisfaction with the service 
provided to homeless clients      

• Continue to analyse data from the ASB software to assess where underlying 
issues emerge, enabling us to work better with other Council teams and 
external agencies, such as Kent Police, for a more targeted response 



6 

 

• Continue to provide a HERO resource to tenants  

Home and Tenancy 

What have we done?  
• Obtained planning permission to deliver 86 new Council homes for rent.  The 

first development at Temple Hill Square (To be known as Hill View) is due for 
completion in April 2017. 

• Converted the Oast House in Swanscombe into 4 two bedroom flats 
• Invited the DBRF to attend contractor meetings to discuss performance levels 

and service improvements  
• Invested in excess of £6m into the housing stock in 2015/2016 for capital 

repairs including £1,000,000 for communal area improvements such as 
decorating, paving, communal lighting upgrades and roof replacement. 

• Delivered over 10,000 repairs to residents’ homes 
• Improved and re-let 242 properties 
• Maintained our good performance by reducing our re-let times from 20.06 

days in 2014/15 to 19.45 days in 2015/16 
• Delivered energy saving measures to over 800 privately owned and DBC 

properties through the Warmer Streets project 
• Introduced relaxation classes for our supported housing tenants 

 

Our promises to you: 

We will: 

• Strive to build new homes or convert buildings to create more council housing 
for local people 

• Deliver 6 new one bedroom flats on Temple Hill Square cash office site 
• Start construction of the Council’s new build development at Coleridge Road 

following the procurement of a suitable builder in 2017.  The development will 
provide 51 units of much needed affordable rented housing for local people  

• Provide new flooring in communal areas across all our supported housing 
schemes 

• Once again, invest in excess of £6m into the housing stock in 2016/17 for 
capital repairs including £1,000,000 for communal areas 

• Be part of the Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership 
• Continue to work with the DBRF and other Residents to improve maintenance 

services across the stock and ensure delivery is customer focussed 
• Strive to improve contract performance from the previous year in all key 

performance areas 



7 

 

• Complete a Customer Access Review on the repairs service and implement 
any necessary actions 

• Provide flexible tenancies for the majority of new tenants and keep them 
under review 

• Continue to review housing policies to ensure they are fit for purpose 
• Carry out a review of the Council’s Allocations’ Policy 
• Prepare and implement a new Homelessness Strategy 

 
 

4. Value for Money 

 

What we have done: 

• Introduced more efficient and effective ways of running services 
• Reduced repair costs by investing in the Council’s capital works programme 
• Reinvested income from our PV solar panel project back into the service 
• Ensured that the adaptations service achieves value for money 
• Used the text service to make savings when contacting residents about 

campaigns, events and services and to support the energy switching and rent 
arrears campaigns   

• Continued to create opportunities for local young people  as apprentices to 
assist in delivering the housing service; many of whom have gone on to full 
time employment 

• The HERO service achieved a significant number of back dated benefits with 
tenants also being assisted into work and given advice leading to energy 
savings  
 

Our promises to you: 

We will: 

• Continue to deliver energy efficiency and other measures that save you 
money 

• Monitor our performance and report it 
• Involve the DBRF in our decision making processes 
• Be responsive to our customers’ needs to improve the service 
• Strive to meet housing need for local people as efficiently as possible 
• Consult on the big issues with those that may be affected 



8 

 

• Continue to provide a HERO resource to tenants  

 

5. Our Performance 

 

The table below shows our performance across a range of services for 2015/2016.  It 
uses a symbol system which highlights if we are meeting our targets or if we need to 
make some improvements (see key below).  Some targets are for monitoring 
purposes only. 

     Status v’s 2013/14 
target Performance indicator Target 

2015/16 
2015/16 

Performance 
Target 

2016/17 

 Number of households on the housing register. Monitor only. 963 Monitor only. 

 No of households where homelessness prevented. Monitor only. 54 Monitor only. 

 No of households living in temporary accommodation. 25 88 25 

 % of repeat homelessness within 2 years 2% 1.2% 2% 

 
% of lettings made to households already residing 
within the Borough. 95% 93.38% 97% 

 
No of private sector vacant dwellings that are returned 
into occupation or demolished. 115 100 100 

 
No of service requests completed related to Private 
Sector Housing condition and advice. 240 282 250 

 % rents collected as a proportion of rents owed.  98.1% 97.67% 98.1% 

 Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery: Evictions. Monitor only. 13 Monitor only. 

 
% rent lost through local authority dwellings becoming 
vacant (voids). 0.60% 0.54% 0.60% 



9 

 

 

 

6. Additional information 

The housing service can be accessed in a variety of ways including visiting, phoning or 
writing to us, live chat, texting or by visiting our website at www.dartford.gov.uk 

If you would like any more information on documents mentioned in this report or any 
other information on the housing service or the regulatory framework please look on our 

 
Average time taken to re-let local authority housing 
voids (in calendar days). 21 19.45 20 

 Number of Voids re-serviced and re-let. Monitor only. 242 Monitor only. 

 % Urgent repairs completed on time. 98% 95.42% 98% 

 % Non- urgent repairs completed on time. 98% 91.91% 98% 

 % Emergency repairs completed on time. 100% 99.9% 100% 

 % non-decent council homes. 5% 4.5% 3% 

 No of non-decent homes. Monitor only. 193 Monitor only. 

 
Energy Efficiency of Housing Stock (SAP energy 
rating). 73 71.38 73 

 Number of affordable homes delivered. 100 103 120 

   
PI Status 

 
Alert 

 
Warning 

 
OK 

 
Monitor Only 

 

  

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


10 

 

website: www.dartford.gov.uk or contact us directly on 01322 343434 or look on the 
Homes and Communities Agency website at www.homesandcommunities.co.uk 

If you have any comments on the report or would like to get more involved with how 
housing services are delivered in Dartford 
email resident.involvement@dartford.gov.uk 

 

 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
http://www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/
mailto:resident.involvement@dartford.gov.uk




CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2016/17

1. Summary

1.1 To update Members on financial performance against the 2016/17 budget 
to date for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note that the overall level of spend and income for the year 
is expected to be within the parameters of the budget. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The revenue budgets for 2016/17 were approved by the Council on 22 
February 2016. This is the second of several monitoring reports which will be 
submitted throughout the year.   

3.2 Budget monitoring reports are submitted to Cabinet, in narrative form, 
concentrating on the key financial risks. The key risks account for a large part 
of the Council’s General Fund Budget. Appendix A gives a commentary on 
these areas and includes a short commentary on the Housing Revenue 
Account.

3.3 This report is based on information available up to the end of September and 
discussions with Spending Officers. It is too early in the year to be able to 
confidently predict the year-end outturn.

3.4 There are some areas where overspending has been identified, spending on 
temporary accommodation being the most significant at a possible overspend 
of £480,000. 

3.5 The risk based approach to monitoring tends to identify areas of concern at 
an early stage but cumulative instances of underspend are unlikely to be 
reported until the projected outturn position is identified in December or at 
year-end. 

3.6 Given positive to date figures on business rates, the overall level of spend 
and income for the year is expected to be within the budget envelope.

3.7 Further details are given in the attached commentary.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Regular monitoring and reporting of the Council’s financial position is key to 
maintaining a sound financial strategy.  This is an important element of the 
Council Performing Strongly theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Overall no significant budget concerns 
have been identified in the first six 
months of the financial year.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment Without effective monitoring, the risk of 

not being able to meet the Council’s 
objectives within the approved budget 
would increase, but regular budget 
monitoring and swift action to correct 
budget failures significantly reduces this 
risk.

6. Appendices

Appendix A - General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Commentary

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Budget 
Monitoring 
papers

Tim Sams
01322 343148

Financial Services/ 
Internal Services

N/A



Appendix A

    Commentary on main budget risks   

Investment Income    

The budget for interest for the year is set at £165,000. As at the 31 August 2016, just 
under £100,000 of interest had been received or is receivable from in-house investments 
yet to mature.  The council has also received £188,000 in external fund dividends.  

Staffing Vacancy Factor    

The vacancy savings budget of £125,000 has been exceeded as savings of £133,000 
have been achieved in the first half of the year.

Inflation Allowance on Contracts  

The allowance in the budget for inflation on major contracts is £80,000. The largest call 
on the allowance to date was for the refuse and cleansing contract and in total to date 
£14,260 of the allowance has been applied.

Civic Centre  

The KCC lease of Civic Centre accommodation ended in August 2016 and a three-month 
extension to mid-November 2016 was put in place. If the lease is not renewed there will 
be a loss of income of £25,000 in the current financial year, comprising £19,000 for 
building rental and support charges and £6,000 for staff parking (season tickets), and 
£68,000 in a full year, comprising £51,000 for building rental and support charges and 
£17,000 for staff parking. 

Revenues and Benefits 

The Council has used an external service to identify additional NNDR income for the 
council. This is an initial outlay from the service area, but results in an increase in ongoing 
NNDR income which will be realised in future years. As at the end of September, the cost 
incurred is £24,423.  The Council has received the 2016/17 grant from the DCLG for 
council tax support administration and at £111,473, this is £12,000 higher than budget.  
This can be used to partly offset the cost of the external service.  The balance can be met 
from other increased income within the service.

Fraud

All major precept authorities and councils in Kent have agreed to share responsibilities to 
minimise Council Tax and Business Rate fraud and maximise the collectable tax base 
and the tax collected. Under the partnership arrangement with Sevenoaks District Council 
a three year funding agreement has been entered into with the Preceptors. A grant for 
£92,988 will be paid, allocated on a fifty percent share between the two councils for the 
three year term of the agreement. However, funding for years two and three are subject 
to achieving additional Council Tax and business rates yield to the Preceptors of 200% or 
more of the grant paid in each year. Mid-year reviews will be conducted in October of 
each year



Appendix A

Fairfield Pool  

The final agreement with the management company at Fairfield Pool provides for the 
surplus annual payments to the Council to commence from 2017/18. These payments are 
calculated annually but will be paid monthly. It was initially anticipated that the income 
flow would start March 2017 and £35,000 was included within the 2016/17 budget 
accordingly. During the contract agreement process it was agreed to keep payments 
within financial years, whilst keeping the total income to the council the same over the 
contract. Therefore, as monthly payments will not commence until April 2017, this budget 
will not be met.

Additionally, the agreement provides for a one-off contribution of £18,000 for NNDR to 
assist with year 1 running costs.  NNDR costs were unknown at the tendering stage by 
both parties. Part of the cost of this contribution can potentially be met from the current 
budget.  Funding will need to be identified for the balance.  

Corporate Land and Properties Income  

The Corporate Land and Properties current income budget for rents and service charges 
for 2016/17 is £719,710. This income budget should be achieved.

Benefits 

The budget for total expenditure on benefits is £28m. Expenditure is currently close to the 
budget. The Council is reimbursed most of this expenditure by Government grant and 
also receives income from the recovery of overpaid housing benefit. 

The 2015/16 grant claim is currently being audited and it is possible for audit adjustments 
to be made to the claim which would affect the budgetary position in the current year. 

The net budget is £50,000. It is likely that the budget will not be required and that good 
overpayment recovery will result in a surplus position. It is too early to judge the size of 
the surplus.

Land Charges Income  

The budget for land charges income for 2016/17 is £80,000. The actual to the end of 
September is £62,777, which is just £23,000 higher than anticipated and it is £15,000 
higher than in the first half year in 2015/16. The number and search types have varied 
between the two years: in the first half year in 2015/16, 512 full searches were 
undertaken against 454 in the current financial year while the number of personal 
searches are similar at 1084 in 2015/16 and 1044 in 2016/17.  The fees for full searches 
were increased to offset against an anticipated reduction in numbers.
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
It is anticipated that the income budget of £80,000 will be achieved. 



Appendix A

The position to the end of September is shown in the following table:

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £80,000
Profile to Month 6 £40,000

£47,558 Actual to Period 6 £62,777
£90,545 Outturn

Special Events   

The net budget for the festival is £85,470. As previously reported, the procurement for the 
delivery of the 2016 festival identified a likely net budget overspend of £25,000. Final 
expenditure was higher than anticipated but the festival income of £44,000, which is 
mainly from sponsorship and concessions, exceeded the target budget by £4,000, slightly 
reducing the net overspend to £24,000. 

Acacia  

The Acacia budget is being carefully managed and monitored by officers.  Expenditure is 
kept to essential only while looking to maximise income from casual hires. The cost of 
running the site is supported by a budgeted contribution from reserves. Many costs have 
been reduced, particularly utility and repairs and maintenance of buildings which should 
decrease the use of the reserve. Separate rating assessments are being obtained for the 
various buildings on the site, which will allow the Council to more readily arrange for the 
individual buildings to be taken out of rating as work on the site commences.

In July, the library was temporarily relocated into the sports centre. This will be for four 
months while the library site is refurbished.  Costs, as appropriate will be recovered from 
Kent County Council.

Waste and Parks Management  

The garden waste service may carry an overspend this year of £25,000.  A new fixed rate 
was negotiated on the basis that, following a publicity campaign, the number of 
customers would increase and thereby increase income to the authority.  However, 
following resourcing issues, the promotion of the service has been significantly delayed 
which will defer increasing the income levels to later this financial year or to next year.

Illegal dumping has continued to be a budget issue this year, with £39,000 already having 
been spent against the £10,000 budget.  Of particular note is land off Bob Dunn Way and 
the Stone Lodge site.

There will be a loss of income of £11,000 due to the surrender of a lease at Central Park.  

Cemeteries Income  

Cemeteries income to the end of September is close to last year’s income for the same 
period and to the profiled budget for this year. The 2016/17 income budget is likely to be 
achieved.



Appendix A

The table below shows the position to the end of September.

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £195,000
Profile to Month 6 £97,500

£96,554 Actual to Period 6 £94,411
£204,890 Outturn

Licensing

General licensing income as at the end of September is broadly similar to last year’s 
income for the same period and it is £5,000 higher than the mid-year income target. The 
majority of the income is received from September onwards when the Gambling Act 2005 
and Licensing Act 2003 annual fees are due.  

Vehicle licensing income receipts are £38,405 as the end of September, £8,000 higher 
than the anticipated income budget for the period.  Receipts are also £4,000 up on last 
year.

Overall income is £13,000 ahead of the anticipated position as at the end of September 
2016 and £3,000 higher than September 2015.  It is likely that the income budget will be 
achieved.

The following table gives the position as at the end of September:

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £144,400
Profile to Month 6 £47,360

£57,224 Actual to Period 6 £60,208
£150,326 Outturn

Car Parks Income 

The two tables below show the position as at 30 September for car parking fees and 
charges and fines and costs (PCN) income. Fees and charges are ahead of the expected 
income by £24,000 and are ahead of last year’s receipts as at the same period by 
£17,000. There is a possible loss of season ticket income of £6,000 should KCC relocate 
form the civic centre; however, the fees and charges income budget is likely to be 
achieved. The income budget for fines and costs is unlikely to be achieved as income is 
£39,000 lower than expected for the first six months of the year.  It is also £3,000 lower 
than the same period last year. Ultimately, the aim of the Civil Enforcement Officer 
service is to positively influence driver behaviour and this is reflected in improved 
compliance but has resulted in a drop in revenue from fines.  

At this stage in the financial year it is difficult to predict the outturn for fines and costs. The 
final year-end position will also be dependent upon any change in the level of provision 
made for unpaid debts as at 31 March 2017 compared to the previous financial year. 



Appendix A

Fees & Charges 

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £542,920
Profile to Month 6 £271,460

£278,415 Actual to Period 6 £295,840
£570,926 Outturn

Fines & Costs

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £313,240
Profile to Month 6 £156,620

£120,003 Actual to Period 6 £117,153
£266,756 Outturn

Dartford Markets  

The following table shows the position for market income as at the end of September. 
Market receipts are under their target budget for the first half year by £6,000, and 
potentially the income budget may not be achieved.  Receipts will also be affected by 
inclement weather, particularly in the latter half of the year. It is anticipated that the 
continued trialling of promotions at One Bell Corner will generate both interest and 
income. 

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £243,100
Profile to Month 6 £121,550

£121,131 Actual to Period 6 £115,463
£232,508 Outturn

Planning Income  

Planning fee income has performed well in the first six months of the financial year. Just 
over 73% of the annual budgeted income has been received as at the end of September.  
There have been four particularly large receipts in excess of £20,000.  Comparative 
income with 2015/16 has dropped slightly, reflecting the fact that applications in the EDC 
area are now dealt with by the EDC.  This has been allowed for in the budget.  
Nonetheless, taking this into account, income has fared better than expected.



Appendix A

The table below gives the position as at the end of September. 

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £446,840
Profile to Month 6 £223,420

£386,627 Actual to Period 6 £329,223
£593,420 Outturn

522 No. of Receipts to period 6 519
21 No. of Receipts > £1K 23

£300,036 Value of Receipts > £1K £220,928

Building Control   

The total of in-year receipts is £98,000 - higher than in the same period last financial year, 
largely due to one significantly large receipt of £85,752 in respect of a major development 
in the borough. The outturn for the year depends on the number of jobs that become 
ready for inspection as receipts are received in advance of the inspections being carried 
out.

It is too early to determine if the income budget will be achieved.

The following table shows the position at 30 September.

2015/16 2016/17
Current Budget £284,000
Profile to Month 6 £142,000

£128,382 In Year Receipts to Period 6 £226,490
£230,395 Outturn

356 No of Receipts to Period 6 404

Temporary Accommodation 

Expenditure on housing homeless clients continues to be an increasing pressure point in 
the budget. The Council purchased 18,447 nights in nightly paid accommodation to the 
end of September and 13,260 nights in leased accommodation, compared with 9,481 and 
14,252 at the same point in 2015. It can be seen that the number of nightly paid 
placements is running at almost twice the already high level of a year ago.

The Housing Department is actively pursuing a number of strategies to help bring the 
issue under control and the situation will be closely monitored; however, due to the 
demand-led and statutory nature of the service, an overspend of £480,000 is to be 
expected, (£200,000 worse than last year) if rates stay at the current level for the rest of 
the financial year.

Business Rates Income

The budget provided for estimated business rates income of £3,100,000. 



Appendix A

Without factoring in pooling, retained income accounted for in year, is currently 
anticipated to be £3,450,000. This level of income is supported by current in year 
monitoring. This Income will be received in the general fund this year but any drop will 
result in a deficit to be paid back to the fund in future years.

The council will need to pay a significant deficit contribution to the collection fund in 
relation to past years, however this can be funded by the specific Business Rate Reserve.

The Kent Business Rates Pool should provide additional gains in income as rather than 
paying a levy of around £1m as would have been the case in previous years, the levy 
would reduce to around £0.2m. The pool enables the Council to retain 30% of this 
difference as well as keeping 30% for specific growth fund initiatives.  The size of the 
additional retained income depends upon the performance of the pool so it is too early to 
predict a figure. 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT   

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) carried forward a balance of just under £11.7m 
from 2015/16.

A few underspends have been identified and these are discussed in more detail below. 

Employees – an underspend of just over £50,000 has accumulated to date, mainly due to 
staff vacancies.

Expenditure on both Planned and Responsive Repairs is lower than profiled at present, 
with approximately a third of the budget spent at the year’s mid-point. This is not 
unexpected on the Responsive Repairs budget as there tend to be more repairs in the 
winter months. On the Planned Maintenance variances, the Housing Maintenance 
Manager has reported that most of the budgets showing underspends are committed and 
he expects to achieve the full expenditure. There are underspends on Legionella Control 
and Asbestos Management; new contractors are being sought for both areas of work. 

Supporting People – income in excess of the budget is currently being received from Kent 
County Council; it was expected that this grant was to be reduced but it had continued at 
the former level. 

Open Spaces – an underspend of around £10,000 is expected on the grass cutting 
contract due to some beneficial contractual changes. An underspend of £20,000 is also 
expected on Playground Maintenance.

Income of £60,800 has been received from the feed-in tariff for solar energy, which is 
£11,000 up on the budget to date.

There are a number of significant challenges ahead for the HRA. This year has seen the 
introduction of the first of (at least) four years of year on year rent reductions. The 
government has not yet released details of its policies for selling off “high value” council 
housing, nor do we know the detail of the high-income tenants’ policy, however both are 
likely to have some impact.



Appendix A

It should also be noted that provision will need to be made for the £5 million maturity 
payment on the HRA debt, due in 2022, which is in addition to the budgeted principal of 
£4.4m per annum.

Overall, the HRA is anticipated to remain in surplus and to contribute its budgeted 
contribution of just under £8m, via the Major Repairs Reserve and Revenue Contribution, 
towards the HRA capital programme.  However, in view of the pressures mentioned 
above, the HRA will be closely monitored and Business Plan regularly updated, with 
Cabinet being informed of any significant variances.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2016/2017

1. Summary

1.1 To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects which make up the 
approved Capital Budget and to report the latest position on capital resources.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2016/17 Capital Programme.

2.2. That Cabinet notes the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, as 
shown in Appendix C.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The original budget for 2016/17 was approved by the Council on 22 
February 2016 at £11.857m.  This was subsequently amended by Cabinet 
on 28 July 2016; the capital budget currently stands at £12.506m.

3.2. Attached as Appendices A and B to this report are details of the Capital 
Programme and budget for 2016/17. These detail the resources available 
for Housing and General Fund projects respectively, and the expenditure to 
the end of September 2016. Appendix C shows an updated position on the 
Council’s Capital Prudential Indicators. 

3.3 Housing Revenue Account projects
The budget approved by GAC on 22 February 2016 was £8.78m and was 
subsequently revised to £8.84m in July, to allow for a Retrofit programme.

Appendix A shows the financial position for each scheme as at the end of 
September 2016. 

Most work programmes are progressing to plan, with the exception of the 
planned improvements to Communal Areas, where an underspend is 
expected. This has been caused by a contractor withdrawing early into the 
contract period, which has meant that the Council has had to re-tender the 
works.

New Build Housing: The scheme at Hill View is well underway, providing 
25 mainly two and three bedroomed homes, with an estimated handover 
from the builder to the Council for letting to Dartford residents in April 2017. 
The project is expected to be delivered on time and on budget. 

Two further projects are in the pipeline for this financial year, as follows:



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

 2a Temple Hill Square –the former cash office - provision of six units - 
currently out to tender with works due to start on site final quarter of 
2016/17.

 Coleridge Rd & Shaftesbury Avenue - provision of 51 units - Hoarding 
being erected shortly with archaeological & ecology survey, and 
associated works, to be completed before the end of 2016. 
Construction contract currently out to tender and it is anticipated that a 
report appointing the successful contractor will be presented to Cabinet 
in December 2016. Construction works due to start on site during the 
final quarter of 2016/17.

Expenditure on New Build Housing is funded in the ratio of 30:70 by 
retained capital receipts (which would otherwise have had to be paid over to 
central government). The scheme is the subject of a complex and inflexible 
agreement, whereby the Council must spend to agreed limits each quarter 
(driven by the amount of capital receipts it retained three years earlier) or 
face repayment of the underspent amount, plus interest. It is not always 
easy to match the expenditure incurred with the target sum. At the end of 
September, a small underspend had occurred, and it is likely that this will 
have to be repaid, although officers are currently looking into ways to 
mitigate this, including writing to the CLG to request that the underspend be 
discounted as it is a residual effect of the archaeological delay we 
encountered late last year. 

HRA Backlog: in addition to the schemes listed in Appendix A, the Housing 
Maintenance Manager estimates that there is a backlog of £3.455m in 
capital repairs; this has accumulated over time, and is mainly due to tenants 
refusing programmed works, such as new kitchens, perhaps due to the 
disruption they cause. Outstanding works will be undertaken when the 
property becomes void.

3.4 General Fund projects: 
The budget approved by GAC on 22 February 2016 was £3.077m and was 
subsequently revised to £3.671 in July. Most schemes are progressing 
satisfactorily. Some project specific updates are included below:

Green Deal: 
The consultation and implementation phase of this project has now closed 
with just a few remaining issues remaining to be finalised. The project now 
goes into a monitoring, measurement & evaluation phase which looks to 
measure the environmental impact of the measures installed into the 
property and provide vital intelligence & information that will measure the 
success of the Warmer Streets programme and inform future ones. This 
final phase will last into the new year at which point the final report will be 
submitted to DBEIS (formerly DECC).



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

The Warmer Streets project has installed over 1100 individual energy 
efficiency measures to more than 880 properties in the borough, 
approximately half of which were external wall insulation installations.

Customer satisfaction levels are high and, of the 23 projects that were 
commissioned up and down the country, the Dartford project has delivered 
the 3rd highest number of installations (those projects in 1st & 2nd places 
were in large metropolitan areas).

Acacia – design and consultancy work is ongoing for this site, as well as the 
refurbishing of the Coach House. A separate, future, report to Cabinet will 
set out the detail of the scheme and seek approval to proceed. Apart from 
the Coach House, only fee expenditure is likely to be incurred this year. 
Work on the main scheme is likely to commence in August 2017.

Corporate Properties – issues to the access road to Claywood Lane 
Caravan Site have been identified. The road has a number of potholes, is 
becoming dangerous to navigate, and may cause damage to vehicles. It has 
been confirmed that the road belongs to the Council. Rectification of the 
issues has an estimated cost of £20,000, which is being charged against the 
Corporate Properties budget, and will take up most of its £30,000 budget. 
To date, no other works have been charged against the corporate properties 
budget, but there may be a need to increase this budget later in the year 
should defects be discovered elsewhere in the Council’s property portfolio.

Pedestrian Bridge – the current Capital Programme includes £100,000 for 
the provision of a pedestrian and cycle bridge for the town’s Northern 
Gateway. There is a separate report on this agenda which gives an update 
on this scheme. So far, only a feasibility study has been done and it may be, 
at year end, that this expenditure is deemed to be of a revenue nature; 
however, this will not free up any resources to be used on other capital 
schemes as the scheme was funded by a specific S106 contribution.

Town Centre Heritage Initiative – the Council is in discussion with two 
more interested parties, and also with the Heritage Lottery Fund in respect 
of funding and timescales. No expenditure has been incurred this year to 
date.

Wayfinding: following on from the success of the largely Kent County 
Council funded project that was completed last year, a further phase has 
been proposed. Funding of between £70-80,000 has been offered (details to 
be confirmed). The new scheme will extend the range of the striking new 
signage to a slightly wider radius around the town centre, to include Central 
Park, East and North Dartford. The scheme will be fully financed by the 
grants.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

3.6 Resources
Usable receipts brought forward into 2016/17 totalled £4.989m, of which 
£0.225m are unrestricted receipts that can be used for any capital scheme, 
£0.246m are restricted to schemes delivering affordable housing or 
regeneration objectives, and £4.5m are restricted to the provision of new 
social housing (141 receipts). 

The 141 receipts must be used on the provision of new social housing, 
within three years of the receipt, and match-funded in the ratio of 30:70 by 
other funding. 

Right to buy receipts of £1.647m have been received relating to fourteen 
sales in the first six months of this financial year. Of this sum, an estimated 
£440,000 will be retained by the Council for general use. 

Other capital receipts of £1.390m have been received: £1.053m from the 
onward sale of discounted housing at The Bridge, £0.306m from the sale of 
Plot 3 also at The Bridge, as well as £0.030m from two more minor receipts. 

There is currently a small shortfall in funding for capital - of £0.255m in the 
General Fund programme. Given the pattern of receipts to date, it is likely 
that this shortfall can be met from forthcoming new capital receipts, although 
the Council can also opt to fund it from reserves, curtail expenditure, or 
borrow. 

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The capital programme covers many individual projects and will contribute to 
meeting many of the objectives in the Corporate Plan.

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As discussed in the report.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment There is a small risk of committed schemes 

needing to be curtailed due to lack of capital 
finance; this risk is mitigated by regular and 
sound budget monitoring and reporting. 

6 Appendices

Appendix A Capital Budget - Planned Expenditure & Resources - Housing 
Revenue Account Projects 2016/17.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Appendix B Capital Budget - Planned Expenditure & Resources – General 
Fund Projects 2016/17.

Appendix C – Capital Prudential Indicators

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Helen Griffith
01322 343375

Financial Services
Internal Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

CAPITAL BUDGET - PLANNED EXPENDITURE & RESOURCES

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2016/2017
CURRENT EXPENDITURE

BUDGET TO DATE
2016/2017 2016/2017

£'000s £'000s

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS

Approved Schemes:

Disabled Adaptations 250 154

New-build Housing 2,180 1315

Decent Homes Works:

  Central Heating 737 296

  Rewiring 828 221

  Asbestos Removal 75 46

  Rising Main replacement 50 3

  Replacement Doors 25 24

  Kitchens and Bathrooms 937 266

  Fascia/Soffit replacements 246 155

  Roof/Chimney Renewal 2,028 346

  Water Storage/Mains Supply 50 0

  Communal Areas 1,080 121

  Retrofix programme 55 52

  Handyman Van 19 10

  Ames Road Sinkhole 125 0

  Major/Structural Repairs 150 29

Total 8,835 3,038

Resources

Brought
Forward

Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

Usable Receipts (restricted) 225 0 (225) 0

Major Repairs Reserve 0 2,400 (2,400) 0

Revenue Contribution 0 5,556 (5,556) 0

1-4-1 Receipts 4,519 1,000 (654) 4,865
4,744 8,956 (8,835) 4,865



APPENDIX B

CAPITAL BUDGET  - PLANNED EXPENDITURE & RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND 2016/2017

CURRENT EXPENDITURE
BUDGET TO DATE

2016/2017 2016/2017
£'000s £'000s

Acacia 1,497 54
IT Equipment 107 44
The Orchard Theatre 50 0
Other Corporate Property 30 0
Town Centre Heritage Scheme 200 0
Community Facilities 55 0
Central Park 13 7
Green Deal 831 677
Pedestrian Bridge 100 0
Stone Lodge 100 0
Princes Park - Pitch 200 6
Housing Projects:
Disabled Facilities Grants 469 100
Private Sector Renewal 19 0
Total General Fund Projects 3,671 888

Resources 

2016/17
Brought
Forward

Additions
in year

Used to Fund

Capital
Expenditure

Balance
carried
forward

Usable Receipts 246 1,828 (2,074) 0
Grants & Contributions 1,513 381 (1,342) 552
Potential Capital Receipts/Use of Reserves 0 255 (255) 0

1,759 2,464 (3,671) 552



APPENDIX C 

1

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016/17

Prudential Indicators 2016/17

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 
The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that the 
capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that 
treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Authority has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the 
following indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure: The Authority’s capital expenditure and financing may 
be summarised as follows.  

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

2015/16 
Actual

£m

2016/17 
Estimate

£m

2017/18
Estimate

£m

2018/19
Estimate

£m

General Fund 14.021 3.671 5.406 0.512

HRA 8.725 8.835 11.180 9.900

Total Expenditure 22.746 12.506 16.586 10.412

Capital Receipts 12.961 2.953 1.874 1.490

Government Grants 2.952 1.342 0.356 0.258

Reserves* 2.959 2.655 6.950 2.400

Revenue 3.874 5.556 7.406 6.264

Total Financing 22.746 12.506 16.586 10.412
*if sufficient capital receipts do not arise, expenditure may be curtailed or be funded from reserves and/or borrowing.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement

31.03.16 
Actual

£m

31.03.17 
Estimate

£m

31.03.18
Estimate

£m

31.03.19
Estimate

£m

General Fund 3.831 3.831 3.831 3.831

HRA 66.500 62.057 57.644 53.244

Total CFR 70.331 65.888 61.445 57.075

The CFR is forecast to fall by £8.886m over the next two years as capital expenditure financed by 
debt is outweighed by resources put aside for debt repayment.



APPENDIX C 

2

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that, over the medium 
term, debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Authority should ensure that debt does not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. 
This is a key indicator of prudence.

Debt
31.03.16
Actual

£m

31.03.17
Estimate

£m

31.03.18
Estimate

£m

31.03.19
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 69.179 64.736 60.292 55.849

Total Debt 69.179 64.736 60.292 55.849

Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast period.  

Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based on the Authority’s 
estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for external debt. It links directly to 
the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements, and is a key management tool for in-year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities 
comprise finance leases and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of the Authority’s 
debt. The level set includes an allowance for the possibility of significant payments due to successful 
business rate appeals.

Operational Boundary 2015/16 
£m

2016/17 
£m

2017/18 
£m

2018/19
£m

Borrowing 100 100 100 100

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0

Total Debt 100 100 100 100

The authority confirms that the Operational Boundary has not been breached during 2016/17.

Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing limit determined 
in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003.  It is the maximum amount of debt that the 
Authority can legally owe.  The authorised limit provides headroom over and above the operational 
boundary for unusual cash movements.

Authorised Limit 2015/16 
£m

2016/17 
£m

2017/18 
£m

2018/19 
£m

Borrowing 120 120 120 120

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0

Total Debt 120 120 120 120

Total debt as at 30/9/16 was £66.957m

The authority confirms that the Authorised Limit has not been breached during 2016/17.



APPENDIX C 

3

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream: This is an indicator of affordability and highlights 
the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of 
the revenue budget required to meet financing costs, net of investment income.

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream

2016/17 
Estimate

%

2017/18 
Estimate

%

2018/19 
Estimate

%

General Fund -3.91 -1.61 -1.61

HRA 7.61 7.32 6.91

The General Fund ratio is negative because revenues exceed financing costs. 

Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions: This is an indicator of affordability that shows 
the impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax and housing rent levels. The incremental 
impact is the difference between the total revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital 
programme and the revenue budget requirement arising from it. 

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

2016/17 
Estimate

£

2017/18 
Estimate

£

2018/19 
Estimate

£
General Fund - increase in annual 
band D Council Tax 0.29 0.75 0.04

HRA - increase in average weekly 
rents (if applicable)* 0 0 0

*Not applicable in the HRA as the rents are set according to the government guidelines, which are 
not impacted upon by capital expenditure levels.

Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code: The Authority adopted the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
2011 Edition at its annual budget-setting meeting on 27 February 2012.





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2016/2017

1. Summary

1.1     To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the Council’s internally
           and externally managed funds to 30 September 2016.

1.2 To update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 September 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1     That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s funds. 

2.2      That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury Indicators.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management Code recommends that members are informed of 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year. This report 
therefore ensures this authority is embracing Best Practice in 
accordance with CIPFA’s recommendations. 

3.2. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/2017 was 
approved by GAC on 22 February 2016.

3.3. The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money 
and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested 
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  This report 
covers treasury activity and the associated monitoring and control of 
risk.

3.4. The Council became indebted on 28 March 2012 following the 
introduction of the Housing Self Financing regime. The Council 
originally borrowed £86.953m from the PWLB; in total seven loans 
were borrowed at an average weighted interest rate of 2.4% and 
average weighted duration of 19.62 years. The debt stands at 
£66.957m as at 30 September 2016. The details of the individual loans 
can be found at paragraph 3.12.

3.5. As at 30 September, the Council’s investments totalled £90.96m, 
£53.32m of which was managed by external fund managers; the 
internally invested funds comprised £5m in certificates of deposit, 
£1.02m covered bond, £2m floating rate note, £6m in fixed term deals 
and £23.62m invested overnight in deposit accounts and money 
market funds.

3.6. A large range of financial instruments are now in regular use, however 
the returns available, whilst holding security and liquidity as the prime 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

considerations, are low and have been falling since the drop in the 
bank of England base rate in August 2016. 

3.7. Investment Activity

In House Investments

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income 
received payable to others (e.g. Council tax payable to major 
preceptors, as well as income in advance of expenditure plus balances 
and reserves held.  Cashflow forecasts indicated that during 2016/17 
the Council’s investment balances would range between £76m and 
£93m

The Guidance on Local Government Investments in England gives 
priority to security and liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a 
yield commensurate with these principles.

The transposition of EU directives into UK legislation places the burden 
of rescuing failing EU banks disproportionately onto unsecured local 
authority investors through potential bail-in of unsecured bank deposits 
including certificates of deposit.  Given the increased risk of unsecured 
bank investments, the Council has diversified its investments further by 
investing in two new pooled funds and investing further in pooled funds 
already held.  This represents a continuation of the strategy adopted in 
2015/16.  The Council has also sought to invest, where practicable, in 
“covered” investments with high-quality banks which are investments 
secured against a pool of assets.  

The first table below shows the change in investments since the start of 
this financial year, whilst the second table details each in house 
investment and shows its maturity date.

Balance on 
31/03/2016

£m

Balance on 
30/09/2016  

£m

Increase/
Decrease in 
Investments

£m

Comments 

Overnight Investments 17.34 23.62 6.28
Short Term Investments 16.01 14.02 (1.99)
Total in-house funds 
invested

33.35 37.64 4.29

Investments in Pooled 
Funds

41.44 53.32 11.88 Market 
valuation, 
includes £11m 
of new 
investments

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 74.79 90.96 16.17



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Details of in house investments
Start Date Institution Investment

£m
Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate

Overnight Investments ¹
Santander UK plc 5.00 n/a 0.40% 
Barclays Bank plc  1.50 n/a ³0.20%
Blackrock (MMF) 2.12 n/a 0.28%
Insight (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.33%
Standard Life (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.37%
Invesco (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.37%

Sub total: Overnight Investments 23.62
Short Term Investments
13/07/2016 Lloyds Bank 3.00 13/10/2016 0.65%
15/07/2016 Nationwide BS 2.00 15/10/2016 0.39%
01/06/2016 Nationwide BS 1.00 01/12/2016 0.71%
05/07/2016 CD ²-Svenska 

Handelsbanken
1.00

05/10/2016
0.50%

18/05/2016 Bank of Scotland Covered 
Bond

1.02 08/11/2016 0.80%

05/09/2016 National Australia Bank 
Floating Rate Note

2.00 14/11/2016 0.35%

03/06/2016 CD-Rabobank 3.00 05/12/2016 0.65%
18/03/2016 CD-Toronto Dominion 1.00 16/12/2016 0.74%
Sub-total: Short Term Investments 14.02

Total in-house funds invested 37.64

¹ All overnight investments are liquid, in that there is no period of notice 
required, the only restriction is there are specified cut off times during 
the day after which the funds will not be received until the next working 
day. The interest rate quoted for the Money Market Funds (MMF) are 
for the 30th September 2016, rates for MMF are quoted daily after the 
close of business.

² CD is a Certificate of Deposit. There is a secondary market for these 
instruments which means they can be sold should the funds be 
required.  These are held on behalf of the Council by King and 
Shaxson’s dealing and custody arrangements.

³ This is the higher rate of interest which will only apply until December 
2016 after which time the rate will reduce to 0.00%. 

3.8 The Council’s treasury advisers (Arlingclose) monitor counterparty 
credit quality constantly and forward details of all changes immediately. 
Arlingclose also provide monthly comprehensive updates as to 
counterparty credit but it always remains the responsibility of the 
Council to decide whether or not to use their advice. As part of his 
delegated authority, the Managing Director decides whether to include 
or exclude an institution and whether to restrict the amount or 
timescale of an investment to an institution.  During the first 6 months 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

of 2016/17, the Council has removed Standard Chartered Bank from its 
lending list and more recently Deutsche Bank AG.  

3.9 Since the start of 2016/17, cash flow balances have been high.  
Despite a waterfall payment to Prologis in April of just over £4.5m, April 
cash flow balances were particularly high due to the influx of NNDR 
and council tax payments but with no payments due to the DCLG.  In 
May, balances reduced as two instalments had to be made to DCLG 
for business rates but soon rose again during June and July.  In July 
the Council completed, in accordance with the development agreement 
with Prologis, the sale of plot 3 at the Bridge development site with 
Motorline which resulted in a receipt of £3.43m.  Capital spend against 
budget has been lower than would have been expected at this point in 
the year.

3.10 All investments since 31st March 2016 complied with the Council’s 
strategy approved by Council on 22nd February 2016.  There have 
been no breaches.

3.11 Externally Managed Funds

The total value of the externally managed funds was £53.32m as at 
30th September 2016, this represents an unrealised capital gain of 
£0.88m since 31st March 2016.  

The Council has investments in cash plus, bond, equity income, multi-
asset and property funds which allow the Council to diversify into asset 
classes other than cash without the need to manage and own the 
underlying investments.  The funds which are operated on a variable 
net asset value (VNAV) basis offer diversification of investment risk, 
coupled with the service of a professional fund manager; they also offer 
enhanced returns over the longer term but are more volatile in the short 
term.  

The following investments have been made in the pooled funds since 
31st March 2016:

 £1m invested in the Threadneedle UK Equity Income Fund in 
April 2016.

 Switch of holdings from the Royal London Cash Plus Fund 
(accumulation shares) into the Royal London Enhanced Cash 
Plus Fund (income distribution shares) in April 2016.

 £1.5m additional investment made in the Royal London 
Enhanced Cash Plus fund (income distribution shares) in July 
2016.

 £2m additional investment in the Investec Diversified Income 
Fund in July 2016

 Switch of £2m from the Investec Short Dated Bond Fund into the 
Investec Diversified Income Fund in July 2016.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

 £1.5m invested in the Payden & Rygel Absolute Return Bond 
Fund (income distribution class) in July 2016

 £1.5m invested in the Payden & Rygel Sterling Reserve Fund in 
July 2016. 

 £2m invested in the Threadneedle UK Short Dated Corporate 
Bond Fund in September 2016

The Aberdeen Absolute Return Bond Fund has not performed as would 
have been expected and the Council will keep under review dis-
investing once the unit value returns to initial investment levels.

There was a fall in the unit value of equity and bond funds in the 
immediate aftermath of the EU referendum result in June but this was 
reversed very shortly thereafter.  The value of the external funds as at 
30th September 2016 and the change in value since 31st March 2016 is 
shown in Appendix A.  

The Council has switched a number of its holdings from accumulation 
shares to income shares which means the Council now receives 
dividend payments for these investments.  Dividends received up to 
30th September 2016 are shown in Appendix A.

3.12 Borrowing

The Council borrowed £86.95m to fund the Housing Self Financing 
settlement on 28th March 2012. At the time of borrowing, it was 
possible to set the instalment dates to suit the Council’s cash flow. 1st 
February and 1st August were chosen. The table below shows the 
current position of outstanding debt of £66.96m.

Loan 
Type

Maturity 
Date

Years 
to 

Maturity

Principal 
Borrowed 
(28/03/12)

£m

Principal 
Outstanding 

(30/09/16)
 £m

Interest 
Rate %

Semi-
annual 

repayment
£m

Maturity 01/02/2022
          

5.35              5.00            5.00 2.40%

EIP 01/02/2039     22.35          18.00           15.00 2.90% 0.33

EIP 01/02/2026 9.35                  9.00            6.11 1.82% 0.32

EIP 01/02/2022
       

5.35              9.00            4.95 1.31% 0.45

EIP 01/02/2032
     

15.35            26.95           20.89 2.44% 0.68

EIP 01/02/2037
     

20.35              9.00            7.38 2.79% 0.18

EIP 01/02/2031
     

14.35            10.00            7.63 2.35% 0.26

  15.32                86.95 66.96 2.41% 2.22



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

There has been no overnight/short term borrowing since 1st April 2016.

Should it be required to borrow new loans, the Council has been 
eligible to apply for new loans from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB) at the PWLB Certainty Rate (0.2% below the PWLB standard 
rate).   This eligibility is for a 12 month period from 1st November 2015.  
A regular review will take place in respect of redemptions for each loan.  
The Council will consider the merits of early redemption if gilt yields 
and, consequently PWLB redemption rates, rise to a level which could 
lead to a financial advantage in respect of early redemption of the 
loans. Any benefits of early redemption will be weighed against the 
ongoing requirements of the HRA business plan and its future funding 
needs. 

3.13 Projected Outturn for 2016/2017
The average interest rate achieved on internal investments is 0.50% for 
the financial year to date.  As at 30th September 2016, £0.07m of 
interest had been received from internal fund investments.  There is a 
further £0.04m of accrued interest on internal investments already 
made.  

It should be noted that with the cut in the Bank Rate in August 2016 to 
0.25% and expectations of a further cut by the Bank of England, rates 
on call accounts and new short-dated deposits and CDs with banks 
and deposits have fallen. The average interest rate on internal 
investments during the second half of 2016-2017 is expected to be 
commensurately lower.

The Council has switched a number of the external pooled funds from 
the accumulation share class to the income distribution share class, 
this means that dividends are now received.  To date, the Council has 
received £0.22m of dividend payments.  

The budget of £0.17m has therefore already been exceeded.

3.14 Treasury Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Treasury 
Indicators for 2016/17, which were set in the budget report to the 
General Assembly of the Council on 22 February 2016 as part of the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement. Details are as 
follows:

Security:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to credit risk by monitoring the value weighted average credit 
score of its investment portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score 
to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2 etc.) and taking the arithmetic 
average, weighted by the size of each investment.  Unrated 
investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Target Actual
Portfolio average credit 
rating (in-house 
managed cash 
balances)

A A+

Liquidity:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to 
meet unexpected payments within a rolling one month period, without 
additional borrowing.

Target
Total cash available 
within 1 month £5m

Since the1st April 2016 the Council had at least £5m available within 
one month at all times.

Interest Rate Exposures:  This indicator is set to control the 
Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  It represents the maximum 
level (as a percentage) of the Council’s investment and borrowing that 
will be invested at either a fixed or variable rate of interest.  The upper 
limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council 
is not exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on 
the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the use of variable rate 
borrowing to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates of 
investments.

Approved Limits for 2016/17
Upper Limit for Fixed 
Interest Rate Exposure 100%

Compliance with Limits: Yes
Upper Limit for Variable 
Interest Rate Exposure 100%

Compliance with Limits: Yes



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
This indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk.  
The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing together with the actual fixed rate borrowing as at 30th 
September are shown below:

Maturity structure of 
fixed rate borrowing

Lower 
Limit for 
2016/17 

%

Upper 
Limit for 
2016/17 

%

Actual 
Maturity % 

as at
30/09/2016

Actual Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing at 
30/09/2016

£m
under 12 months 0% 20% 6.64% 4.44
12 months and within 24 
months 0% 20% 6.64% 4.44

24 months and within 5 
years 0% 30% 19.91% 13.33

5 years and within 10 
years 0% 50% 34.12% 22.85

10 years and within 20 
years 0% 45% 29.94% 20.05

20 years and above 0% 20% 2.75% 1.85
Total  100.00% 66.96

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the 
risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  
The limits on long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond 
the period end are as follows:  

Approved upper limit of 
principal invested 
beyond 364 days

30/09/16
Actual

Internally Managed Funds £20m £0
Externally Managed 
Funds £75m £53.32m

3.15 Economic Background and Outlook

This has been provided by the Council’s treasury advisers, Arlingclose 
and can be found at appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Council Performing Strongly Theme PS1 – this  the robust 
management of the Council’s day to day finances, enabling it to meet 
its financial obligations to all stakeholders by offering a high quality, 
value for money service.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

Regular monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s financial position, and, 
in particular its treasury management function is key to maintaining a 
sound financial strategy. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As detailed in the report

Legal Implications There are none as a result of this report

Staffing Implications There are none as a result of this report

Administrative Implications There are none as a result of this report

Risk Assessment Treasury operations are tightly regulated and the 
Council’s external advisors consulted regularly, 
thus minimising the risk to the Council. A prudent 
approach is taken in relation to investment 
activity with priority being given to security and 
liquidity over yield.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – External Pooled Fund Investments as at 30/09/2016
Appendix B – Economic Update provided by Arlingclose

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Banking 2016/2017 Catherine Bailey
(01322) 343312

Financial 
Services,
Internal 
Services

N/A





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

APPENDIX A - TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2016/2017

External Pooled Fund Investments as at 30/09/2016

Fund

Balance as 
at 31/03/16

£m

New 
Investments 

£m
Withdrawal

s £m

Value as 
at 

30/09/16
£m

Variance
£m

Dividends 
Received

£m
Aberdeen Absolute Return 
Bond Fund 1.89   1.92 0.03 N/A
CCLA Local Authorities 
Property Fund 1.88   1.81 (0.07) 0.02
Insight Liquidity Plus Fund 1.01   1.02 0.01 N/A
Investec Short Dated Bond 
Fund 6.13  -2.00 4.16 0.03 N/A
Investec Diversified Income 
Fund 4.64 4.00  8.71 0.07 0.06
M&G Global Dividend Fund 1.58   1.86 0.28 0.01
Payden & Rygel Sterling 
Reserve Fund 8.36 1.50  9.93 0.07 N/A
Payden & Rygel Absolute 
Return Bond Fund - 
Accumulation 1.02   1.05 0.03 N/A
Payden & Rygel Absolute 
Return Bond Fund - Income 
Distribution N/A 1.50  1.50 0.00 0.00
Royal London Cash Plus 
Fund - Accumulation 1.02  -1.02 N/A N/A N/A
Royal London Cash Plus 
Fund - Income Distribution 5.00 1.50  6.50 0.00 0.02
Royal London Duration 
Hedged Credit Fund 0.99   1.02 0.03 N/A
Royal London Enhanced 
Cash Plus Fund N/A 2.52  2.52 0.00 0.01
Schroders Income Maximiser 
Fund 0.96   1.00 0.04 0.02
Standard Life Short Duration 
Cash Fund 2.03   2.04 0.01 N/A
Threadneedle UK Equity 
Income Fund 1.82 1.00  3.03 0.21 0.04
Threadneedle Strategic Bond 
Fund 1.03   1.07 0.04 0.02

Threadneedle UK Short 
Dated Corporate Bond Fund N/A 2.00 2.00 0.00 0.00

UBS Multi Asset Income Fund 2.08   2.18 0.10 0.02

Total 41.44 14.02 -3.02 53.32 0.88 0.22





CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

APPENDIX B - TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2016/2017

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

This commentary is provided by the Council’s treasury advisors, Arlingclose.

External Context

The UK economic outlook changed significantly on 23rd June 2016.  The surprise 
result of the referendum on EU membership prompted forecasters to rip up previous 
projections and dust off worst-case scenarios.  Growth forecasts had already been 
downgraded as 2016 progressed, as the very existence of the referendum 
dampened business investment, but the crystallisation of the risks and the 
subsequent political turmoil prompted a sharp decline in household, business and 
investor sentiment.

The repercussions of this plunge in sentiment on economic growth were judged by 
the Bank of England to be severe, prompting the Monetary Policy Committee to 
initiate substantial policy easing at its August meeting to mitigate the worst of the 
downside risks.  This included a cut in Bank Rate to 0.25%, further gilt and corporate 
bond purchases (QE) and cheap funding for banks to maintain the supply of credit to 
the economy.  The minutes of the August meeting also suggested that many 
members of the Committee supported a further cut in Bank Rate to near-zero levels 
(the Bank, however, does not appear keen to follow peers into negative rate territory) 
and more QE should the economic outlook worsen.

In response to the Bank of England’s policy announcement, money market rates and 
bond yields declined to new record lows.  The outlook for the bank rate is that it will 
remain low if not even lower for the indeterminable future.

Whilst the economic growth consequences of Brexit remain speculative, there is 
uniformity in expectations that uncertainty over the UK’s future trade relations with 
the EU and the rest of the world will weigh on economic activity and business 
investment, dampen investment intentions and tighten credit availability, prompting 
lower activity levels and potentially a rise in unemployment.  These effects will 
dampen economic growth through the second half of 2016 and into 2017.

Meanwhile, inflation is expected to pick up due to a rise in import prices, dampening 
real wage growth and real investment returns.  

Market reaction

Following the referendum result gilt yields fell sharply across the maturity spectrum 
on the view that Bank Rate would remain extremely low for the foreseeable future.  
The fall in gilt yields was reflected in the fall in PWLB borrowing rates.

On the other hand, after an initial sharp drop, equity markets appeared to have 
shrugged off the result of the referendum and bounced back despite warnings from 
the IMF on the impact on growth from Brexit as investors counted on QE-generated 
liquidity to drive risk assets. 



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

The most noticeable fall in money market rates was for very short-dated periods 
(overnight to 1 month) where rates fell to between 0.1% and 0.2%

Counterparty Update

Various indicators of credit risk reacted negatively to the result of the referendum on 
the Uk’s membership of the European Union.  UK bank credit default swaps saw a 
modest rise but bank share prices fell sharply, on average by 2.0%, with UK-focused 
banks experiencing the largest falls.  Non-UK bank share prices were not immune 
although the fall in their share prices was less pronounced.

The UK’s sovereign rating was downgraded by 

Outlook for the remainder of 2016/17

The economic outlook for the UK has immeasurably altered following the vote to 
leave the EU.  The long-term position of the UK economy will be largely dependent 
on the agreements the government is able to secure with the EU, particularly with 
regard to Single Market access.

The short to medium-term outlook is more downbeat due to the uncertainty 
generated by the result and the forthcoming negotiations.  Economic and political 
uncertainty will likely dampen or delay investment intentions, prompting lower activity 
levels and potentially a rise in unemployment.  The downward trend in growth seen 
in the lead up to the referendum may continue through the second half of 2016, 
although some economic date held up better than initially expected, perhaps 
suggesting a less severe slowdown than feared.  

Arlingclose believes the bank rate will stay at 0.25% but there is a 40% possibility of 
a drop close to zero, with a small chance of a reduction to below zero.  

Gilt yields are forecast to be broadly flat from current levels, albeit experiencing short 
term volatility.

Global interest rate expectations have been pared back considerably.  There 
remains a possibility that the Federal Reserve will wait until after November’s 
presidential election, and probably hike interest rates in December 2016 but only if 
economic conditions warrant.

In addition, Arlingclose believes that the Government and the Bank of England have 
both the tools and the willingness to use them to prevent market-wide problems 
leading to bank insolvencies. The cautious approach to credit advice means that the 
banks currently on the Authority’s counterparty list have sufficient equity buffers to 
deal with any localised problems in the short term.



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016

OMBUDSMAN – ANNUAL REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS 2015 - 2016 

1. Summary

1.1To inform Cabinet of the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints 2015 - 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1. That Cabinet notes the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints 2015 - 2016 
at Appendix A to the report and the corresponding data tables for the Council, at 
pages 24 and 37 of Appendix A.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Cabinet is referred to the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints 2015 - 2016 
at Appendix A to the report and more specifically, pages 24 and 37 for the 
corresponding data tables for the Council.

3.2 The Ombudsman has in the past acknowledged that the figures may not match the 
data collected by local authorities. Typically, the differences between the 
Ombudsman’s data and data held by local authorities reflect that the Ombudsman 
refers a proportion of recorded complaints to authorities for local resolution, but the 
complainant may not always pursue the complaint.

3.3 Complaints are managed entirely through Covalent.  The system provides for the 
logging, tracking, monitoring and reporting of complaints.  Having instant access to 
complaints information enables the Corporate Complaints Officer to quickly identify 
issues of concern and pass them immediately to the relevant service area for 
resolution.  The system is working well.

3.4 In practice with how other ombudsman schemes and how many local authorities 
describe their complaints, the Ombudsman’s decisions are described in terms of 
upholding and not upholding complaints. 

3.5 Twenty new Ombudsman complaints and enquiries were lodged in the year 
2015/16 as opposed to twenty six in the previous year.  During 2015/16, the 
Ombudsman made decisions in relation to twenty complaints (some of which 
would have been raised in 2014/15) and found that four had required detailed 
investigation. Of those investigated only one, a benefits related complaint, was 
upheld.

3.6 The Corporate Complaints Officer monitors the effectiveness of the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure, including the Covalent system, to ensure consistency of 
data and any lessons learned about performance and complaint handing 
arrangements are fed back into service improvement initiatives.  Reports are 
presented annually to the Audit Board and quarterly to Management Team.  



CABINET
27 OCTOBER 2016 

3.7 Training needs on the complaints process are reviewed annually.

3.8 One of the purposes of the Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints submitted 
with corresponding data tables is to help ensure that learning from complaints 
informs scrutiny at a local level.  In this context, the Ombudsman has produced a 
workbook (‘Handling complaints for service improvement’) designed as a learning 
aid for elected councillors. The workbook was emailed to all Members in 2015 and 
a copy placed in the Members’ Room.

3.9 A review of the public sector ombudsmen may result in the creation of a single 
ombudsman scheme in England, mirroring the position in the other UK nations.

3.10 In March 2015, the Government consulted on a proposal to extend the jurisdiction 
of the Ombudsman to some town and parish councils. The outcome of the 
consultation is still awaited.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not specifically related to the Corporate Plan, but applicable to Corporate Health 
(reviewing performance) and Corporate Governance.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None  
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints 2015 
- 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information Category

P&R63el Marie Kelly-Stone

01322 343634

Legal Services –
Strategic Directorate 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

Review of Local Government 
Complaints 2015-16

APPENDIX A



Contents

At a glance 1

Introduction 2
About the statistics

The Ombudsman’s view 3
The future for local government complaints

Making a difference 4
Remedying injustice 
Improving local services 

Local Government complaint numbers and trends 7
Adult social care 7
Benefits and tax 10
Education and children’s services 11
Environmental services, public protection & regulation 15
Highways and transport 16
Housing 17
Planning and development 19
Corporate and other services 20

Supporting local scrutiny 21

Data tables 22

Local Government Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry 
CV4 0EH

Phone:  0300 061 0614
Web: www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter: @LGOmbudsman 

July 2016

http://www.lgo.org.uk
http://twitter.com/lgombudsman


1July 2016

 At a glance 

19,702 
complaints 
& enquiries

received 

3,529 recommendations to put things right 

51% 
investigations  
upheld 

Significant changes on previous year (complaints and 
enquiries received):

Housing

7%

13%

Education & 
children’s services 



2

 Introduction     

This report publishes the complaint 
statistics of the Local Government 
Ombudsman, for its local 
government jurisdiction, for the year 
ending 31 March 2016. 

In publishing the statistics by 
local authority, available in data 
tables at the end of this report, 
we aim to help local authorities to 
analyse their complaint handling 
performance and provide an open 
resource for anyone who wishes to 
scrutinise local services. The report 
also reflects on the statistics to give 
our view on what they mean for the 
local government sector.

The headline messages from this 
year’s statistics are:

 > we received 19,702 complaints 
and enquiries, which is a similar 
level to the previous year 

 > we upheld 51% of detailed 
investigations, which has 
increased from 46% the previous 
year

 > the area most complained about 
is education and children’s 
services

 > we also saw the biggest increase 
in percentage terms (13%) in 
complaints and enquiries about 
education and children’s services

We know, however, that numbers 
alone do not tell everything about 
the attitude towards complaints and 
how they are responded to locally. 
Arguably of more importance is 
to understand the impact those 
complaints have on people 
and to learn the lessons from 
those complaints to improve the 
experience for others.

This year we are able to publish 
more information about the 
recommendations we make to 

put things right when people have 
suffered. We made 3,529 separate 
recommendations to remedy 
injustice. These recommendations 
include actions for the local 
authority to take to remedy injustice 
for individuals and to prevent 
injustice for others by improving 
practice.

Our investigations can also 
provide local authorities with 
the reassurance that they have 
carried out a fair investigation 
of a complaint and satisfactorily 
offered to put things right, before 
the person decided to come to us. 
Our annual review letters to local 
authorities, published in tandem 
with this report, show the number 
of upheld cases where we were 
satisfied with the remedy the local 
authority had proposed. They also 
show how often each authority 
complied with our recommendations 
– we welcome that 99.9% of 
recommendations were complied 
with across all local authorities last 
year.

The LGO is the final stage for 
complaints – the person affected 
must have gone through their 
local authority’s complaints 
process before coming to us for 
an independent review of the 
case. So in relation to the many 
thousands of exchanges happening 
daily between local authorities 
and people in their areas, our 
complaints are a relatively small 
proportion; however each one 
represents a problem that was not 
put right locally, or an experience 
that drove the person to pursue 
their complaint with us. This report 
includes examples of some of the 
issues we see through case studies 
from people who have complained.

The report concludes with advice 
on using the statistics to support 

local scrutiny, including a set of 
questions to help local councillors 
scrutinise how their authority 
responds to, and learns from, 
complaints.

About the statistics
To reflect the changing definition of 
what constitutes local government 
services, for the purposes of 
this year’s annual review of local 
government complaints we have 
widened the scope of the bodies 
classed as local government. 
Editions of this report from previous 
years counted complaint numbers 
for councils and national park 
authorities only; whereas the data in 
this report incorporates complaints 
and enquiries registered against 
other local bodies that fall under 
our jurisdiction. These include 
school admission appeal panels, 
fire authorities, transport authorities, 
police and crime commissioners, 
and some other government 
organisations. In this report, we 
use ‘local authority’ as an umbrella 
term for this larger group of 
organisations. The widening of the 
scope of bodies we have classed as 
local government has undoubtedly 
been a factor in the 6% rise in 
complaints and enquiries received 
when compared with last year’s 
report.

The LGO also looks at complaints 
about independent social care 
providers. This includes complaints 
from people ‘self-funding’ their 
care without any involvement by 
the council. Data for independent 
care providers are not included in 
this report, but are incorporated 
in our annual review of social 
care complaints, published in the 
autumn. 



3

 The Ombudsman’s view 

I am pleased to present the 
LGO’s third annual review of 
local government complaints, 
which continues our commitment 
to openness and transparency 
through the publication of our 
complaint statistics. It adds to the 
suite of information we publish 
to help share the learning from 
complaints to improve local 
public services. I hope it will be 
of interest to all those working 
in the sector. The new statistics 
we include this year about our 
recommendations to put things 
right demonstrate the impact 
our investigations have, not 
just in remedying injustice for 
individuals but also in preventing 
injustice for the wider public. The 
review is published on the same 
day as LGO Annual Letters to 
each local authority in England. 
These are available on our 
website. A combined data table 
is also attached to this report. 
During our investigations we 
agree that some complaints have 
been remedied satisfactorily 
by the local authority, and 
for the first time this year we 
acknowledge the number of 
complaints where this has 
happened.

This will be the last annual 
review of local government 
complaints that I present, due 
to my seven year term of office 
completing at the end of 2016. 
When I joined the LGO in 2010, 
I could not have envisaged 
the level of change I would 
witness during the period. 

The role of local authority as 
commissioner of services has 
become increasingly prevalent. 
Nowadays service delivery 
typically involves a complex mix 
of public, private and charitable 
organisations working together. 
While local government has 
proven its abilities to adapt and 
innovate in light of budgetary 
challenges, these systems 
have inevitably changed the 
relationship between the citizen 
and public service provider. This 
has brought with it challenges 
for local authorities in retaining 
accountability structures and 
ensuring redress is accessible 
when things go wrong.

The devolution agenda is 
perhaps the biggest change to 
local government in a generation, 
and will transform the way public 
services are held to account. We 
have worked with the frontrunner 
combined authorities to support 
their thinking on developing 
effective and accessible 
complaints processes that fit the 
emerging new structures of local 
service delivery. It is important 
that the LGO retains its authority 
in the future to affect remedy in 
this brave new world.

The maze that people are 
sometimes required to navigate 
in order to raise a complaint 
about a public service has been 
one of my biggest concerns. 
It is clear that a single Public 
Services Ombudsman would 
present a more accessible and 
effective route to redress. Local 

government can be reassured 
that we continue to work 
closely with the Cabinet Office 
to ensure that our 40 years 
plus experience of remedying 
local government complaints, 
and understanding its unique 
accountability structures, informs 
the development of any draft 
legislation.

Finally, I express my appreciation 
to those that have brought 
complaints to us – you can be 
reassured that in doing so you 
have helped to make services 
better for others. And I wish to 
credit those in local authorities 
that have worked constructively 
with us, sometimes in 
challenging situations, to ensure 
complaints are resolved. 

 

Jane Martin 
Local Government Ombudsman

The future for local government complaints 

http://www.lgo.org.uk


4

 Making a difference  

Remedying injustice
Experience tells us that the most effective and timely way to resolve a complaint is for it to be put right at the 
local level before the issue escalates to the Ombudsman. However, our casework tells us that a significant 
amount of complaints are not resolved satisfactorily locally, leaving people to ask us for an independent 
review. We carried out 4,464 detailed investigations, and upheld 51% of these (2,260 in number) last year.

Detailed investigations upheld 

We are most likely to find fault in complaints about benefits and tax (64%), and least likely to find fault in 
complaints about highways and transport (40%).

We class a complaint as upheld when we find some fault in the way the local authority acted. This includes 
complaints where a local authority acknowledged fault in their local investigation and offered to take action to 
put it right, but the person still wanted an independent review of the complaint by us.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

All complaints - 51%

Planning & development 

Housing 

Highways & transport

Environmental services, public protection & 
regulation  

Education & children’s 
services 

Corporate & other services  

Benefits & tax   

Adult social care    

41%

56%

40%

41%

53%

45%

64%

58%



5

 Making a difference 

Types of remedies 
If we decide the local authority has acted with fault, and the fault caused an injustice, we will make 
recommendations for the local authority to put things right to remedy the fault. Our recommendations are 
designed to place people back in the position they were in before the fault happened. 

We will recommend an apology where the local authority has not already done so. A common phrase we hear 
is: “I simply want somebody to take responsibility for what happened”.

We look to see whether remedial action needs to be taken to restore a person’s situation. This may include 
reinstating or providing a service, making a decision on something under the right grounds, or providing 
information.

If the injustice cannot be remedied through remedial action we may recommend a financial payment. This 
may be a specific and quantifiable value, for example a tax that somebody should not have paid. But often 
it represents a loss that is more difficult to value, such as the impact of the loss of care services. We also 
make recommendations for a payment to recognise the distress that somebody has suffered as a result of the 
authority’s errors, as well as the time and trouble someone is put to in having to pursue their complaint with 
us. 

Impact of recommendations
Our powers allow us to investigate matters that come to our attention during an investigation if we think 
other people, who have not complained to us, may have suffered. We can then make recommendations to 
remedy the injustice to those others. In addition when we find faults with a policy decision that may have 
affected multiple people, we can recommend the local authority reviews its files and puts things right for other 
individuals similarly affected.

 

3,529
recommendations  
in total 

2,641 
Remedying injustice for individuals - 

e.g apologies, financial redress, providing 
services  

633
Preventing injustice for many - 

e.g staff training, procedure change 

255
Reassurance 

that local 
authority 

offered satisfactory   
remedy

Recommendations to put things right 



6

 Making a difference 

Most common recommendations 

Improving services
We always consider whether the issues uncovered in an 
investigation may affect other local people in a similar manner, 
and whether we can make practical recommendations to avoid 
that happening. Examples of this include recommendations to 
review council policies, change procedures, or provide staff 
training. We are particularly likely to recommend this type of 
action if we find faults with a local authority policy, standard 
procedure or especially poor administrative practice.

An integral part of our work is sharing our intelligence and 
experience from complaints to encourage better services for 
all. We regularly publish ‘Focus Reports’ that look at systemic 
issues found in our complaints. These feedback good practice 
to local authorities and raise public awareness where there is 
clear evidence of a public interest. We publish all of our decisions 
(except where there is a risk to the anonymity of those involved) 
and complaints data as a resource for people to interrogate. The 
identity of the complainant is not revealed in our decisions, but we 
do name the body in jurisdiction.

Remedying injustice – putting 
things right for others

Katrina and her younger brother 
George became involved with 
the council’s children’s services 
department when the council 
became concerned about a 
potential risk to their safety. 
Following a meeting with the 
different agencies involved, the 
council placed the children on 
child protection plans. 

Katrina complained to us that she 
had suffered significant distress 
during the period because of 
the way the council treated her 
through the process. 

We did not criticise the council 
for initiating the child protection 
meeting, but found that it did not 
properly involve Katrina in the 
meeting as it should have done 
according to local guidance, and 
she was unnecessarily denied 
contact with one of her parents 
for a number of months. It also 
did not properly inform all the 
agencies involved once it had 
found no risk and closed the case.

Only Katrina had complained 
to us, but we recognised that 
the council’s faults had also 
caused injustice to her brother 
George. The council agreed to 
our recommendations to put 
things right for both children. 
This included written apologies 
and offers of counselling for 
the siblings, as well as financial 
payments to recognise the 
distress caused and their 
uncertainty about how events may 
have panned out differently but for 
the council’s faults.

procedural 
change  

apology financial 
payment 

Stories we heard 



7

 Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Adult social care 

Assessment and care planning
We received the most complaints within adult social care about the assessment and care planning process, 
at 601. We also upheld 70% of detailed investigations that were specifically about care planning.

Assessment and care planning are at the heart of any council’s social care responsibilities. Councils have a 
statutory duty to carry out an assessment for anyone in their area who appears to need care and support. If 
eligible, they must draw up a care plan to meet agreed outcomes which is regularly reviewed. Some of the 
common faults we find in this area are:

 > poor communication

 > not involving families adequately

 > delays in assessing and reviewing, and 

 > inadequate information to enable people to make the right choices.

If we identify faults in the assessment and care planning process, we will look to see if direct action could 
restore the situation, such as carrying out an assessment or review, putting in place a service or involving 
the family in the process. Typically it can be difficult to quantify the impact of not providing support, but we 
may recommend a payment to recognise avoidable distress.  

We received 2,584 complaints and enquiries about the responsibilities of councils for adult social care, 
which is a 4% increase on the previous year. We upheld 58% of complaints investigated in detail.

In our role as Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman, we can provide redress for people 
with unresolved complaints about any aspect of adult social care, regardless of whether or not the 

council funds or commissions the services. We can investigate any independent social care providers 
registered with the regulator, the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

This report only includes the statistics for complaints about the responsibilities of councils, and touches 
on the most significant themes. We publish an annual review of social care complaints every autumn, 

which analyses the trends across the whole sector in more depth.

procedural 
change  

apology financial 
payment 



8

 Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Adult social care 

 

Focus Report – providing the right 
information on fees

Our cases show that 
many people are not 
being given the right 
information about 
charging for social care, 
meaning they often pay 
too much. People can 
choose to pay for more 
expensive care, but 
it must be a genuine 
choice.

We published a Focus Report, Counting the cost 
of care, showing some of the common issues 
around care ‘top-up’ fees. 

We told some of the stories of people who come 
to us for help. These included people who had 
been given confusing or incorrect advice by 
their council, or those who were not offered a 
genuine choice of affordable care home that 
did not require a top-up fee. Other stories 
included peoples’ finances being assessed 
before their care needs, and councils abdicating 
responsibility for the top-up to the care home.

To put things right we can recommend action 
such as an apology, a refund of top-up fees that 
should not have been charged or a reassessment 
of needs. We often make recommendations 
to review procedures to ensure others are not 
affected. 

The report provides insight from our complaints 
to help councils (and care providers) implement 
best practice. We also provide questions for 
councillors to help them scrutinise services 
locally. By achieving significant publicity for the 
report we raised public awareness of the right to 
sound information to enable informed decisions 
about care.

Focus report: learning lessons from complaints
September 2015

www.lgo.org.uk

Counting the cost of care: the 
council’s role in informing public 

choices about care homes 

Social Care

Charging
We registered 278 complaints and enquiries 
about charging for care, and upheld 62% of 
detailed investigations. 

The social care system can be complex for 
people to understand, and it is often at a time 
of crisis when people first encounter the need 
for support. Many of the cases we see about 
charging relate to information being given 
which is inconsistent or out of line with current 
guidance. 

Our recent Focus Report on charging explains 
some of the ways we typically remedy injustice in 
this area.

http://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2439/FR%20-%20Counting%20the%20cost%20of%20care%20Sept%202015%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/2439/FR%20-%20Counting%20the%20cost%20of%20care%20Sept%202015%20FINAL.pdf


9

 

Home care
People may prefer to have their 
care needs met in their own home 
to have a level of independence 
and maintain familiarity with their 
surroundings.

We experienced a 29% increase 
in the number of complaints and 
enquiries received about councils’ 
provision of home care (also 
known as domiciliary care) from 
218 the previous year to 281 this 
year. This contrasts with a steady 
decline in the number of people 
receiving home care funded by 
local authorities – it fell by 20% 
between 2009 and 20151. 

This means that, as a proportion 
of all people receiving home care 
with local authority involvement, 
more are bringing a complaint to 
us. 

There could be a number of 
reasons for this. However, the 
outcome may be seen positively: 
that more people are coming 
forward to make their concerns 

Adult social care 

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

heard. On the other hand, we 
upheld a high level of complaints 
(67%), which would indicate 
councils are often getting it wrong 
in this area.

Common faults include 
failure to provide services, 
such as cancelled or short 
visits, inaccurate invoicing for 
and recording of visits, poor 
communication between the 
commissioning council and the 
home care provider and not 
seeking timely medical assistance.

Some of our complaints reflect 
issues that have been highlighted 
by the sector. The Care Quality 
Commission’s (CQC) report Not 
just a number found common 
issues were undermining the 
majority of good home care2. 
These included a lack of 
consistency of care workers and 
missed or late visits, amongst 
others. More recently, a study 
by UNISON found that 74% of 
local authorities in England were 

 1 United Kingdom Homecare Association (UKHCA) Summary: An Overview of the domiciliary care market in the UK 
Homecare – May 2016 

 2 Care Quality Commission - February 2013 

 3 Suffering alone at home, Unison, 2014 

4 Home care: delivering personal care and practical support to older people living in their own homes (NICE guidelines 
NG21), September 2015

limiting some home care visits 
to 15 minutes3. Guidance by 
the National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence (NICE), 
introduced in September 2015 
advises that home care visits 
should be no shorter than half 
an hour unless they are for basic 
tasks and part of a wider support 
package or to check someone is 
safe and well4. 

http://www.ukhca.co.uk/pdfs/MarketOverviewV352016FINAL.pdf
http://www.ukhca.co.uk/pdfs/MarketOverviewV352016FINAL.pdf
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/cqc-finds-common-issues-undermining-majority-good-home-care
https://www.unison.org.uk/content/uploads/2016/01/23574_Save_care_now_homecare_report-5.pdf


10

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Benefits and tax 

Council tax 
We registered 1,511 complaints 
and enquiries in this area. Where 
we completed an investigation, 
61% of cases resulted in 
complaints being upheld.

Some of the common issues 
we find include problems with 
the administration of individuals’ 
council tax accounts, delays in 
responding to complainants and 
providing inaccurate information. 
We receive a number of 
complaints and enquiries about 
changes to discount schemes on 
council tax for empty properties, 
after councils were given 
additional powers to manage 
these schemes locally.

Enforcement agents 
(bailiffs)
There has been an increase in 
the amount of complaints and 
enquiries received about the 
actions of bailiffs recovering 
council tax. The increase was 
at 46% on the previous year (86 
received this year and 59 the 
previous year).

As councils take more action to 
recover debts the use of bailiffs 
will undoubtedly increase. While 
bailiff action can be an unpleasant 
experience we upheld very few 
complaints this year about the 

actions of a bailiff using their 
‘Taking Control of Goods’ powers.

Business rates
We registered 143 complaints 
and enquiries about business 
rates. While we carried out 
proportionately fewer detailed 
investigations than in previous 
years, we upheld a higher 
percentage of them. On issues 
of rating the liability for business 
rates, there is a specific route 
to redress through the courts. 
However we find some common 
issues around delays in dealing 
with information, as well as 
councils’ discretionary decisions 
on business rate reliefs.

Complaints about council tax 
and business rates are often 
about how councils take action to 
recover debts. Despite a tax being 
properly due, we sometimes find 
a council unreasonably delayed 
in billing someone, resulting in 
them receiving a sudden and 
unexpected demand for a large 
debt. In these cases we may 
recommend some of the debt is 
waived.

In some cases we help people 
that come to us by advising on 
the best way to get their problem 
resolved. This may be to a 
Valuation Tribunal if the dispute 
is about liability to pay tax. We 

have found councils at fault for not 
making the appeal route clear to 
complainants and for incorrectly 
dealing with liability issues through 
the corporate complaints process 
rather than the correct appeal 
process.

Housing benefit 
The majority of our benefits-
related complaints are about 
housing benefit. We registered 
752 complaints and enquiries and 
upheld 68% of investigations. We 
look at the way councils deal with 
the claims and how they advise of 
appeal rights. We also consider 
landlord complaints that councils 
have not made a direct payment of 
housing benefit to them.

If we find that an unnecessary 
delay by a council caused an 
injustice, we may recommend it 
make a payment to reflect this. 
We can also recommend councils 
pay landlords for sums lost if we 
find fault in this area. We may also 
recommend a council reviews its 
administrative processes.

We received 2,562 complaints and enquiries about benefits and tax. We upheld 64% of those cases we 
investigated.



11

Council tax support and 
council tax benefit 
Council tax benefit was abolished 
in April 2013, but we still receive 
some complaints about council 
tax benefit overpayments. We 
registered 119 complaints and 
enquiries last year. Common 
faults we find in this area include 
when a council delays in dealing 
with a claim or passing a case to 
appeal. If a council is taking steps 
to recover tax, but we find fault 
in the way the original claim was 
handled, we can consider how 
the person has been affected and 
make a suitable recommendation 
to put this right. For example, 
we can recommend the council 
determines a claim without delay 
or reimburses costs incurred by 
the complainant caused by the 
delay in determining a claim. 

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Benefits & tax

Stories we heard 

Council tax - unreasonably late billing 

Between 2003 and 2006 Angela shared a rented flat with three 
other tenants. They believed the landlord was responsible for 
paying the council tax. Neither the tenants nor the landlord told the 
council they were renting the flat.

The previous owner of the flat had died, and 
between 2002 and 2010 the council sent bills to his 
representative. The bills were not paid, but the 
council did nothing about chasing this up until 
July 2010 when it was told the flat had been 
sold. It billed the new owner, who told the 
council about Angela and her co-tenants. 
The council sent the four tenants bills for 
more than £4,600 to the only address it 
had – the property. No payments were 
received. In 2011 the council instructed 
bailiffs who were unable to find Angela or 
the other tenants and passed the debt back 
to the council in mid 2012. In early 2014 the 
council found Angela’s current address; it could 
not find the address of the other tenants. It wrote 
to Angela asking her to either pay the debt in full or 
make an arrangement to do so. 

Angela complained about being asked to pay such a large sum so 
long after she had left the property. She said she had no addresses 
for her former flat mates. 

We found the council was right to say Angela and her co-tenants 
were all liable for the debt. But we also found the council was at 
fault in having delayed for so long in checking if the late owner had 
sold the property. It was also at fault in its delays in trying to contact 
Angela after it billed her; there were long periods when no action 
was taken to find Angela’s new address. The council agreed to our 
recommendations to reduce Angela’s debt to 25% of the total, which 
is what she should have paid if she had been billed in time, and 
then to halve this total because of the further delays in contacting 
her.   



12

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Education and children’s services 

During this period, we received 3,438 complaints and enquiries about education and children’s services. 
This is the highest volume of complaints we deal with in comparison with other subject areas. We upheld 

53% of those cases we investigated.

Child protection
We registered 903 complaints and 
enquiries in this area. Where we 
completed an investigation, 68% 
of cases resulted in complaints 
being upheld. This is considerably 
higher than the average for all 
complaints (51%).

Child protection complaints relate 
to safeguarding procedures which 
are intended to protect children 
from the risk of neglect or abuse. 
Often complaints are made by 
parents or family members, about 
or on behalf of a child or young 
person. They may consider that 
something has gone wrong in the 
process and the child or young 
person has been left at risk of 
harm as a result. We also receive 
complaints from people who have 
been investigated due to child 
protection concerns being raised. 
By their nature these complaints 
require sensitive handling and 
sometimes the outcome the 
complainant desires is something 
that only the courts could decide – 
for example revoking a decision to 
remove a child from the family.

Where we find fault in child 
protection complaints, 
recommendations to review 
safeguarding procedures is 
particularly important to avoid the 
likelihood of other children being 
similarly affected. 

Children’s statutory 
complaints procedure
Many complaints we receive 
are about or involve councils’ 
application of the statutory 
children’s social care complaints 
process. This is designed to 
ensure the rights and needs 
of the child are at the heart of 
the process and that young 
people’s voices are heard. Once 
a complaint has been accepted 
via this procedure, complainants 
have a right to progress through 
each stage: local resolution; 
investigation; and independent 
review. We regularly see 
instances where councils fail to 
follow the process, or its guiding 
principles. In these cases we 
may recommend a financial 
payment if failures have caused 
or compounded the person’s 
distress. 

Child sexual exploitation
Recent inquiries into the failures 
to prevent child sexual exploitation 
in some areas are well publicised. 
We have only received a small 
number of complaints on the 
subject. But, we have seen some 
instances where a council has 
taken a lack of consent from 
a young person to justify not 
investigating a complaint or for 
failing to take safeguarding action. 
This is of concern given the 
young person may not perceive 
themselves to be a victim or 
vulnerable to potential exploitation 
and do not therefore recognise 
they may be in need of protection. 
A failure to properly consider and 
assess a young person when such 
concerns have been raised may 
leave them at continued risk. 



13

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Education and children’s services 

School admission appeals
We registered 654 complaints 
and enquiries in this area. We 
investigated fewer complaints 
than in previous years but upheld 
significantly more cases, 43% in 
2015-16 compared to 26% 2014-
15. We do not have jurisdiction 
to consider complaints about 
Academies and Free Schools and 
so the number of complaints we 
are able to consider has reduced 
significantly as more schools have 
converted to Academy status. 

Common themes in the 
complaints we uphold are poor 
administrative practices such as 
insufficient information provided 
or new information presented on 
the day of the appeal; inadequate 
recording of the decision making 
process; panels taking into 
account irrelevant information and 
poorly communicated decisions 
leaving appellants with no 
understanding of how the decision 
was reached. 

When we find fault and are 
satisfied it has caused an injustice 
we usually recommend the 
admission authority holds a fresh 
appeal with a different panel, 
to restore faith that the parents’ 
appeal is heard impartially and 
fairly. We may also recommend 
it reviews its admission criteria or 
appeals procedure. 

Special Educational Needs
We registered 355 complaints 
and enquiries about special 
educational needs (SEN). We 
upheld 70% of those cases 
we investigated. Again this is 
considerably higher than the 
average across all subject areas 
(51%).  Where we do find fault, the 
impact on the individual and their 
family can be particularly acute. 
Cases can be complex, and we 
often see complaints where the 
relationship between the family 
and the council has broken down. 

Delays in the process are one of 
the overriding features of SEN 
complaints we uphold. In addition 
we tend to find problems where 
there has been no holistic and 
timely approach to planning for 
future needs – particularly around 
the key transition points between 
stages of schooling and post-16 
education.

Where we find fault, we can 
recommend a financial payment 
to recognise the lack of provision 
or ask that relevant assessments 
or reviews take place promptly. 
Unfortunately we regularly see 
cases where a child is left without 
suitable education for prolonged 
periods, which requires careful 
consideration to recommend a 
remedy that addresses all the 
issues of missing out for such 
time. 

New arrangements for education, 
health and care plans (EHCPs) to 
replace statements of SEN came 
into force in September 2014. Due 
to the timescales of this process 
it is too early for us to have seen 
enough complaints about EHCPs 
to identify systemic trends. But 
some initial concerns are councils 
failing to arrange transition 
meetings for transfer from 
statements to EHCPs, or using the 
20 weeks timescale as a deadline 
rather than aiming to complete the 
process as quickly as possible.

School transport
We received a significant increase 
in the number of complaints 
and enquiries about councils’ 
provision of school transport. 
We have seen some emerging 
issues where school transport 
has been withdrawn without there 
having been any changes to the 
transport policy or the person’s 
circumstances. We have also 
seen a number of complaints 
where changes to longstanding 
transport policies have been made 
without parents being informed 
or provided with clear and timely 
information about them. These 
type of changes often affect many 
families in the council areas. In 
some of the cases we received, 
the catalyst for the local changes 
affecting people have been the 
council reviewing its transport 
policy, or how they apply their 
existing policy, in light of a need to 
reduce costs.



14

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Education and children’s services 

Stories we heard 

Child protection – not following the children’s complaints process 

Petra became the adopted mother of two young girls, aged four and five. The children told her that their 
former foster carer had smacked them.

Petra approached the council with the allegations. It, and the council failed to convene the 
correct planning meetings and social workers recorded the concern as ‘unsubstantiated’.

Petra later raised further concerns made by the children. She also claimed that some of 
the children’s belongings and memory boxes were not passed on from the foster carer.

The council held a meeting chaired by an independent officer to look at whether the 
council had investigated the allegations properly. The meeting decided that any 

investigation could be traumatic for the children and doubted whether sufficient 
evidence would be gained. 

Petra tried to pursue her complaint with the council, but it refused progress it 
to the second stage, so she approached us.

We found the council at fault for not following the statutory children’s social care 
complaints process. And while the council claimed it did weigh up the evidence 

it may get from interviewing the children over the potential harm it may cause, it 
also failed to follow its own policy which said that any child or adult that reports a 

concern must be consulted.

The council agreed to our recommendations to apologise and agree a clear plan for 
interviewing the children. It also agreed to train staff, and review its procedures for how it 

investigates allegations, how it progresses complaints through the statutory process quickly, 
and how it works with foster carers to impress the importance of keeping photographs and possessions 
safe.

We also recommended a small financial payment to Petra and her two daughters to recognise the 
avoidable frustration and distress they were caused.



15

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Environmental services, public protection and regulation 

Refuse and recycling
The highest number of complaints 
and enquiries were about refuse 
and recycling, at 487. For many 
people the collection of their 
waste is one of the most visible 
functions of a local authority. 
Failure to properly collect waste 
can be a serious health hazard. 
A common complaint is that 
collections have been missed, 
although we often find during 
these investigations that councils 
have taken satisfactory steps to 
remedy this locally. When we find 
fault in refuse complaints, there 
are sometimes issues with how 
the council handles the initial 
complaint. We upheld 59% of 
detailed investigations in this area.

Noise
We received 188 complaints and 
enquiries about noise nuisance. 
Complaints are usually about 
noise from a neighbouring house 
or business. Councils have 
a responsibility to investigate 
cases of alleged noise nuisance 
and to come to a decision on 
whether action needs to be taken 
to manage it. They will usually 
monitor the noise to determine 
whether it is classed as statutory 
nuisance. A common issue we 
find is delay in the process; either 
in taking action to assess whether 
the noise amounted to a nuisance, 
in taking action to reduce the 
noise or in informing the people 
involved on progress of the issue. 

To put things right we may 
recommend that action is taken 
to address a statutory noise 
nuisance, such as acoustic works. 
If it is clear that proper action 
would have led to a reduction 
in the nuisance sooner, we 
will recommend a payment to 
recognise a loss of amenity.

We received 1,714 complaints and enquiries in this area. We upheld 41% of detailed investigations.

Anti-social behaviour
We received 203 complaints 
and enquiries about anti-social 
behaviour. Sometimes people 
complaining about these issues 
also experience problems with 
noise nuisance. Similar to noise 
complaints, the common faults we 
see include delays in taking action 
when action was promised, and 
failing to keep people informed 
effectively. If we find fault, we can 
recommend the council  
re-evaluates the issues and may 
include interviewing witnesses or 
reviewing with the police practical 
measures to control anti-social 
behaviour. We can recommend a 
payment to recognise avoidable 
distress. If a person’s complaint 
is about a neighbour who is a 
social housing tenant, then we 
will signpost to the Housing 
Ombudsman who is the correct 
ombudsman to handle their 
unresolved complaint.

 



16

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Highways and transport 

Fines
The area in which we received the 
most complaints and enquiries, at 751, 
was parking and traffic fines. For most 
issues related to this subject, there is a 
statutory process for challenging fines 
through a tribunal. Despite this, we still 
find a number of common issues, and 
because of the millions of penalties 
issued each year any improvement by 
councils in this area could benefit many 
people. We find cases where councils 
have not correctly informed people of 
their rights, particularly when making an 
informal challenge to a penalty charge 
notice. We also investigate complaints 
about how councils have taken recovery 
action on unpaid penalty charges.

Repairs and traffic management
Most other highways and transport 
complaints and enquiries are about 
traffic management, and highway 
repairs and maintenance. Typically 
these include complaints about 
potholes, injury to people and damage 
to vehicles, parking permits and issues 
like road closures, speed restrictions or 
pavement obstructions.  

Where we do find fault, many 
recommendations will include a financial 
element – either cancelling fines or fees, 
or a payment for the time and trouble in 
having to pursue the issue with us. 

 

We received 2,110 complaints and enquiries about highways and transport. We upheld 40% of detailed 
investigations, which is the lowest of all areas of our work.

Traffic fines - failure to reverse fine

Dan and Kirsty received a penalty charge 
notice by post from the council for a moving 
traffic contravention. It contained a photograph 
of the car involved, but its vehicle 
registration was not the same as that 
on the notice itself. The council 
had clearly sent the notice to the 
couple in error and they wrote to 
point this out. 

Although it was correctly 
addressed, Dan and 
Kirsty’s’ letter to the 
council was returned 
marked ‘addressee gone 
away’. Despite several 
letters and phone calls, the 
couple could not resolve the 
matter with the council and 
complained to us. 

At our intervention, the council 
accepted it had been at fault and 
cancelled the penalty charge. It 
agreed to pay Dan and Kirsty £25 to 
recognise their time and trouble. However, this 
complaint should have been resolved earlier. 
The council’s error was readily apparent and it 
should not have required the couple to come to 
us to get things sorted.

Stories we heard 



17

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Housing 

Housing allocations
We received 916 complaints 
and enquiries about housing 
allocations and we upheld 51% of 
detailed investigations. Using our 
experience of those complaints we 
published a Focus Report, which 
highlighted some of the common 
failures in this area and acted as 
a timely reminder to councils of 
the need to ensure their allocation 
policies do not exclude certain 
vulnerable groups. Some of the 
recurring problems include poor 
handling of requests for medical 
priority, not updating housing 
applications following a change in 
circumstances, and failures in how 
exceptional circumstances are 
considered by applying blanket 
policies.

Homelessness
We received 467 complaints and 
enquiries about homelessness, 
which is an 8% increase on the 
previous year. We also upheld 
71% of detailed investigations. 

Latest government statistics for 
England show that around a 
third of all households accepted 
as homeless, and around three 
quarters of all households placed 
in temporary accommodation, are 
in London5. 68% (317 out of 467) 
of our complaints and enquiries 
about homelessness were against 
London authorities. Recently 
we have seen complaints about 
council decisions – often but 
not only London boroughs – to 
offer accommodation outside the 
council’s area. 

We have also dealt with 
complaints about the way councils 
deal with private tenants who seek 
assistance when served with a 
notice to quit from their landlord. 
We have also seen evidence of 
‘gatekeeping’, where councils 

delay or avoid altogether taking 
a homelessness application. We 
continue to receive complaints 
that offers of temporary 
accommodation are unsuitable 
and that councils take too long to 
carry out reviews of the suitability 
of such accommodation.

In complaints about housing 
allocations and homelessness, 
injustice may be suffered by 
vulnerable individuals or by 
families. Sometimes it is clear 
what is needed to remedy the 
injustice, for example by the 
council making an offer of suitable 
accommodation or by giving 
additional priority to a housing 
application. Often the remedy 
will include some financial 
redress. Procedural change 
recommendations may include 
such things as reviewing standard 
processes to meet government 
guidance and improving the 
information given to local people.

During the year we received 2,325 complaints and enquiries about housing, which is 7% fewer than in 
the previous year. Most were either about how councils allocate social housing, or their homelessness 
services. A smaller number were about the different ways authorities are involved with private sector 

housing, including licensing, enforcement activity in relation to disrepair and improvement, and other issues 
to do with the landlord/tenant relationship. We upheld 56% of housing investigations.

Although the responsibility for complaints about the provision and management of social housing passed to 
the Housing Ombudsman in April 2013, we still receive many enquiries from people who want to complain 
about these matters. We continue to work with the Housing Ombudsman in providing information about our 
respective roles, but we also urge councils to improve the advice about which Ombudsman people should 

complain to when they have made a final decision their complaints.

5 Statutory Homelessness: October to December Quarter 2015 

Stories we heard 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509763/Statutory_Homelessness_Statistical_Release_October_to_December_2015.pdf


18

 

Housing 

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Homelessness - housed out of area in unsuitable home

Anita is a single parent to three teenagers. She is on a low income and gets tax credit and Child Benefit 
support. The family were evicted from their London home when the landlord wanted the property back, 
and she applied to the council as homeless.

They were offered a three-bedroom home in a town in Essex as temporary accommodation while the 
council decided her homeless application. Anita was concerned about the distance 

to the children’s schools and colleges and her job. These were in East London and 
the journey would take up to two hours. However she reluctantly accepted because 

she was advised it was the only property available and if she refused the council 
would consider its duty to her discharged.

Two months later Anita tried to request a review of the accommodation, 
stating she could not afford the significant additional transport costs; had 

the family been placed in London, the children would have been entitled to 
free bus travel. A homeless applicant, however, does not have a right to 
request a review of the suitability of the accommodation until a council 
has made a decision to accept a housing duty.

It took another month for the council to make a decision and accept 
a full housing duty as a homeless family in priority need. Anita lodged 

another review request, reiterating her concerns about the distance and 
costs. Ten weeks later the council concluded the temporary Essex home was 

unsuitable and placed the family on the transfer list for a move to more suitable 
accommodation.

Our investigation found the council took too long to decide the homeless application 
– no work happened on the case for around five months. Although the family would 

likely still have been placed in Essex because it was the only three-bedroom home available at the 
time, if the council had properly assessed the suitability of the home at the outset, taking into account 
the educational needs of the children, it would have recognised the need to transfer them nearer much 
sooner.

The council agreed to our recommendations to apologise and refund Anita the £3,000 spent on train 
fares over the period and pay her £500 to recognise the inconvenience and distress caused. It also 
offered suitable temporary accommodation in London around the time our investigation was completed.

 

Stories we heard 



19

 

Planning and development 

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Planning applications
A large proportion of complaints 
and enquiries we get in planning 
are about planning applications 
– there were 1,617 received in 
the year. The majority are from 
people who object to a planning 
application or a council’s decision 
to grant planning permission. 

Objectors do not have a right 
of an appeal about a planning 
decision; they can take 
independent action in court, but 
with the costs usually prohibitive, 
we are the only realistic way for 
people affected by a council’s 
planning decision to get redress. 
We provide individuals with 
redress if council administrative 
faults have caused them a 
personal injustice. However, 
we do receive complaints from 
objectors not directly affected by a 
development.

In the complaints where we 
find fault, some of the common 
issues are failures around 
publicising applications or 
properly considering objections 
to applications, explaining 
the reasons for decisions and 
considering the impact on 
neighbouring properties.

If we find fault causing injustice, 
we can recommend action to 
lessen the impact of development, 
like changes to gardens or 
properties to reduce overlooking, 
access or noise issues. In some 

cases, if the application was 
unlikely to have been approved 
but for the faults identified, we 
may recommend a financial 
payment to recognise the loss 
of value to a property. We may 
recommend procedural changes 
or training for staff, and members 
of the planning committee. 

Planning enforcement
We received 498 complaints 
and enquiries about planning 
enforcement. Once it is satisfied 
a planning contravention has 
taken place, a council must 
decide whether it is appropriate 
and practical to take enforcement 
action. There are time limits after 
which unauthorised development 
becomes immune from 
enforcement action, so we expect 
councils to investigate alleged 
contraventions within a reasonable 
timeframe. Enforcement action 
is discretionary, and any action 
taken should be proportionate to 
the breach identified. This means 
that formal action should not 
normally be taken unless informal 
negotiation fails.

A common issue raised in 
planning enforcement is a lack of 
communication. Even if we find no 
fault in the way a council handles 
the contravention itself, the failure 
to regularly update someone 
on progress invariably adds to 
their sense of frustration. Delays 
during which local people may 

be suffering the consequences 
of unauthorised development are 
another problem, and on occasion 
result in the council losing 
planning control and the ability to 
take enforcement action. 

As in planning application 
complaints, we would look to 
see if action can be taken to put 
right planning breaches. This 
may involve recommending the 
council takes appropriate formal 
enforcement action. If a council, 
through fault, loses planning 
control, we may recommend a 
payment to recognise a loss of 
amenity or value of property. 

We received 2,528 complaints and enquiries in this area and upheld 41% of investigations.



20

Local Government complaint 
numbers & trends 

Planning and development

Planning enforcement - failure to retain planning control

Johan complained that a neighbour’s large terrace balcony affected his privacy by 
overlooking his garden.

The council approved the neighbour’s planning application, subject to a condition 
requiring him to submit detailed plans of screening measures, and build according 

to those plans. The council had intended the condition to also reserve the right for 
it to decide whether the screening was satisfactory, but failed to do this. It had 
assured Johan that a 1.8 metre high screen would protect his privacy.

The neighbour submitted plans that the council found unsatisfactory. After it 
chased the neighbour for revised plans and got no response, it decided to start 
enforcement action. It was at this point, that it realised the planning condition 
was not worded as intended and the council had lost planning control. The 
neighbour had met its obligations by submitting plans and building to them.

Johan decided to plant a large number of trees in an effort to protect his privacy. 
It is estimated it would take 3 to 5 years for them to grow to the 6 metres needed 

to begin to screen the impact of the balcony.

The council agreed to our recommendations. These were to make a payment to Johan 
for the cost of planting the trees, for the impact of the balcony on his amenities until the 

trees provide screening, and for his time and trouble in pursuing the complaint.

Corporate and other services 

We received 988 complaints and enquiries registered about corporate and other services. We upheld 
45% of detailed investigations.

Complaints in this area include: council contracts and business matters, leisure and culture, council land 
(when not related to planning), access to information and standards committees. 

Complaints and enquiries about elections more than doubled on the previous year (from 30 to 62). This is 
likely due to the 2015 general election, although a number of complaints in this area were signposted to 
the Electoral Commission as the more appropriate body to investigate.



21

?

We encourage the use of our statistics to help inform scrutiny of local public services. This report
publishes our statistics for all local authorities in one place so they can easily be compared with other 
areas. We also publish the data in spreadsheet format on our website together with annual review letters 
to local authorities.

It is important to remember, however, that these statistics should be a starting point for discussion on how 
complaints are dealt with in an area. Different levels of complaint numbers to the Ombudsman can be 
caused by many factors; it is too simplistic to imply they are connected directly to good or bad services in 
an area. For example, low numbers may reflect poor signposting to the Ombudsman and an inaccessible 
complaints procedure, or it may reflect good complaint handling locally.

Local councillors have an important part to play in scrutinising local services. Many local authorities tell 
us they share their information about complaints with councillors, and we encourage those authorities not 
already doing so to start. Below are some questions councillors may consider asking to get a picture of 
how complaints are handled locally.

Questions for councillors

Supporting local scrutiny 

How does your council:

 > actively welcome feedback from service users about how it manages complaints?

 > report the outcomes and lessons learned from complaints to all members?

 > provide similar information that is easily accessible for the public?

 > consider how commissioned partners implement an effective complaints handling 
service?

 > clearly signpost its complaints procedure, including the right to come to the LGO, within 
all access points? 



22

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Adur District Council 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 4 0 11

Allerdale Borough Council 1 2 1 0 2 0 0 23 0 29

Amber Valley Borough Council 0 4 0 0 2 0 1 13 0 20

Arun District Council 0 5 2 0 4 0 0 8 0 19

Ashfield District Council 0 5 3 0 0 1 2 4 0 15

Ashford Borough Council 0 7 3 0 3 0 2 8 0 23

Aylesbury Vale District Council 0 11 3 0 3 0 3 9 0 29

Babergh District Council 0 3 1 0 2 0 6 6 1 19

Barking and Dagenham London Borough Council 7 33 5 23 22 23 27 5 0 145

Barnet London Borough Council 20 48 4 17 15 42 38 32 3 219

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 9 9 5 10 7 4 3 11 1 59

Barrow Borough Council 0 5 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 9

Basildon Borough Council 0 10 0 0 7 2 4 9 1 33

Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council 0 4 2 0 3 0 1 12 0 22

Bassetlaw District Council 0 3 1 0 2 2 5 7 0 20

Bath and North East Somerset Council 5 3 4 6 4 4 2 12 0 40

Bedford Borough Council 4 2 1 14 5 1 5 4 2 38

Bexley London Borough Council 6 25 3 13 7 5 12 6 1 78

Birmingham City Council 55 132 11 71 88 48 80 32 6 523

Blaby District Council 0 3 0 0 1 1 2 5 0 12

Blackburn with Darwen Council 9 9 1 13 5 3 0 2 0 42

Blackpool Borough Council 9 6 6 10 6 2 3 5 0 47

Bolsover District Council 0 2 4 0 1 0 1 2 0 10

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 6 9 2 8 8 2 2 5 1 43

Boston Borough Council 0 2 2 1 0 0 0 5 0 10

Bournemouth Borough Council 12 9 2 12 9 4 11 7 0 66

Bracknell Forest Council 4 1 1 8 1 1 2 7 1 26

Braintree District Council 0 4 2 1 1 0 1 4 0 13

Breckland District Council 0 2 2 0 1 0 1 9 0 15

Brent London Borough Council 17 24 3 15 13 42 52 14 3 183



23

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Brentwood Borough Council 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 9

Brighton and Hove City Council 27 13 4 28 4 12 13 21 1 123

Bristol City Council 14 33 15 23 24 18 28 28 0 183

Broadland District Council 1 0 0 0 2 0 1 6 0 10

Broads Authority 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 3

Bromley London Borough Council 35 39 7 20 8 8 38 17 1 173

Bromsgrove District Council 0 3 3 0 2 0 1 5 0 14

Broxbourne Borough Council 0 0 1 0 3 1 4 7 0 16

Broxtowe Borough Council 0 7 1 0 2 0 3 3 1 17

Buckinghamshire County Council 13 0 3 16 4 17 0 0 1 54

Burnley Borough Council 0 3 0 0 3 2 2 2 0 12

Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 13 5 1 11 13 5 2 3 0 53

Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council 13 7 4 19 11 11 2 13 0 80

Cambridge City Council 0 2 0 0 4 0 7 4 0 17

Cambridgeshire County Council 15 0 5 26 1 10 0 0 0 57

Camden London Borough Council 14 10 6 9 8 25 38 11 4 125

Cannock Chase District Council 0 7 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 11

Canterbury City Council 1 4 3 1 3 0 5 11 0 28

Carlisle City Council 1 3 2 0 1 0 2 3 0 12

Castle Point Borough Council 0 4 1 0 3 0 3 2 0 13

Central Bedfordshire Council 7 7 4 12 4 7 6 18 0 65

Charnwood Borough Council 0 4 0 0 2 0 4 5 0 15

Chelmsford City Council 0 2 3 0 1 0 3 7 0 16

Cheltenham Borough Council 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 6

Cherwell District Council 0 4 2 0 4 3 4 16 0 33

Cheshire East Council 15 12 16 23 12 13 0 27 1 119

Cheshire West and Chester Council 6 8 11 14 9 10 3 13 1 75

Chesterfield Borough Council 0 1 1 0 0 2 3 0 0 7

Chichester District Council 0 3 1 0 1 2 2 11 0 20

Chiltern District Council 0 3 0 0 5 0 2 1 0 11

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



24

Chorley Borough Council 0 5 0 0 1 0 2 3 0 11

Christchurch Borough Council 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 6 0 9

City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 19 21 12 19 12 14 4 12 1 114

City of London 2 0 0 1 3 2 1 1 0 10

Colchester Borough Council 1 3 2 0 3 2 6 8 0 25

Copeland Borough Council 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 2 0 8

Corby Borough Council 0 3 2 0 6 1 4 1 0 17

Cornwall Council 46 21 9 50 13 15 9 73 1 237

Cotswold District Council 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 6 0 9

Coventry City Council 12 16 11 20 21 20 6 3 0 109

Craven District Council 0 0 2 0 2 0 1 3 0 8

Crawley Borough Council 0 3 0 0 2 1 9 4 2 21

Croydon London Borough Council 31 33 5 30 25 23 67 14 0 228

Cumbria County Council 10 2 2 30 2 7 0 0 0 53

Dacorum Borough Council 0 5 0 0 4 1 5 7 1 23

Darlington Borough Council 12 1 1 1 6 4 0 4 0 29

Dartford Borough Council 0 5 1 1 3 1 6 3 0 20

Dartmoor NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Daventry District Council 0 4 2 0 2 0 3 5 0 16

Derby City Council 12 11 2 24 7 3 3 3 1 66

Derbyshire County Council 36 1 2 38 3 15 0 1 0 96

Derbyshire Dales District Council 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 7 1 9

Devon County Council 42 0 6 60 5 33 0 2 0 148

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 13 6 3 12 11 5 9 11 1 71

Dorset County Council 24 0 2 14 4 7 0 1 0 52

Dover District Council 0 4 0 0 2 2 3 3 0 14

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 6 6 4 13 14 9 11 9 1 73

Durham County Council 32 23 9 28 26 17 9 38 1 183

Ealing London Borough Council 19 28 8 19 17 35 34 20 3 183

East Cambs District Council 0 1 2 0 2 1 0 1 0 7

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



25

East Devon District Council 1 3 3 0 2 0 4 10 0 23

East Dorset District Council 1 4 0 0 1 2 1 5 0 14

East Hampshire District Council 0 1 2 0 3 0 1 8 0 15

East Herts District Council 0 3 4 0 1 2 0 9 0 19

East Lindsey District Council 0 3 3 0 7 0 0 18 1 32

East Northamptonshire Council 0 1 1 0 2 0 1 5 0 10

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 15 5 6 15 8 9 3 14 0 75

East Staffordshire Borough Council 0 2 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 8

East Sussex County Council 51 0 4 32 1 7 0 2 0 97

Eastbourne Borough Council 0 12 1 1 3 0 5 1 0 23

Eastleigh Borough Council 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 9 0 14

Eden District Council 0 2 1 0 3 0 1 11 0 18

Elmbridge Borough Council 1 0 0 1 1 3 3 9 0 18

Enfield London Borough Council 16 41 3 13 6 16 47 14 1 157

Environment Agency 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 6

Epping Forest District Council 0 4 0 0 5 1 20 8 0 38

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 0 5 0 0 3 2 1 8 0 19

Erewash Borough Council 1 2 1 0 2 1 0 5 1 13

Essex County Council 52 0 8 146 11 58 1 2 1 279

Exeter City Council 0 1 0 1 2 1 6 8 0 19

Exmoor NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fareham Borough Council 0 2 0 0 1 1 0 4 1 9

Fenland District Council 0 5 0 0 7 1 3 13 1 30

Forest Heath District Council 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 5

Forest of Dean District Council 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 6 0 12

Fylde Borough Council 0 3 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 8

Gateshead Metropolitan Borough Council 7 2 6 8 12 6 9 6 2 58

Gedling Borough Council 0 3 1 0 0 0 3 6 0 13

Gloucester City Council 0 4 0 0 3 0 1 6 0 14

Gloucestershire County Council 23 0 4 24 1 10 0 0 0 62

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



26

Gosport Borough Council 0 7 1 0 1 1 3 1 0 14

Gravesham Borough Council 0 5 1 0 1 1 13 2 0 23

Great Yarmouth Borough Council 1 4 0 1 2 0 3 5 0 16

Royal Borough of Greenwich 16 24 4 25 11 9 37 9 2 137

Guildford Borough Council 0 1 2 1 0 1 2 8 1 16

Hackney London Borough Council 14 21 11 18 2 17 29 4 0 116

Halton Borough Council 3 1 1 13 5 4 0 4 0 31

Hambleton District Council 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 7 0 11

Hammersmith and Fulham London Borough Council 5 20 2 14 4 26 29 11 2 113

Hampshire County Council 37 0 4 58 4 15 0 1 0 119

Harborough District Council 0 3 2 0 4 0 1 10 0 20

Haringey London Borough Council 14 60 7 27 19 23 56 12 2 220

Harlow District Council 0 5 2 1 8 0 4 0 0 20

Harrogate Borough Council 0 1 1 1 4 1 2 11 1 22

Harrow London Borough Council 13 26 4 11 10 34 17 20 0 135

Hart District Council 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 4 1 7

Hartlepool Borough Council 3 4 2 2 2 0 1 5 0 19

Hastings Borough Council 0 6 2 0 2 1 5 8 0 24

Havant Borough Council 0 2 0 0 2 2 2 4 0 12

Havering London Borough Council 8 13 2 13 3 12 27 9 0 87

Herefordshire Council 10 3 5 13 5 7 3 13 3 62

Hertfordshire County Council 35 0 4 62 3 26 0 5 0 135

Hertsmere Borough Council 0 3 2 1 0 0 3 9 0 18

High Peak Borough Council 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 7 0 11

Hillingdon London Borough Council 16 20 4 19 3 8 36 11 4 121

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council 0 1 1 0 3 0 2 10 0 17

Horsham District Council 0 3 0 0 0 1 2 13 0 19

Hounslow London Borough Council 15 41 7 15 9 24 35 22 1 169

Huntingdonshire District Council 0 7 2 0 2 0 1 11 0 23

Hyndburn Borough Council 0 2 0 0 3 0 1 3 0 9

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



27

Ipswich Borough Council 0 1 0 1 1 0 3 1 0 7

Isle of Wight Council 19 7 2 9 3 9 7 4 0 60

Council of the Isles of Scilly 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2

Islington London Borough Council 13 9 4 12 6 14 31 9 2 100

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 8 7 3 9 3 17 18 9 2 76

Kent County Council 62 0 5 98 7 10 2 1 0 185

Kettering Borough Council 0 3 0 0 0 1 4 3 0 11

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 0 1 4 0 3 1 1 7 1 18

Kingston upon Hull City Council 11 13 5 27 13 5 8 2 2 86

Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames 9 10 1 7 3 16 20 5 1 72

Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council 19 13 13 18 8 6 3 13 0 93

Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 8 1 1 8 1 2 5 1 0 27

Lake District NPA 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 3

Lambeth London Borough Council 16 53 15 20 14 29 86 7 3 243

Lancashire County Council 68 0 5 68 3 14 0 1 0 159

Lancaster City Council 0 4 2 0 2 0 3 1 0 12

Leeds City Council 24 27 16 56 30 15 22 26 1 217

Leicester City Council 17 16 9 25 11 9 12 4 1 104

Leicestershire County Council 22 1 5 30 4 16 0 2 0 80

Lewes District Council 0 6 2 0 2 0 2 5 1 18

Lewisham London Borough Council 22 39 5 31 12 7 37 9 0 162

Lichfield District Council 0 2 0 0 1 0 2 3 0 8

Lincoln City Council 0 6 2 0 7 1 9 2 1 28

Lincolnshire County Council 36 0 2 28 3 9 0 2 1 81

Liverpool City Council 33 42 18 31 31 11 6 6 2 180

Luton Borough Council 12 14 8 17 6 4 11 3 0 75

Maidstone Borough Council 0 7 2 0 4 4 7 19 0 43

Maldon District Council 0 3 2 0 1 1 2 7 0 16

Malvern Hills District Council 0 2 1 0 0 0 1 4 0 8

Manchester City Council 17 23 7 30 16 24 10 11 2 140

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



28

Mansfield District Council 1 7 5 0 6 0 0 3 1 23

Medway Council 16 14 4 20 3 11 17 12 0 97

Melton Borough Council 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2

Mendip District Council 0 3 3 0 5 1 1 10 0 23

Merton London Borough Council 7 11 3 11 3 20 10 5 0 70

Mid Devon District Council 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 4 1 11

Mid Suffolk District Council 0 1 4 0 2 1 2 5 0 15

Mid Sussex District Council 0 1 0 0 3 3 0 10 0 17

Middlesbrough Borough Council 6 9 4 8 4 4 0 3 0 38

Milton Keynes Council 7 8 5 5 6 8 13 4 2 58

Mole Valley District Council 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 10 1 14

New Forest District Council 0 1 4 0 3 2 2 10 0 22

New Forest NPA 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 6 0 8

Newark and Sherwood District Council 1 3 1 1 3 0 0 9 0 18

Newcastle City Council 11 15 2 13 6 7 8 3 3 68

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 1 13 3 0 2 1 2 11 0 33

Newham London Borough Council 10 24 14 19 11 66 86 9 4 243

Norfolk County Council 45 0 3 40 6 14 0 1 1 110

North Devon District Council 1 3 1 0 2 3 4 9 0 23

North Dorset District Council 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 3 0 10

North East Derbyshire District Council 0 3 2 0 3 0 2 9 0 19

North East Lincolnshire District Council 9 13 7 8 4 1 2 3 0 47

North Hertfordshire District Council 1 3 4 0 4 1 1 3 0 17

North Kesteven District Council 0 1 0 0 3 0 4 4 0 12

North Lincolnshire Council 7 2 1 7 3 5 0 9 1 35

North Norfolk District Council 0 3 1 1 4 0 0 5 0 14

North Somerset Council 5 27 5 14 9 5 3 10 0 78

North Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 6 10 5 13 3 5 6 7 1 56

North Warwickshire Borough Council 0 2 2 0 1 0 3 2 0 10

North West Leicestershire District Council 1 1 0 0 4 1 1 4 0 12

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



29

North York Moors NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3

North Yorkshire County Council 37 0 3 31 2 16 0 4 0 93

Northampton Borough Council 1 13 3 0 6 4 9 8 1 45

Northamptonshire County Council 23 0 4 73 2 13 1 1 0 117

Northumberland Council 9 5 11 18 6 11 5 22 1 88

Northumberland NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Norwich City Council 0 14 2 0 7 2 8 3 1 37

Nottingham City Council 18 17 8 28 12 13 3 4 2 105

Nottinghamshire County Council 37 0 4 37 2 15 0 0 0 95

Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council 0 2 1 0 4 0 1 1 2 11

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 2 2 1 0 3 0 6 0 0 14

Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 7 13 4 21 8 2 3 5 2 65

Oxford City Council 0 8 2 2 4 2 13 4 1 36

Oxfordshire County Council 22 0 3 21 2 9 0 2 0 59

Peak District NPA 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 3

Pendle Borough Council 0 6 0 0 2 1 1 5 0 15

Peterborough City Council 6 5 0 17 4 5 6 6 0 49

Plymouth City Council 13 17 6 15 15 14 4 17 1 102

Poole Borough Council 7 2 1 8 5 6 2 8 0 39

Portsmouth City Council 13 8 2 15 5 5 2 1 1 52

Preston City Council 0 6 1 0 2 1 3 8 2 23

Purbeck District Council 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2

Reading Borough Council 8 7 3 12 3 13 9 4 1 60

Redbridge London Borough Council 23 23 7 23 6 28 18 32 3 163

Redcar and Cleveland Council 7 10 1 8 5 1 2 4 1 39

Redditch Borough Council 0 4 0 0 5 0 3 2 0 14

Reigate and Banstead Borough Council 0 5 0 0 2 1 1 12 0 21

Ribble Valley Borough Council 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 4 0 9

Richmond upon Thames London Borough Council 6 9 1 6 4 3 12 7 0 48

Richmondshire District Council 0 0 2 0 1 0 2 0 0 5

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



30

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 8 15 2 10 12 6 2 9 0 64

Rochford District Council 0 1 1 0 0 2 2 1 0 7

Rossendale Borough Council 0 4 0 0 3 0 0 2 0 9

Rother District Council 0 2 2 0 3 0 0 11 0 18

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 6 4 3 17 3 3 4 1 2 43

Rugby Borough Council 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 7

Runnymede Borough Council 1 4 0 0 0 0 3 5 0 13

Rushcliffe Borough Council 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 7

Rushmoor Borough Council 1 2 0 0 3 0 2 1 0 9

Rutland County Council 1 2 3 3 0 0 0 1 0 10

Ryedale District Council 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 3 0 6

Salford City Council 13 26 5 17 12 7 3 6 1 90

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 23 17 6 17 7 5 21 7 1 104

Scarborough Borough Council 1 3 5 0 10 4 3 7 0 33

Sedgemoor District Council 0 1 3 0 1 0 2 6 0 13

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 24 14 4 30 4 6 4 12 1 99

Selby District Council 0 4 0 0 3 1 7 8 0 23

Sevenoaks District Council 0 3 0 0 3 1 3 10 1 21

Sheffield City Council 32 24 12 34 23 40 25 8 1 199

Shepway District Council 0 5 3 0 1 3 5 4 0 21

Shropshire Council 22 7 4 8 8 4 3 26 1 83

Slough Borough Council 4 6 2 8 1 6 17 3 0 47

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 9 2 0 6 7 5 4 4 0 37

Somerset County Council 21 0 3 27 1 9 0 0 0 61

South Buckinghamshire District Council 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 7 0 10

South Cambridgeshire District Council 0 5 2 0 4 0 2 5 0 18

South Derbyshire District Council 0 1 0 0 2 0 1 6 0 10

South Downs NPA 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2

South Gloucestershire Council 15 8 1 16 6 1 3 4 0 54

South Hams District Council 0 5 2 0 1 0 0 7 0 15

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



31

South Holland District Council 0 1 1 0 0 3 1 5 0 11

South Kesteven District Council 1 2 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 9

South Lakeland District Council 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 6 0 10

South Norfolk District Council 0 0 3 0 2 0 2 12 0 19

South Northamptonshire District Council 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 6 0 8

South Oxfordshire District Council 0 3 2 0 2 1 2 9 0 19

South Ribble Borough Council 0 2 3 1 2 0 0 2 1 11

South Somerset District Council 0 1 1 0 1 1 3 9 0 16

South Staffordshire District Council 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 6 1 11

South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 10 1 4 14 4 5 8 4 1 51

Southampton City Council 10 7 7 18 12 5 5 3 0 67

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 11 11 1 10 5 6 6 3 1 54

Southwark London Borough Council 9 30 5 16 15 14 72 12 3 176

Spelthorne Borough Council 0 1 0 0 1 1 4 5 0 12

St Albans City Council 0 6 2 0 4 3 1 11 0 27

St Edmundsbury Borough Council 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 7 0 10

St Helens Metropolitan Borough Council 9 2 2 4 9 4 0 6 0 36

Stafford Borough Council 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 17 1 24

Staffordshire County Council 38 0 3 39 4 14 1 3 1 103

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 10 0 13

Stevenage Borough Council 0 4 1 0 0 1 8 2 2 18

Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 17 11 6 18 5 5 5 11 0 78

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 2 3 2 15 7 3 2 5 0 39

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 12 20 3 20 13 8 5 5 1 87

Stratford-on-Avon District Council 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 6 0 9

Stroud District Council 0 2 0 0 0 0 5 9 0 16

Suffolk County Council 24 0 1 48 3 15 0 1 0 92

Suffolk Coastal District Council 0 1 0 0 0 1 3 5 0 10

Sunderland City Council 7 10 7 19 2 1 2 5 3 56

Surrey County Council 69 0 5 57 4 29 0 3 0 167

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



32

Surrey Heath Borough Council 0 3 2 0 0 2 1 4 0 12

Sutton London Borough Council 8 8 2 14 3 4 11 13 0 63

Swale Borough Council 0 0 1 0 5 2 3 10 1 22

Swindon Borough Council 5 9 0 7 7 6 6 5 1 46

Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 8 10 5 20 5 3 2 4 0 57

Tamworth Borough Council 0 2 2 0 2 0 6 1 0 13

Tandridge District Council 1 3 0 0 3 1 6 8 0 22

Taunton Deane Borough Council 0 0 2 0 0 0 1 14 0 17

Teignbridge District Council 0 2 0 0 6 0 6 9 0 23

Telford and Wrekin Borough Council 8 8 3 10 3 1 1 5 0 39

Tendring District Council 1 3 1 0 1 0 1 14 0 21

Test Valley Borough Council 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 5

Tewkesbury Borough Council 0 1 0 0 3 2 1 3 0 10

Thanet District Council 0 7 3 0 9 0 12 10 0 41

Three Rivers District Council 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 8 0 14

Thurrock Council 8 19 3 13 9 4 19 7 0 82

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 0 3 3 0 0 1 1 4 0 12

Torbay Council 7 6 9 14 9 11 2 9 1 68

Torridge District Council 0 0 1 0 2 3 2 11 2 21

Tower Hamlets London Borough Council 10 19 11 22 13 19 48 6 1 149

Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council 16 21 1 10 7 12 2 6 0 75

Transport for London 0 0 1 0 11 189 0 0 0 201

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 0 4 0 0 0 3 3 11 0 21

Uttlesford District Council 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 7 0 11

Vale of White Horse District Council 0 8 1 0 1 1 1 9 0 21

Wakefield City Council 19 7 2 8 15 8 3 18 1 81

Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 10 9 4 23 6 2 2 11 0 67

Waltham Forest London Borough Council 10 24 8 17 17 26 40 6 2 150

Wandsworth London Borough Council 9 22 4 13 5 5 26 13 2 99

Warrington Council 11 6 2 9 6 2 1 2 1 40

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



33

Warwick District Council 0 6 2 0 5 2 1 4 0 20

Warwickshire County Council 33 0 1 23 2 8 0 0 0 67

Watford Borough Council 1 7 4 0 2 2 8 1 0 25

Waveney District Council 0 8 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 11

Waverley Borough Council 0 5 2 0 2 2 4 11 0 26

Wealden District Council 2 4 2 0 4 0 3 8 0 23

Wellingborough Borough Council 0 4 1 0 1 2 2 3 0 13

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 0 3 1 0 4 0 7 4 3 22

West Berkshire Council 4 3 2 14 1 2 2 5 0 33

West Devon Borough Council 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 3 0 6

West Dorset District Council 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 8 0 11

West Lancashire Borough Council 0 2 1 0 4 0 2 5 1 15

West Lindsey District Council 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 11 0 14

West Oxfordshire District Council 0 2 0 0 4 2 1 5 0 14

West Somerset District Council 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 6

West Sussex County Council 43 0 6 36 6 18 0 6 0 115

Westminster City Council 6 52 3 8 14 14 30 5 0 132

Weymouth and Portland Borough Council 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 2 0 8

Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council 9 16 10 14 10 5 4 9 0 77

Wiltshire Council 19 5 5 34 10 11 6 18 1 109

Winchester City Council 0 6 1 0 2 1 5 17 2 34

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 14 3 2 14 4 7 0 9 1 54

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 17 13 3 21 10 7 2 14 1 88

Woking Borough Council 1 1 3 0 2 2 2 1 0 12

Wokingham Borough Council 3 2 4 15 2 2 1 10 0 39

Wolverhampton City Council 7 6 8 20 5 7 8 3 0 64

Worcester City Council 0 4 0 0 3 2 3 2 0 14

Worcestershire County Council 20 0 3 28 2 7 0 1 0 61

Worthing Borough Council 0 2 1 0 2 0 3 1 0 9

Wychavon District Council 0 5 1 0 1 0 0 13 0 20

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



34

Adult 
Social Care

Benefits 
& tax

Corporate & 
other  

services

Education & 
children’s 
services

Environmental 
services,  

public 
protection & 
regulation

Highways & 
transport Housing Planning & 

development Other Total

Wycombe District Council 0 9 1 0 3 1 1 4 0 19

Wyre Borough Council 0 3 4 0 1 0 0 4 0 12

Wyre Forest District Council 0 1 0 0 2 2 1 1 1 8

York City Council 11 11 5 13 7 7 6 9 0 69

Yorkshire Dales NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2

Totals 2526 2550 960 3234 1699 2085 2232 2522 167 17975

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries received (by category) 2015-16



35

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Adur District Council 0 0 5 3 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

Allerdale Borough Council 0 0 4 6 0 20 100 30 20 0 100

Amber Valley Borough Council 0 0 5 7 4 5 56 21 4 0 100

Arun District Council 0 1 5 8 1 2 67 17 0 1 100

Ashfield District Council 2 2 6 5 2 0 0 17 0 0 100

Ashford Borough Council 2 1 11 5 1 2 67 22 1 0 100

Aylesbury Vale District Council 0 2 7 8 4 4 50 25 1 2 100

Babergh District Council 1 2 7 6 3 3 50 22 2 0 100

Barking and Dagenham London Borough Council 6 7 66 45 16 7 30 147 6 1 100

Barnet London Borough Council 11 8 123 46 7 18 72 213 14 0 100

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 4 2 28 10 8 6 43 58 5 0 100

Barrow Borough Council 0 0 5 0 4 1 20 10 1 0 100

Basildon Borough Council 1 0 19 9 2 2 50 33 2 0 100

Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council 1 0 6 12 1 3 75 23 2 0 100

Bassetlaw District Council 0 0 8 6 3 0 0 17 0 0 100

Bath and North East Somerset Council 4 0 11 9 9 9 50 42 6 0 100

Bedford Borough Council 3 0 12 10 9 2 18 36 0 1 100

Bexley London Borough Council 2 3 33 21 6 13 68 78 9 2 100

Birmingham City Council 22 30 264 104 36 71 66 527 60 5 100

Blaby District Council 0 0 4 7 0 2 100 13 1 0 100

Blackburn with Darwen Council 0 0 15 14 2 7 78 38 7 0 100

Blackpool Borough Council 4 0 18 12 9 7 44 50 6 1 100

Bolsover District Council 2 0 3 3 2 0 0 10 0 0 100

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 4 3 21 9 5 5 50 47 4 1 100

Boston Borough Council 0 0 2 5 2 0 0 9 0 0 100

Bournemouth Borough Council 2 2 32 17 10 10 50 73 8 1 100

Bracknell Forest Council 2 0 12 6 4 2 33 26 1 0 100

Braintree District Council 1 0 7 1 0 0 0 9 0 0 100

Breckland District Council 1 0 4 5 2 2 50 14 1 0 100

Brent London Borough Council 7 11 92 49 10 26 72 195 18 4 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



36

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Brentwood Borough Council 0 0 5 3 2 0 0 10 0 0 100

Brighton and Hove City Council 8 0 38 37 33 21 39 137 12 5 100

Bristol City Council 5 15 66 45 16 29 64 176 12 3 100

Broadland District Council 1 1 0 5 5 2 29 14 2 0 100

Broads Authority 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 100

Bromley London Borough Council 12 1 73 36 19 28 60 169 23 1 100

Bromsgrove District Council 0 0 4 4 2 6 75 16 5 1 100

Broxbourne Borough Council 1 0 3 5 6 3 33 18 2 0 100

Broxtowe Borough Council 2 1 5 4 3 0 0 15 0 0 100

Buckinghamshire County Council 6 1 18 25 5 5 50 60 5 0 100

Burnley Borough Council 0 2 4 5 2 0 0 13 0 0 100

Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 1 1 25 12 10 5 33 54 4 1 100

Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council 3 0 28 23 11 12 52 77 11 0 100

Cambridge City Council 1 1 8 3 1 2 67 16 1 0 100

Cambridgeshire County Council 3 1 26 15 9 12 57 66 11 0 100

Camden London Borough Council 9 14 57 30 17 12 41 139 9 0 100

Cannock Chase District Council 1 1 5 3 1 1 50 12 1 0 100

Canterbury City Council 3 1 10 8 5 2 29 29 1 0 100

Carlisle City Council 0 0 3 3 3 0 0 9 0 0 100

Castle Point Borough Council 1 0 8 3 1 0 0 13 0 0 100

Central Bedfordshire Council 3 2 21 19 4 10 71 59 9 0 100

Charnwood Borough Council 1 1 7 2 2 1 33 14 0 0 100

Chelmsford City Council 1 2 11 2 1 0 0 17 0 0 100

Cheltenham Borough Council 0 1 1 2 1 1 50 6 0 0 100

Cherwell District Council 2 0 8 14 3 4 57 31 4 0 100

Cheshire East Council 7 2 41 34 25 20 44 129 16 3 100

Cheshire West and Chester Council 5 1 24 29 11 12 52 82 9 1 100

Chesterfield Borough Council 0 2 1 3 1 0 0 7 0 0 100

Chichester District Council 0 0 3 14 0 2 100 19 2 0 100

Chiltern District Council 1 0 5 4 0 0 0 10 0 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



37

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Chorley Borough Council 0 1 4 7 1 1 50 14 0 0 100

Christchurch Borough Council 1 0 4 2 2 0 0 9 0 0 100

City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council 6 2 44 36 16 12 43 116 7 0 100

City of London 0 0 3 5 0 0 0 8 0 0 100

Colchester Borough Council 2 3 12 4 1 1 50 23 0 0 100

Copeland Borough Council 0 0 3 3 2 0 0 8 0 0 100

Corby Borough Council 0 2 6 6 2 1 33 17 1 0 100

Cornwall Council 8 3 97 64 26 34 57 232 21 4 100

Cotswold District Council 0 0 4 1 2 1 33 8 1 0 100

Coventry City Council 5 3 51 28 11 11 50 109 8 1 100

Craven District Council 1 0 4 2 0 0 0 7 0 0 100

Crawley Borough Council 2 3 7 7 2 2 50 23 0 1 100

Croydon London Borough Council 10 10 110 41 20 21 51 212 21 0 100

Cumbria County Council 5 1 25 14 4 7 64 56 6 0 100

Dacorum Borough Council 2 1 15 3 5 2 29 28 0 0 100

Darlington Borough Council 1 1 5 8 5 12 71 32 9 2 100

Dartford Borough Council 2 0 9 5 3 1 25 20 1 0 100

Dartmoor NPA 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 100

Daventry District Council 0 0 8 5 2 0 0 15 0 0 100

Derby City Council 2 2 24 30 6 5 45 69 4 0 100

Derbyshire County Council 4 0 42 24 13 12 48 95 9 2 100

Derbyshire Dales District Council 1 0 5 2 0 1 100 9 0 0 100

Devon County Council 11 1 44 45 28 18 39 147 12 2 100

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 2 4 37 17 13 10 43 83 7 0 100

Dorset County Council 1 0 20 16 6 5 45 48 4 0 100

Dover District Council 1 0 5 4 2 1 33 13 0 1 100

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 2 6 29 19 5 7 58 68 7 0 100

Durham County Council 10 3 48 74 33 25 43 193 16 2 100

Ealing London Borough Council 9 4 97 48 13 12 48 183 8 2 100

East Cambs District Council 0 0 2 5 1 2 67 10 1 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



38

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

East Devon District Council 1 0 6 7 8 8 50 30 6 1 100

East Dorset District Council 0 0 6 5 2 1 33 14 0 0 100

East Hampshire District Council 2 0 6 4 3 0 0 15 0 0 100

East Herts District Council 0 0 8 9 1 0 0 18 0 0 100

East Lindsey District Council 3 2 9 13 5 1 17 33 0 1 100

East Northamptonshire Council 1 1 5 3 3 1 25 14 0 0 100

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 2 1 30 18 15 10 40 76 5 1 100

East Staffordshire Borough Council 0 0 4 6 1 0 0 11 0 0 100

East Sussex County Council 9 0 32 30 22 28 56 121 26 1 100

Eastbourne Borough Council 3 0 13 3 1 5 83 25 3 2 100

Eastleigh Borough Council 0 0 4 4 5 1 17 14 1 0 100

Eden District Council 0 0 7 1 8 1 11 17 0 0 100

Elmbridge Borough Council 1 0 5 7 1 4 80 18 4 0 100

Enfield London Borough Council 7 5 76 38 8 25 76 159 19 2 100

Environment Agency 1 0 3 2 3 0 0 9 0 0 100

Epping Forest District Council 1 1 10 8 13 9 41 42 5 2 100

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 0 0 2 8 2 4 67 16 2 1 100

Erewash Borough Council 1 1 4 3 1 3 75 13 2 0 100

Essex County Council 7 1 89 70 73 24 25 264 21 0 100

Exeter City Council 0 0 9 2 4 3 43 18 1 1 100

Exmoor NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100

Fareham Borough Council 1 0 5 1 1 0 0 8 0 0 100

Fenland District Council 2 1 14 8 2 2 50 29 2 0 100

Forest Heath District Council 1 0 1 2 0 3 100 7 2 0 100

Forest of Dean District Council 1 0 5 5 0 0 0 11 0 0 100

Fylde Borough Council 0 0 3 4 1 1 50 9 0 0 100

Gateshead Metropolitan Borough Council 2 6 22 17 5 2 29 54 2 0 100

Gedling Borough Council 0 1 4 4 1 0 0 10 0 0 100

Gloucester City Council 0 0 4 6 2 4 67 16 3 1 100

Gloucestershire County Council 4 0 25 16 16 5 24 66 5 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



39

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Gosport Borough Council 0 1 5 6 1 0 0 13 0 0 100

Gravesham Borough Council 2 3 8 7 3 0 0 23 0 0 100

Great Yarmouth Borough Council 1 0 8 7 0 0 0 16 0 0 100

Royal Borough of Greenwich 5 8 66 28 16 12 43 135 7 0 100

Guildford Borough Council 0 1 6 4 2 4 67 17 1 0 100

Hackney London Borough Council 6 6 52 31 11 12 52 118 10 0 100

Halton Borough Council 3 0 10 10 2 4 67 29 3 0 100

Hambleton District Council 0 0 5 3 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

Hammersmith and Fulham London Borough Council 5 10 41 42 8 12 60 118 7 0 100

Hampshire County Council 4 1 60 25 7 17 71 114 15 1 100

Harborough District Council 0 0 5 8 4 1 20 18 1 0 100

Haringey London Borough Council 10 14 89 55 14 32 70 214 28 2 100

Harlow District Council 0 3 9 6 2 1 33 21 1 0 100

Harrogate Borough Council 2 0 8 6 4 3 43 23 1 0 100

Harrow London Borough Council 5 1 63 34 17 16 48 136 13 0 100

Hart District Council 2 0 2 2 0 1 100 7 1 0 100

Hartlepool Borough Council 0 0 7 4 4 1 20 16 0 0 100

Hastings Borough Council 2 0 10 6 2 3 60 23 1 1 100

Havant Borough Council 1 0 7 4 1 0 0 13 0 0 100

Havering London Borough Council 4 5 44 21 9 14 61 97 9 1 100

Herefordshire Council 4 0 24 10 15 14 48 67 7 2 100

Hertfordshire County Council 5 1 66 29 24 17 41 142 14 2 100

Hertsmere Borough Council 0 0 8 3 5 3 38 19 0 0 100

High Peak Borough Council 0 0 4 4 2 2 50 12 1 1 100

Hillingdon London Borough Council 7 5 55 24 18 11 38 120 9 0 100

Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council 0 0 5 3 3 0 0 11 0 0 100

Horsham District Council 0 0 6 7 2 3 60 18 3 0 100

Hounslow London Borough Council 7 4 86 40 12 29 71 178 21 2 100

Huntingdonshire District Council 0 0 8 11 1 1 50 21 0 0 100

Hyndburn Borough Council 1 0 4 2 0 1 100 8 1 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



40

Invalid or 
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local 

resolution 

Closed after 
initial 

enquiries 

Not 
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints 
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance 
rate (%)

Ipswich Borough Council 0 1 3 3 1 0 0 8 0 0 100

Isle of Wight Council 0 0 25 11 5 14 74 55 11 1 100

Council of the Isles of Scilly 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 100

Islington London Borough Council 6 10 42 20 11 10 48 99 7 1 100

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 5 2 30 22 13 8 38 80 6 0 100

Kent County Council 3 1 74 44 28 34 55 184 30 1 100

Kettering Borough Council 0 0 3 4 2 2 50 11 1 1 100

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 2 1 8 4 1 2 67 18 2 0 100

Kingston upon Hull City Council 3 4 41 24 3 8 73 83 6 0 100

Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames 2 3 31 16 4 5 56 61 4 0 100

Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council 4 2 34 27 7 13 65 87 9 0 100

Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 0 0 15 8 1 4 80 28 3 0 100

Lake District NPA 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 100

Lambeth London Borough Council 13 26 103 57 26 26 50 251 19 3 100

Lancashire County Council 5 0 65 36 15 33 69 154 29 1 100

Lancaster City Council 1 1 2 5 1 2 67 12 1 0 100

Leeds City Council 8 12 66 68 33 22 40 209 13 3 100

Leicester City Council 7 3 48 29 11 16 59 114 13 0 100

Leicestershire County Council 7 0 30 32 10 7 41 86 5 2 100

Lewes District Council 1 0 9 7 1 1 50 19 1 0 100

Lewisham London Borough Council 6 1 93 29 15 18 55 162 15 1 100

Lichfield District Council 2 0 4 2 2 0 0 10 0 0 100

Lincoln City Council 0 5 10 6 4 2 33 27 2 0 100

Lincolnshire County Council 6 1 38 14 13 9 41 81 8 0 100

Liverpool City Council 12 2 72 44 17 21 55 168 18 1 100

Luton Borough Council 2 1 27 28 10 5 33 73 5 0 100

Maidstone Borough Council 1 0 11 16 7 8 53 43 3 1 100

Maldon District Council 1 0 5 8 2 1 33 17 0 1 100

Malvern Hills District Council 0 0 2 5 0 1 100 8 1 0 100

Manchester City Council 7 5 64 42 13 28 68 159 21 1 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



41

Invalid or 
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local 

resolution 

Closed after 
initial 

enquiries 

Not 
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints 
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance 
rate (%)

1 0 10 11 1 3 75 26 2 1 100

3 3 41 30 8 19 70 104 14 2 100

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 100

1 0 11 4 4 13 76 33 2 0 100

2 2 28 25 11 11 50 79 7 3 100

0 2 2 4 3 0 0 11 0 0 100

1 1 6 1 2 4 67 15 1 2 100

0 0 3 8 6 2 25 19 1 0 100

3 0 16 11 4 6 60 40 5 0 100

2 5 21 20 6 9 60 63 9 0 100

1 1 4 6 1 0 0 13 0 0 100

0 0 5 14 2 2 50 23 1 0 100

0 1 1 3 2 1 33 8 1 0 100

0 0 7 5 1 6 86 19 3 1 100

4 5 33 13 10 2 17 67 2 0 100

0 0 18 10 5 2 29 35 2 0 100

15 13 108 69 16 27 63 248 20 1 100

8 0 43 29 9 8 47 97 6 0 100

3 1 10 6 4 2 33 26 1 0 100

0 0 4 3 2 2 50 11 0 1 100

1 0 7 6 2 0 0 16 0 0 100

1 0 18 20 3 4 57 46 2 1 100

0 0 7 7 3 0 0 17 0 0 100

2 0 2 6 2 0 0 12 0 0 100

3 0 18 5 3 3 50 32 3 0 100

1 0 5 4 2 1 33 13 0 1 100

3 1 32 14 7 15 68 72 12 0 100

2 2 22 20 8 5 38 59 3 1 100

0 0 3 5 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

Mansfield District Council 

Medway Council

Melton Borough Council

Mendip District Council

Merton London Borough Council

Mid Devon District Council

Mid Suffolk District Council

Mid Sussex District Council

Middlesbrough Borough Council

Milton Keynes Council

Mole Valley District Council

New Forest District Council

New Forest NPA

Newark and Sherwood District Council 

Newcastle City Council

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 

Newham London Borough Council

Norfolk County Council

North Devon District Council

North Dorset District Council

North East Derbyshire District Council 

North East Lincolnshire District Council 

North Hertfordshire District Council

North Kesteven District Council

North Lincolnshire Council

North Norfolk District Council

North Somerset Council

North Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 

North Warwickshire Borough Council

North West Leicestershire District Council 0 0 8 1 4 1 20 14 0 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



42

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

North York Moors NPA 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 100

North Yorkshire County Council 5 0 30 29 19 19 50 102 18 0 100

Northampton Borough Council 2 2 20 18 2 6 75 50 5 1 100

Northamptonshire County Council 4 1 52 23 10 17 63 107 17 0 100

Northumberland Council 2 1 36 23 14 11 44 87 9 1 100

Northumberland NPA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100

Norwich City Council 4 3 14 15 1 7 88 44 5 1 100

Nottingham City Council 9 3 40 33 14 13 48 112 9 1 100

Nottinghamshire County Council 8 0 33 31 9 10 53 91 9 1 100

Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council 2 1 1 4 0 2 100 10 2 0 100

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 0 0 10 5 0 2 100 17 1 0 100

Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 5 0 32 20 7 5 42 69 2 0 100

Oxford City Council 7 8 11 10 2 2 50 40 1 0 100

Oxfordshire County Council 2 1 18 19 8 7 47 55 4 0 100

Peak District NPA 0 0 1 2 0 1 100 4 1 0 100

Pendle Borough Council 0 0 5 7 2 2 50 16 1 0 100

Peterborough City Council 3 0 28 11 3 4 57 49 2 0 100

Plymouth City Council 4 1 46 26 12 19 61 108 16 0 100

Poole Borough Council 3 0 15 10 9 3 25 40 2 1 100

Portsmouth City Council 4 1 25 12 3 2 40 47 2 0 100

Preston City Council 2 0 7 5 4 2 33 20 1 0 100

Purbeck District Council 0 0 2 0 1 1 50 4 0 0 100

Reading Borough Council 7 1 22 12 10 5 33 57 3 1 100

Redbridge London Borough Council 5 2 70 54 18 13 42 162 10 0 100

Redcar and Cleveland Council 1 1 23 6 4 1 20 36 1 0 100

Redditch Borough Council 0 0 7 3 2 0 0 12 0 0 100

Reigate and Banstead Borough Council 0 0 11 4 3 4 57 22 1 0 100

Ribble Valley Borough Council 0 0 4 2 1 1 50 8 1 0 100

Richmond upon Thames London Borough Council 4 1 19 15 9 11 55 59 9 1 100

Richmondshire District Council 0 2 0 2 0 1 100 5 0 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



43

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 2 2 30 22 6 7 54 69 4 1 100

Rochford District Council 1 0 5 2 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

Rossendale Borough Council 0 0 7 1 3 2 40 13 1 0 100

Rother District Council 1 0 5 7 4 2 33 19 1 0 100

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 4 2 19 10 8 9 53 52 9 0 100

Rugby Borough Council 0 0 0 4 2 2 50 8 1 0 100

Runnymede Borough Council 1 0 4 4 2 1 33 12 1 0 100

Rushcliffe Borough Council 0 0 5 0 0 1 100 6 1 0 100

Rushmoor Borough Council 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 100

Rutland County Council 1 0 1 6 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

Ryedale District Council 0 0 2 2 2 0 0 6 0 0 100

Salford City Council 4 3 45 22 7 6 46 87 5 0 100

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 9 7 52 21 5 11 69 105 10 0 100

Scarborough Borough Council 5 2 10 8 4 0 0 29 0 0 100

Sedgemoor District Council 0 0 6 5 3 1 25 15 0 0 100

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 7 1 52 22 8 12 60 102 9 0 100

Selby District Council 0 0 8 8 3 2 40 21 2 0 100

Sevenoaks District Council 1 0 5 9 6 1 14 22 1 0 100

Sheffield City Council 8 10 72 63 24 21 47 198 19 2 100

Shepway District Council 1 2 6 6 6 0 0 21 0 0 100

Shropshire Council 5 3 29 18 15 15 50 85 10 0 100

Slough Borough Council 2 2 23 8 6 8 57 49 6 0 100

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 1 0 15 11 5 10 67 42 7 0 100

Somerset County Council 2 0 36 12 4 14 78 68 12 1 100

South Buckinghamshire District Council 0 1 4 3 2 1 33 11 0 0 100

South Cambridgeshire District Council 1 0 8 5 7 3 30 24 1 0 100

South Derbyshire District Council 1 1 2 4 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

South Downs NPA 0 0 0 1 0 1 100 2 1 0 100

South Gloucestershire Council 4 0 24 13 11 8 42 60 5 1 100

South Hams District Council 0 0 5 6 8 2 20 21 1 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



44

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

South Holland District Council 1 1 1 6 3 0 0 12 0 0 100

South Kesteven District Council 0 0 3 5 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

South Lakeland District Council 0 1 2 6 1 0 0 10 0 0 100

South Norfolk District Council 0 0 4 11 4 2 33 21 1 1 100

South Northamptonshire District Council 0 1 1 4 0 1 100 7 0 0 100

South Oxfordshire District Council 0 0 5 8 5 4 44 22 3 1 100

South Ribble Borough Council 2 0 4 3 0 0 0 9 0 0 100

South Somerset District Council 0 0 4 6 6 1 14 17 1 0 100

South Staffordshire District Council 1 0 4 0 2 7 78 14 4 0 100

South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council 2 1 18 11 12 6 33 50 4 0 100

Southampton City Council 3 2 34 14 5 7 58 65 6 1 100

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 4 1 25 12 7 7 50 56 4 0 100

Southwark London Borough Council 9 21 69 42 13 22 63 176 19 1 100

Spelthorne Borough Council 0 0 7 4 0 1 100 12 0 0 100

St Albans City Council 0 0 15 4 3 4 57 26 2 1 100

St Edmundsbury Borough Council 0 0 4 3 2 1 33 10 0 0 100

St Helens Metropolitan Borough Council 0 0 11 13 6 4 40 34 2 1 100

Stafford Borough Council 1 0 3 8 3 3 50 18 1 1 100

Staffordshire County Council 5 1 48 25 12 15 56 106 13 0 100

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 0 0 6 5 2 0 0 13 0 0 100

Stevenage Borough Council 1 4 6 2 1 3 75 17 0 0 100

Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 4 0 38 20 6 4 40 72 3 0 100

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 5 0 12 8 8 12 60 45 6 3 100

Stoke-on-Trent City Council 7 2 36 26 6 12 67 89 7 2 100

Stratford-on-Avon District Council 0 0 4 3 4 0 0 11 0 0 100

Stroud District Council 1 2 3 5 8 0 0 19 0 0 100

Suffolk County Council 7 0 36 27 13 8 38 91 7 0 100

Suffolk Coastal District Council 0 0 2 6 3 0 0 11 0 0 100

Sunderland City Council 8 2 22 14 5 8 62 59 6 2 100

Surrey County Council 10 0 71 46 16 20 56 163 18 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



45

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Surrey Heath Borough Council 0 0 5 4 0 1 100 10 1 0 100

Sutton London Borough Council 5 4 24 19 6 7 54 65 5 0 100

Swale Borough Council 2 0 11 8 1 1 50 23 1 0 100

Swindon Borough Council 3 3 26 11 3 4 57 50 2 0 100

Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 4 1 24 12 2 7 78 50 4 1 75

Tamworth Borough Council 0 2 5 3 2 2 50 14 0 1 100

Tandridge District Council 2 3 6 5 6 2 25 24 2 0 100

Taunton Deane Borough Council 0 1 9 1 2 1 33 14 0 0 100

Teignbridge District Council 0 0 13 2 3 2 40 20 2 0 100

Telford and Wrekin Borough Council 0 0 16 11 8 7 47 42 5 1 100

Tendring District Council 0 1 3 7 4 3 43 18 1 0 100

Test Valley Borough Council 0 0 2 4 1 0 0 7 0 0 100

Tewkesbury Borough Council 0 0 3 4 1 3 75 11 1 1 100

Thanet District Council 2 2 20 13 3 1 25 41 1 0 100

Three Rivers District Council 0 0 4 7 3 1 25 15 0 0 100

Thurrock Council 3 4 41 22 5 9 64 84 7 1 100

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 0 0 5 6 2 0 0 13 0 0 100

Torbay Council 6 1 21 20 12 10 45 70 9 0 100

Torridge District Council 2 0 6 7 5 3 38 23 3 0 100

Tower Hamlets London Borough Council 7 11 78 35 13 9 41 153 7 1 100

Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council 2 0 26 21 5 17 77 71 12 0 100

Transport for London 8 3 95 79 6 7 54 198 3 3 100

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 0 1 8 6 2 2 50 19 2 0 100

Uttlesford District Council 0 0 6 3 3 1 25 13 1 0 100

Vale of White Horse District Council 0 0 13 5 1 2 67 21 1 0 100

Wakefield City Council 3 3 20 24 18 7 28 75 6 0 100

Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 5 0 31 18 6 7 54 67 5 0 100

Waltham Forest London Borough Council 4 5 54 58 11 18 62 150 13 0 100

Wandsworth London Borough Council 7 6 39 26 8 26 76 112 10 1 100

Warrington Council 1 2 15 11 5 9 64 43 8 1 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



46

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Warwick District Council 2 2 7 6 3 1 25 21 1 0 100

Warwickshire County Council 3 1 23 22 6 4 40 59 4 0 100

Watford Borough Council 0 0 16 9 1 0 0 26 0 0 100

Waveney District Council 1 0 5 3 0 2 100 11 2 0 100

Waverley Borough Council 2 1 5 10 4 4 50 26 3 0 100

Wealden District Council 0 0 7 6 5 1 17 19 0 0 100

Wellingborough Borough Council 1 0 5 2 4 2 33 14 1 0 100

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 3 4 10 3 4 3 43 27 2 1 100

West Berkshire Council 2 0 13 9 5 5 50 34 4 0 100

West Devon Borough Council 0 0 3 0 0 4 100 7 4 0 100

West Dorset District Council 0 0 7 3 1 3 75 14 3 0 100

West Lancashire Borough Council 2 1 6 2 4 0 0 15 0 0 100

West Lindsey District Council 1 0 5 1 0 3 100 10 3 0 100

West Oxfordshire District Council 0 1 4 6 3 0 0 14 0 0 100

West Somerset District Council 0 0 2 0 0 2 100 4 2 0 100

West Sussex County Council 5 0 42 44 14 9 39 114 6 0 100

Westminster City Council 8 6 58 36 8 20 71 136 17 1 100

Weymouth and Portland Borough Council 0 0 3 3 2 0 0 8 0 0 100

Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council 3 2 33 28 7 12 63 85 8 2 100

Wiltshire Council 6 1 33 34 19 21 53 114 16 1 100

Winchester City Council 2 5 13 6 2 3 60 31 1 0 100

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 4 0 28 14 7 4 36 57 3 0 100

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council 8 1 27 25 14 21 60 96 18 0 100

Woking Borough Council 0 1 3 5 3 2 40 14 2 0 100

Wokingham Borough Council 2 1 13 8 6 10 63 40 7 0 100

Wolverhampton City Council 1 2 30 24 10 6 38 73 4 1 100

Worcester City Council 0 0 6 5 3 4 57 18 2 0 100

Worcestershire County Council 2 2 21 12 8 8 50 53 6 1 100

Worthing Borough Council 0 0 2 5 3 1 25 11 1 0 100

Wychavon District Council 0 0 7 6 3 2 40 18 2 0 100

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16



47

Invalid or  
incomplete 

Advice 
given 

Referred back 
for local  

resolution 

Closed after 
initial  

enquiries 

Not  
upheld Upheld Uphold

 rate (%) Total 
Complaints  
remedied by 

LGO 

Complaints 
remedied by 

Authority 

Compliance  
rate (%)

Wycombe District Council 0 0 8 5 3 5 63 21 2 2 100

Wyre Borough Council 0 0 5 5 2 0 0 12 0 0 100

Wyre Forest District Council 0 1 5 2 1 0 0 9 0 0 100

York City Council 2 4 14 26 9 13 59 68 12 0 100

Yorkshire Dales NPA 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 3 0 0 100

Totals 876 569 7406 4968 2162 2237 51 18218 1648 155 99.94

Data sheets - complaints & enquiries decided (by outcome) 2015-16




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 September 2016
	6a Traffic Congestion in Dartford: Reference from Joint Transportation Board
	6b New Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford: Reference from the Scrutiny Committee
	7 Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax
	Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax APPENDIX A
	Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax APPENDIX B
	Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax APPENDIX C

	8 CIL Contribution to the Kent Thameside Strategic Transport Programme
	9 Northern Gateway Pedestrian and Cycle Bridge
	Northern Gateway Bridge APPENDIX A

	10 Business Rate Pooling 2017/18
	11 Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 2015-2016
	Housing Annual Report APPENDIX A

	12 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2016/17
	Revenue Budget Monitoring APPENDIX A

	13 Capital Budget Monitoring 2016/2017
	Capital Budget Monitoring APPENDICES A and B
	Capital Budget Monitoring APPENDIX C

	14 Treasury Management Report 2016/2017
	Treasury Management Report 2016-17 APPENDIX A
	Treasury Management Report 2016-17 APPENDIX B

	15 Ombudsman - Annual Review of Complaints 2015 - 2016
	Ombudsman Annual Review APPENDIX A




